Table of Contents

Abstract	4
Acknowledgments	7
Chapter I - General introduction	9
1.1 Ecosystem services	9
1.2 Invasive species – one of the main threats to ecosystems	11
1.3 Potential threats of invasive species	. 14
1.4 Context-dependency of impacts of invaders	. 15
1.5 Impacts of invasive ecosystem engineers	. 18
1.6 <i>Crassostrea gigas</i> as an invasive ecosystem engineer: potential impacts or biodiversity and ecosystem functioning	ו 19 .
1.7 Aims of this thesis	. 25
Chapter II: Impacts of non-indigenous oysters on biodiversity and a protected biogenic habtiat in an intertidal boulder-field	1 . 26
2.1 Introduction	. 26
2.2 Materials and methods	. 29
2.2.1 Study site	. 29
2.2.2 Cover of S. alveolata on boulders with and without C. gigas	. 30
2.2.3 Experimental addition of <i>C. gigas</i> onto boulders	. 30
2.2.4 Sampling of experimental boulders	. 31
2.2.5 Statistical analysis	. 32
2.3 Results	. 33
2.3.1 Amount of S. alveolata on boulders with or without C. gigas	. 33
2.3.2 Experimental addition of <i>C. gigas</i>	. 34
2.3.3 Effects of <i>C. gigas</i> on biodiversity	. 34
2.3.4 Effects of <i>C. gigas</i> on community structure	. 35
2.3.5 Effects of <i>C. gigas</i> on the establishment of <i>S. alveolata</i>	. 36
2.3.6 Effects of <i>C. gigas</i> on the establishment of <i>Fucus vesiculosus, Ascidia conghilega</i> and <i>Littorina littorea</i>	э . 36
2.3.7 Effects of the experimental procedure	. 37
2.4 Discussion	. 49
Chapter III - Effects of non-indigenous oysters on biodiversity vary with increasing cover and environmental context	ו 55 .
3.1 Introduction	. 55
3.2 Materials and methods	. 57
3.2.1 Study sites	. 57
3.2.2 Experimental set-up	. 58
3.2.3 Sampling methods	. 58
3.2.4 Statistical analysis	. 59

3.3 F	esults	60
3.3.1	Effects of <i>C. gigas</i> on the total number of individuals	60
3.3.2	Effects on biodiversity after 4 months	61
3.3.3	Effects on biodiversity after 15 months	61
3.3.4	Effects on assemblage structure after 4 months	62
3.3.5	Effects on assemblage structure after 15 months	63
3.3.6	Effects on β-diversity	64
3.3.7	Effects on individual taxa after 4 months	64
3.3.8	Effects on individual taxa after 15 months	65
3.4	Discussion	77
Chapter estuarine	V - Effects of non-indigenous oysters on ecosystem processes habitats	of 83
4.1	ntroduction	83
4.2 N	laterials and methods	86
4.2.1	Study site	86
4.2.2	Experimental design	87
4.2.3	Organic matter (OM) content and C/N ratios	87
4.2.4	Pore-water nutrient concentrations	88
4.2.5	Flux across the sediment-water interface (SWI)	89
4.2.6	Community respiration	89
4.2.7	Biological assemblages	90
4.2.8	Statistical analysis	90
4.3 F	esults	91
4.3.1	Organic matter (OM) content and C/N ratio	91
4.3.2	Pore-water nutrient concentrations	92
4.3.3	Diffusive nutrient fluxes	92
4.3.4	Inventory and residence time of nutrients	93
4.3.5	Community respiration	93
4.3.6 varia	Relationship between changes in assemblage structure and function ples	al 94
4.4 E	Discussion	110
Chapter \ microbial	/ - Effects of non-indigenous oysters on the diversity and functioning assemblages	of 118
5.1	- ntroduction	118
5.2 N	1ethods	. 122
5.2.1	Study site and experimental design	. 122
5.3 5	ampling techniques for ecosystem processes	. 122
5.3.1	Gas flux of CO_2 and CH_4	. 122
5.3.2	Procedural controls for gas fluxes	. 123

5.3.3	Pore-water nutrients	123
5.3.4	Chlorophyll content of the oxic layer of sediment	124
5.3.5	Total organic carbon and total nitrogen in the oxic and anoxic sediment	124
5.3.6	Dehvdrogenase enzyme activity as an estimate of microbial activity	125
5.4 M	licrobial diversity	125
5.4.1	DNA extraction from the oxic and anoxic sediment	125
5.4.2	Polymerase chain reactions	126
5.4.3	Terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism and fragment analysis	127
5.5 St	tatistical analyses	128
5.5.1	Univariate data analyses	128
5.5.2	Multivariate data analyses	128
5.6. R	esults	129
5.6.1	Gas fluxes and procedural controls	129
5.6.2	Pore-water nutrients	129
5.6.3	Chlorophyll a, b and c concentration	129
5.6.4	Sediment carbon and nitrogen content	130
5.6.5	Microbial activity	130
5.6.6	Microbial diversity and assemblage structure	130
5.7 D	iscussion	144
5.7.1	Effects of <i>C. gigas</i> on carbon cycling	144
5.7.2	Effects of <i>C. gigas</i> on nitrogen cycling	146
5.7.3	Links between invasion and functioning mediated by microbia	al
assen	nblages	.148
5.7.4	Density dependent effects of invaders	149
0.7.0 Chantar V	Broader scale implications – climatic change and nutrient cycling	150
	antaxt dependency of impacts of investigns	152
6.1 C	feets of invasive species on biogeochemical pathways and processes	155
6.2 Li	nects of invasive species of biogeochemical pathways and processes	100 n
functioni	ing	161
6.4 P	otential effects of <i>C. gigas</i> on ecosystem services	163
6.5 Fu	uture directions and recommendations	165
6.6 C	oncluding remarks	167
Appendice	S	168
References	S	173

Abstract

Invasive species have been identified as one of the major threats to biodiversity and ecosystem functioning, but the nature and magnitude of their effects depends on the environmental context and on the abundance of the invader. The Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*, is a globally invasive ecosystem engineer which can monopolise shores and alter native biodiversity. Less is known, however, about its effects on ecosystem functioning or whether its effects differ in different habitats or at different abundances. This research used an interdisciplinary approach to characterise the impact of invasive oysters on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning and to determine how these impacts would vary in different habitats and at increasing abundances.

In Chapter II, the effects of increasing cover of *C. gigas* on biodiversity in intertidal boulder-fields was assessed. Furthermore, the effects of the physical structure and biological activity were separated using dead and living oysters. *C. gigas* increased diversity on boulders, but effects were non-linear with regards to the cover of *C. gigas*. When present at low levels of cover, *C. gigas* increased biodiversity on boulders, but at higher levels there was no further increase in biodiversity and boulders became heavily dominated by macroalgae, *Fucus Vesiculosus*, and a key grazer, *Littorina Littorea*, which possibly indirectly affected the establishment of other species. Either directly or indirectly, the establishment of a protected biogenic habitat built by the honeycomb worm, *Sabellaria alveolata*, on the undersides of boulders was reduced with increasing cover of *C. gigas* on their upper surfaces. The effects of *C. gigas* on the establishment of other species swere found to be mostly attributable to the physical structure rather than their biological activities.

In Chapter III, plots with increasing cover of C. gigas were set-up in mussel-beds and

mud-flats within two estuaries and were sampled after 4 and 15 months. The effects on biodiversity were mostly context-dependent: biodiversity increased with increasing cover of *C. gigas* in mud-flats, but was unaffected or reached a threshold and decreased with the highest level of cover in mussel-beds, depending on the estuary. Some species, such as *L. littorea* and an invasive barnacle, *Elminius modestus*, were facilitated by *C. gigas* regardless of location or habitat.

Ecosystem functioning in mussel-beds and mud-flats in one of the estuaries in Chapter III was also affected by *C. gigas* (Chapter IV). Several biogeochemical properties and processes were altered, but responses were non-linear with regards to cover and some differed between habitats. Sediment-water fluxes and benthic turnover rates of NH_4^+ were greatest at medium cover of *C. gigas* in both habitats, but for Si(OH)₄ they increased with increasing cover of oysters in mud-flats but decreased at the greatest cover of oysters in mussel-beds. Community respiration was only affected at the highest cover of *C. gigas*.

The increase in community respiration was further investigated in Chapter V where the effects of increasing cover of *C. gigas* in mud-flats on ecosystem processes and associated microbial assemblages were tested. The increase in community respiration was at least party attributable to an increase in microbial activity with high covers of *C. gigas*. Ecosystem processes and microbial assemblage structure responded non-linearly with regards to the cover of *C. gigas*. The assemblage composition of methanogens and ammonia-oxidising microbes in anoxic sediments were only altered by low covers of *C. gigas*. At any level of cover, *C. gigas* increased gaseous carbon emission from sediments. NH_4^+ flux reached a threshold at medium cover of *C. gigas* as it did in Chapter IV and indirect mediation from algae facilitated by high covers of *C.*

gigas is suggested as a mechanism.

This research has shown that *C. gigas* can significantly alter biodiversity and several ecosystem processes. The nature and magnitude of many of these effects differed depending on the type of habitat, the location and on the level of cover of *C. gigas*. At a larger scale, high covers of *C. gigas* may impact the conservation status and alter the capacity of estuaries to provide ecosystem services, such as commercial shellfish production.

Acknowledgments

Firstly I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Tasman Crowe for being a good mentor and for always having faith in me and for choosing me to do this PhD. From the moment I arrived in Ireland my path has been littered with challenges, emotional and academic, but I wouldn't change any of it for the world.

I would like to thank the EPA for funding SIMBIOSYS and the other PhD researchers of the project, Ros, Dara, Erin, Jesko and Judith of whom it was a pleasure to work with. I am very grateful to Professor Nick Clipson and Dr. Evelyn Doyle for allowing me to use their lab facilities for molecular work.

Thank you to Dr. Carlos Rocha for introducing me to the world of biogeochemistry. Although our work is not quite "rocket science", I believe it is a valuable mixture of "bugs" and "minerali-what?".

I am indebted to the throngs of people who helped me on fieldwork at Donegal. Sampling was a great deal of hard work, but it was certainly a lot of craic too! So thanks for helping me enjoy the most beautiful part of Ireland.

Thank you to Dru Marsh, the "other Aussie", who saved the day when all else failed and I was in dire need.

Thanks to all the warm-hearted folks at the Urban Institute of Ireland. The coffee mornings, chats and friendly atmosphere made me look forward to cycling in everyday.

A special thanks to my parents, who are always thinking of me and think I am brilliant no

matter what happens! I'll never forget how you flew all the way from Australia to accompany me to Donegal and "play in the mud and rain". That trip will always put a smile on my face, especially our little trip to Muff.

Most of all I need to thank Bas Boots for helping me with so many aspects of my work: sampling experiments, slaving away days on end in the molecular lab, proof-reading etc... Immeasurable thanks to you for your endless support, Ik houd van jou, Booty! Thank you too for making me passionate about microbes, this is for you:

Ode to a microbe

Earth's invisible engineer, From mountains high, to oceans clear Your infinitesimal army, Working to maintain harmony, Whether oxic or anoxic, Whether toxic or non-toxic, You fix, take up and nitrify, Mineralise, denitrify Our capricious key element, Unlocking us from discontent.

You spread into the atmosphere, The geo and the biosphere, But what of ever-growing heat, Does this not force you to compete? Do microbes sweat or just respire? Will gases force us to expire? What of filthy sewerage slurry, You amass this in a hurry? Although polluted mud and soil, You plunge into your thankless toil.

Substrates flooded with organic matter Are set upon by non-existent lips, Through the frenzy, I hear pitter patter, Reinforcements from non-existent ships! Flagella whip, reporting for duty, Peptidoglycan all shimmering bright, Shadowed by the ostentatious beauty Of a world anchored on their silent plight.

Chapter I - General introduction

1.1 Ecosystem services

As human beings, we may feel we are buffered against the effects of environmental change by modern culture and technology. We are, however, fundamentally dependent on the many services provided by ecosystems. Ecosystem services were defined by the Millennium Ecosystem Assessment (MEA, 2005) as the processes and conditions of natural ecosystems that support human activity and sustain human life. According to the MEA (2005) they can be grouped into four categories: "supporting" (major ecosystem resources, energy and nutrient cycles), "provisioning" (production of goods), "regulating" (maintenance of ecosystem processes) and "cultural" (non-material benefits). These broad groupings, however, can lead to some ecosystem services being counted more than once (Ojea, 2010), thus potentially leading to miscalculations when assessing the economic valuation of ecosystems. The concept is further complicated by the fact that the terms "ecosystem services", "ecosystem functioning" and "ecosystem processes" are often used interchangeably or with alternate meanings within the literature (Fischer et al., 2009). The success of applied ecology depends on its scientific excellence and on its relevance to management (Ormerod et al., 2002). The latter of which is underpinned by the translation of science into recommendations and eventually policy (Webb and Raffaelli, 2008). It is, therefore, of the utmost importance to carefully and unambiguously define terms such as ecosystem services, functioning and processes. There is still much debate regarding such definitions and classifications (Costanza, 2008; Wallace, 2008; Fisher et al., 2009; Haines-Young and Potschin, 2009) and perhaps there are no completely unambiguous definitions for such complex systems, nonetheless, it is still important have to be clear about the meaning of the terms used. In this thesis, ecosystem services are regarded as conceptualisations of the useful direct and indirect contributions of ecosystems to human welfare. It should be noted

that what is regarded as "useful" may change over time as societal needs change. Ecosystem services are produced and maintained by the structure (composition and biological or physical organisation) and functioning of ecosystems. And so we need to conserve natural ecosystems, not only on moral grounds, but also in order to maintain the ecosystem services that sustain us and enrich our lives (Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD, 2012)). The delivery of ecosystem services depends on the functioning of ecosystems. Ecosystem functions can be defined as the interactions between ecosystem structure and processes that underpin the capacity of an ecosystem to provide services (Hooper et al., 2005). Ecosystem functioning, in broad terms, is "the flow of energy and materials through biotic and abiotic components of the ecosystem" (Diaz and Cabido, 2001) and is quantified and qualified by measuring the magnitudes and dynamics of ecosystem processes (Loreau et al., 2002). Ecosystem processes are a measure of the rates of change within ecosystems either physical, chemical or biological for example, primary and secondary production, community respiration and nutrient and energy fluxes (Kinzig et al., 2001; Hiscock et al., 2006).

Global biodiversity is rapidly declining and much of this loss can be attributed to human activities (Sala and Knowlton, 2006; Butchart et al., 2010). Biodiversity can be defined as the variety of life, including ecosystem diversity, species diversity and genetic diversity within species (CBD, 2012). Loss of biodiversity can significantly affect the functioning of ecosystems (Hooper et al., 2005; Balvanera et al., 2006; Cardinale et al., 2006; Stachowicz et al., 2007; Naeem et al., 2009), which in turn affects humans both directly and indirectly, through the provision of ecosystem services (Costanza et al., 1997; Worm et al., 2006). In fact, the link between biodiversity, ecosystem functioning and service provision has been recognised in the new Strategic Plan of the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD, 2012). Although widely accepted, the relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning is still not entirely understood (Gamfeldt and

Bracken, 2009). It is important for researchers to measure and understand a number of processes (Gamfeldt et al., 2008), since the loss of a particular species or functional group may impact upon some processes but not others, therefore results may vary depending on which processes are measured (Duffy et al., 2001; Biles et al., 2003; Solan et al., 2004; Matthiessen et al., 2007; Vaughn et al., 2007).

Micro-organisms play the major role in maintaining ecosystem processes, particularly in nutrient cycling, decomposition and mineralisation or remineralisation of organic matter (Pomeroy, 1974; Schulz and Zabel, 2000). In fact, they are the primary means by which organic matter is recycled and made available to primary producers, and as such, they provide many ecosystem services that sustain life (Bell et al., 2005; Ortego-Morales et al., 2010). However, the relationship between microbial biodiversity and functioning and the environmental controls on microbial community composition remain poorly understood (Oremland et al., 2005; Gutknecht et al., 2006; Hallin et al., 2009). There is growing awareness that the impact of macrobiota on ecosystem functioning may arise from, or be mediated by, their impacts on microbial communities and the biogeochemical processes they drive (Windham, 2001; van der Putten et al., 2007).

1.2 Invasive species – one of the main threats to ecosystems

Invasive species have been recognised as one of the main direct drivers of change to biodiversity and ecosystems (MEA, 2005; Simberloff, 2005; Charles and Dukes, 2007; McGeoch et al., 2010; Pyŝek and Richardson, 2010; Thomsen et al., 2011a). Although, biological invasions have been commonplace throughout evolutionary time, as species ranges are often dynamic and may extend due to geographic and climatic variation, anthropogenic pathways of introduction are allowing a much wider and faster proliferation to new habitats (Vitousek et al., 1997; Nentwig, 2007; Butchart et al.,

2010)). For example, in the marine realm, aquaculture and cargo shipping have greatly increased the speed, frequency, magnitude and spatial extent of the spread of non-indigenous species (Lodge, 1993; Galil et al., 2007; Gollasch, 2007).

Non-indigenous is used throughout pseudonymously with "non-native", "alien" and "exotic" to indicate an organism found living beyond its historical native range. Despite being transported beyond their native range, not many of these species become successfully established and spread rapidly in the new environment and hence can be deemed as "invasive" (Ricciardi and Cohen, 2007; Falk-Petersen et al., 2006). The definition of what makes a species "invasive" has been subject to debate for some time (Colautti and MacIsaac, 2004). One definition is "an organism that is non-indigenous to the ecosystem under consideration and is likely to cause harm to native ecosystems, habitats, species and/or the economy that outweighs any beneficial effects" (ISAC, 2006; Perrings et al., 2010; CBD, 2012).

Defining what is meant by "harmful" or "beneficial" is subjective and ecological researchers should not make "positive" or "negative" value judgments, but rather provide empirical evidence, detailing the nature and magnitude of effects, which helps inform management decisions regarding invasions (Rosenzweig, 2001; Hagman and Shine, 2007). From a policy perspective, however, making these distinctions is important and, in general, a loss of native biodiversity or a decrease in the quality or quantity of ecosystem services will be considered a "negative" response, whilst the opposite will be considered "positive" (Beck et al., 2008). On the contrary, changes to ecosystem functioning should not be defined as positive or negative from society's point of view, but resultant changes to ecosystem services can be, since these are subjective and complex (Duffy, 2009). For example, a diversity-mediated increase in primary production which increases commercial shellfish production would be considered

positive, while the eutrophication of a water body would be negative. It is important to remember that not all non-indigenous species cause negative environmental impacts (Colautti and MacIsaac, 2004; Ricciardi and Cohen, 2007). In fact, there are many documented cases of positive effects (Sagoff, 2005), for example, some non-indigenous plants increase the production of commercial honey (Charles and Dukes, 2007). Those invasive species which do cause negative effects, however, can cause irreparable damage to species, ecosystems and economies. For instance, about half of the species listed as threatened or endangered under the Endangered Species Act (ESA, 2001) are considered to be at risk primarily because of competition with or predation by, invasive species (Wilcove et al., 1998).

As recognition of the potential impacts of invasive species has grown, so has the economic literature concerning costs to terrestrial (Olson, 2006) and aquatic (Lovell et al., 2006) ecosystems. Damage caused by invasive species worldwide is estimated at more than \$1.4 trillion per year, representing nearly 5 % of the world economy (Pimentel et al., 2001). Many of these costs are due to a deterioration of ecosystem services induced by invaders (Pejchar and Mooney, 2009; Vilá et al., 2010). Of course, the costs of prevention, management and mitigation can also be substantial (Olson, 2006). A prolific example is the invasive Zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*), which causes severe damage to the power industry in North America due to biofouling, and costs approximately \$5 billion each year to control (New York Sea Grant, 1994). Such expenditure must be justified and strategically targeted by understanding the potential impacts of invasive species through research producing robust empirical evidence (Pyšek and Richardson, 2010).

1.3 Potential threats of invasive species

Invasive species occur in terrestrial, freshwater and marine environments and many can alter native biodiversity and ecosystem processes (Ehrenfeld, 2010; Molnar et al., 2008) through a range of direct and indirect mechanisms (Crooks, 2002). Invasive species can reduce biodiversity in invaded habitats (Sala et al., 2000; Grosholz, 2005; Molnar, 2008; Kimbro et al., 2009). In other cases, they can increase or have no effect on biodiversity (Molnar et al., 2008). Although the effects on alpha diversity have been well studied, invasive species can also affect beta diversity (Wright, 2011). In fact, many invasive species have been implicated in causing homogenisation of the Earth's biota (Lodge, 1993; Vitousek et al., 1997; Rahel, 2002; McKinney and Sorte, 2007). Homogenisation most commonly occurs via exclusion and local extinction of native species (Olden et al., 2008) and can occur in terms of genetic, taxonomic or functional groups (Olden and Rooney, 2006). Homogenisation of communities can cause simplifications of food-web structures at multiple trophic levels and may increase the susceptibility of communities to future invasions (Olden et al., 2004).

Predicting the effects of invasive species on populations and communities requires an understanding of the mechanisms by which invaders interact with native species. Direct interactions may involve competition (Byers, 2000; Seabloom et al., 2003), parasitism (Griffen, 2009) or predation (Pitt and Witmer, 2007). Some invasive plants, for example, out-compete natives for light, nutrients and space (Bennett et al., 2011), while many bird extinctions are attributed to predation from invasive rats and cats (King, 1985; Griffin et al., 1989). Invasive species can also interbreed and "hybridize" with related native species, potentially causing genetic extinction of rare or endemic species (Rhymer and Simberloff, 1996; Largiadèr, 2007).

Indirect effects of invasive species are often found to be as important or more important

than direct effects (Wootton, 1994; Russell et al., 2007). Facilitation of native or other non-native organisms by invasive species is common (Rodriguez, 2006) and can have further indirect effects on other species. For example, invasive plants may provide refuge for herbivores which then consume other native plant species. This is known as "apparent competition" (Dangremond et al., 2010). Additionally, when invasive species facilitate other invaders, this can lead to "invasional melt-down", which is a term coined by Simberloff (2006) relating to a community level phenomenon in which the rate of invasion and overall impacts of invaders are accelerated as one invasive species facilitates another and so forth.

Either indirectly by affecting biodiversity, or directly by chemical or physical alterations to the receiving environment, invasive species can alter ecosystem processes and functioning, thereby affecting the provision of ecosystem services (Charles and Dukes, 2007; Pejchar and Mooney, 2009; Ehrenfeld, 2010; Eviner et al., 2012). Invasive species can alter primary or secondary productivity (Dukes and Mooney, 2004; Bruschetti et al., 2011), decomposition rates (Giles et al., 2006; Karberg and Lilleskov, 2009), nutrient or energy (Ehrenfeld, 2003; Gomez-Aparicio and Canham, 2008; Vila et al., 2011) cycles. Despite this, there have been relatively few studies assessing effects of invasive species on ecosystem functioning compared with those assessing effects on individual species, populations or communities (Ehrenfeld, 2010; Sousa et al., 2011).

1.4 Context-dependency of impacts of invaders

Few generalizations have stemmed from research on invasive species (Thomsen et al., 2011a). This lack of generality arises from the fact that the nature and magnitude of the effects of invasive species may vary depending on the environmental context (i.e. the associated abiotic and biotic factors of the receiving environment) and on the unique

(e.g. identity) and universal (e.g. abundance) attributes of the invader (Thomsen et al., 2011a). Indeed, an invasive species may have a negative impact in one location but have no effect or a beneficial one elsewhere (Colautti and MacIsaac, 2004; Somaweera and Shine, 2012). Recently, several researchers (Lockwood et al., 2007; Olenin et al., 2007; Thiele et al., 2011; Thomsen et al., 2011a and b) have presented "frameworks" that aim to organise impact studies identifying research gaps and eventually strengthening predictions of the impacts of invasive species. Economic resources are not available to control all invasive species, so some frameworks aim to rank the impacts of invaders in order to assist in prioritising management decisions (Thiele et al., 2011). Such rankings can be based, for example, on the magnitude of alterations to native species and communities, habitats and ecosystem functioning and on how widespread the invader is (Olenin et al., 2007). The credibility of these ranks, however, is limited by some key knowledge gaps, including how the effects of invaders on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning differ (i) at a range of different abundances (percentage covers, densities or biomasses) and (ii) in different habitats (Thomsen et al., 2011a).

Typically studies on the impacts of invasive species compare presence or absence of invaders (Thomsen et al., 2011a). In order to improve predictions of their impacts, it is advantageous to relate invader effects directly to their abundance, which may vary through time, as populations expand or decline, or differ spatially through patchy distribution. Impacts may form continuous gradients with abundance (Parker et al., 1999). Alternatively, the relationship between effect and invader abundance may be non-linear, thus complicating predictions (Yokomizo et al., 2009). If responses are non-linear, then small abundances of an invader may have different or disproportionate effects on native ecosystems than larger abundances. For instance, if small populations of an invader have positive or neutral impacts on native species, then a threshold value

may exist, above which effects become negative (Groffman et al., 2006).

In general, no description in ecology makes sense without reference to particular temporal and spatial scales (Levin, 1992) since biotic (Underwood and Chapman, 1996) and abiotic properties (Chapman and Tolhurst, 2007) of ecosystems are inherently patchy. As such, relationships between invader abundance and their effects may be modified by variation in the biological, physical and chemical characteristics of habitats at a range of scales (Thomsen et al., 2011b). The characteristics of the invaded habitat, including the composition of invaded communities, structural complexity and heterogeneity and type and mineralogical composition of substrata, can alter species interactions (Kneitel and Chase, 2004) and regulate the impacts of invaders on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning (Boyer et al., 2009). Therefore, the development of accurate predictions of the impacts of invasive species requires their effects to be assessed in the full environmental gradient of invaded habitats (Thiele et al., 2011).

Relationships between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning are also context dependent, varying in relation to factors such as environmental conditions (Yachi and Loreau, 1999; O'Connor and Crowe, 2005; Vaughn et al., 2007), assemblage composition (Worm and Duffy, 2003) and density of organisms (Griffin et al., 2008), thus further complicating predictions of the effects of invaders. Furthermore, the functional distinctiveness between the invader and the native biota can alter its overall impact, but not in a unidirectional manner. For example, if the invader is functionally similar to native biota, effects such as competition (Byers, 2009) and hybridisation (Mallet, 2005) may be exacerbated. Alternatively, if a habitat forming invader is functionally distinct from native biota, its effects may be exacerbated because it alters the native environment more radically than functionally similar species (Ricciardi and Atkinson, 2004). Ultimately, the complex interactions of species coupled with the inherent

complexity of ecosystems, makes predicting the ecological or economic impacts of invasive species very difficult (Williamson, 1999), as it does finding any general law in ecology (Lawton, 1999).

1.5 Impacts of invasive ecosystem engineers

Ecosystem engineers, as defined by Jones et al. (1997), are organisms which control resource availability through physical alterations to biotic or abiotic materials, including the alteration or provision of habitat (Bruno and Bertness, 2001). Organisms can be "autogenic engineers" when they themselves are part of the engineered habitat or "allogenic engineers" when they transform biotic or abiotic materials from one physical state to another through their biological activities (Jones et al., 1994; Crooks, 2002). One reason that invasive ecosystem engineers are of particular interest is because they can change the abundance or diversity of structural elements in habitats, thus altering habitat complexity or heterogeneity (McCoy and Bell, 1991). In turn, this can alter biodiversity by affecting processes such as recruitment (Benedetti-Cecchi and Cinelli, 1992; McQuaid and Lindsay, 2005), mortality (Menge, 1978), dispersal (Raffaelli and Hughes, 1978) and response to disturbance (Lohse, 1993). In short, invasive ecosystem engineers can exert control over ecosystem processes by mediating the flow, availability or quality of nutrient, trophic and physical resources (Crooks, 2002). It is important to note that the impacts of invasive ecosystem engineers are not only modulated by the species composition of invaded communities and the characteristics of invaded habitats, but also by the presence of other functionally similar ecosystem engineers (Padilla, 2010; Queirós et al., 2011).

1.6 Crassostrea gigas as an invasive ecosystem engineer: potential impacts on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning

The Pacific oyster, Crassostrea gigas (Thunberg, 1793), originally from Japan, is the leading species in global shellfish aquaculture (Miossec et al., 2009) and as a consequence has become extensively invasive (Chew, 1990), with wild populations inhabiting many coasts and estuaries worldwide, including Australasia (Ayres 1991; Dinamani 1991), Europe (Grizel and Héral, 1991; Reise, 1998; Drinkwaard 1999), North America (Span, 1978; Quayle, 1988) and South Africa (Robinson et al., 2005). Wild populations of C. gigas have been found in a variety of different habitats, including mudflats and mussel beds (Reise et al., 2006; Ruesink, 2007; Buttger et al., 2008; Markert et al., 2010), marshes (Escapa et al., 2004), polychaete reefs (Dubois et al., 2006a) and rocky shores (Krassoi et al., 2008; Trimble et al., 2009). C. gigas is an ecosystem engineer and its success is partly due to its ability to modify habitats in a way that enhances its own further colonisation (Diederich, 2005). It does this by constructing complex reefs that facilitate the settlement of conspecifics and increase the chance of their survival (Bartol et al., 1999; Gutiérrez at el., 2003; Grabowski and Powers, 2004). As such, it can form very dense populations covering extensive areas (Wrange et al., 2010).

The name *Crassostrea gigas*, translated from Greek, means "thick" (*Crass*), "giant" (*gigas*) "oyster" (*ostrea*). True to its name, *C. gigas* develops thick shells and can grow very large, sometimes up to 40 cm in length (Nehring, 2006). Often they are also more tolerant to environmental stress (Piano et al., 2002) and have greater fecundity (Soletchnik et al., 2002), growth (Askew, 1972) and clearance rates (Honkoop et al., 2003) than native bivalves. It is, therefore, not surprising that in some places where it is invasive, *C. gigas* can outcompete native bivalves such as cockles, mussels (Diederich et al., 2005) and native oysters (Grizel and Héral, 1991). The reduction of cockles can

indirectly harm migratory birds by reducing food availability (Smaal et al., 2005; Van den Berg et al., 2005). At a community level, *C. gigas* has been found associated with a greater abundance and diversity of organisms (Gutierrez et al., 2003; Peterson et al., 2003; Dubois et al., 2006a; Markert et al., 2010; Lejart and Hily, 2011), or with changes to the composition or structure of assemblages (Kochmann et al., 2008; Markert et al., 2010), or with assemblages that do not differ from those associated with indigenous habitats (Görlitz, 2005).

Despite extensive research on the effects of invasive populations of C. gigas on biodiversity, very little is known about its effects on ecosystem functioning, or about the mechanisms by which it affects either biodiversity or functioning. The influence of C. gigas on biodiversity and ecosystem processes may be due to its physical structure or its biological activities. The shell of C. gigas adds hard substrata to the receiving habitat and may be colonized by other native and non-native organisms (Diederich et al., 2005). Because the shell of C. gigas is structurally complex, it may increase biodiversity (Lejart and Hily, 2011) by enhancing foraging efficiency of predators or providing refuge and ameliorating physical stress (Grabowski and Powers, 2004; Jackson et al., 2008). The shell can also alter small-scale hydrodynamics (Moulin et al., 2007), thus altering settlement and sedimentation patterns of other organisms and particulate matter respectively (Butman et al., 1988; Eckman et al., 1994). By filter-feeding, C. gigas can compete with other filter-feeders for food such as cockles (Smaal, 2005; Van den berg et al., 2005), polychaetes (Dubois et al., 2006b), native oysters (Bourne, 1979; Krassoi et al., 2008) and blue mussels (Cognie et al., 2006; Diederich, 2006), or can alter the diversity or structure of assemblages in the water column by consuming phytoplankton, zooplankton (Pietros and Rice, 2003) and larvae (Pechenik et al., 2004). Furthermore, filtration by C. gigas may increase water clarity, enhancing light penetration, thereby increasing the growth of algae (Sousa et al., 2009).

The deposition of faeces and pseudofaeces by C. gigas can organically enrich sediments, potentially altering redox potentials at the sediment-water interface, grain size distributions which can affect the distribution of benthic fauna (Rhoads, 1974; Cruz Motta et al., 2003) and biogeochemical processes in the sediment, potentially altering nutrient cycling. Nutrient cycling, in broad terms, is the movement and exchange of organic and inorganic matter back into the production of living matter. Sediments of marine coastal ecosystems are important for nutrient recycling and micro-organisms play the dominant role in the recycling, decomposition and mineralisation or remineralisation of organic matter (Jørgensen, 2000, see Figure 1). Organic matter is typically provided to marine sediments by benthic photosynthesis or by the deposition of dissolved and particulate organic matter from the water column. The breakdown of organic matter in surface sediments releases inorganic nutrients to the overlying water and thereby supports primary productivity (del Georgio and Williams, 2005). Decomposition, the breakdown of organic matter by catabolic metabolism results in (Re)mineralisation where organic matter is converted into inorganic components which may be used directly by plants. As a result of (re)mineralisation, organic matter is incorporated into microbial and faunal biomass and inorganic nutrients, such as NH_4^+ , phosphate and CO₂ are released into the environment (Figure 1). The decomposition of organic matter is controlled by micro-organisms through aerobic and anaerobic processes (Kaiser et al., 2005). The most efficient process to obtain energy is oxic respiration of organic matter, where the oxygen molecule is used as an electron acceptor and organic matter as an electron donor. This can only take place where free oxygen is present, which is usually in the first few millimeters or centimeters of marine sediment. The depth of the oxic layer is determined by geophysical components of the sediment such as porosity and permeability and can be influenced by activities such as bioturbation of organisms living in the sediment (Mermillod-Blondin, 2011). In general,

following redox gradients, aerobic respiration is followed by nitrate reduction, reduction of manganese, then iron, sulphate and finally methane (Froelich et al., 1979, Figure 1). The succession of the different electron acceptors is based on the energy yield of the reactions and on the types of micro-organisms present (Jørgensen, 2000). The energy yield of aerobic respiration is highest compared to all other pathways, but not all microorganisms can respire aerobically. When a favourable electron acceptor is depleted, the next favourable will be used, sometimes with vertical overlap (Schulz and Zabel, 2000).



Figure 1. Conceptual model of organic matter decomposition pathways and the geochemical zonation in marine sediments. Figure reproduced from Jørgensen (2000).

In marine sediments, organic matter constitutes an important food source for benthic fauna and micro-organisms. Carbon and nitrogen cycling are of the utmost importance as these elements are of primary importance to the growth of all organisms (Schulz and Zabel, 2000). Heterotrophic organisms use organic carbon as an electron donor to obtain energy and as a carbon source to build up biomass. Carbon fixation underpins the cycling of other essential elements through complex food webs at various trophic levels. Although the supply of inorganic carbon for photosynthesis is seldom limiting in marine systems, the role of the ocean in the global carbon cycle has received intense attention in recent decades as a result of anthropogenic disturbance (Kaiser et al., 2005). The majority of carbon is stored in marine sediments and rocks (Wisniewski and Lugo, 1992). Nitrogen is the element that most frequently limits primary production in the oceans (Kaiser et al., 2005). In addition to serving as a source of inorganic nitrogen to the water column through (re)mineralisation, sediments may also act as a source of atmospheric nitrogen via denitrification. Through changes to the quantity and quality of organic matter, C. gigas could alter biogeochemical processes such as decomposition and (re)mineralisation of organic matter.

In fact, possibly from such alterations, dense populations of farmed *C. gigas* have been found to increase concentrations of ammonia and sulphur to toxic levels in the sediment and subsequently reduce the abundance of many benthic organisms (Bouchet et al., 2007). Despite this, no studies have explicitly investigated the effects of different abundances of wild *C. gigas* on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. One particular concern of invasive *C. gigas* is their potential to control and limit the standing stock of phytoplankton in the water column, thus altering the carrying capacity of estuaries (Gibbs et al., 2005).

Recently, populations of wild C. gigas have been found in Ireland with the greatest

occurrence in Lough Foyle and Lough Swilly in County Donegal (Kochmann et al., unpublished). Each of these loughs is designated as a Special Protection Area (SPA) and a Special Area of Conservation (SAC), important for protected habitats and several internationally and nationally listed bird species (NPWS, 2011). The loughs are also important for Ireland economically in terms of tourism and aquaculture. The growth and spread of invasive populations of *C. gigas* around Ireland may threaten important cultural, provisioning and supporting ecosystem services.

1.7 Aims of this thesis

The aims of this research were to assess (i) the potential impacts of C. gigas on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning and to characterise how effects vary with respect to (ii) different environmental contexts, such as in different habitats and at (iii) different abundances of C. gigas. These aims were achieved using manipulative field experiments which are presented as different chapters in this thesis. Chapter II examines the effect of increasing cover of C. gigas on biodiversity in intertidal boulder-fields and attempts to separate the effects of the physical structure and biological activities of *C. gigas*. Chapter III addresses the effect of increasing cover of C. gigas on biodiversity within mussel-beds and mud-flats and further examines how these effects vary between locations and after different lengths of time. Chapter IV examines the functional consequences of increasing cover of C. gigas at one of the locations described in Chapter III. Chapter V provides a detailed analysis of the effects of increasing cover of C. gigas on the diversity, composition and activity of microbial assemblages coupled with simultaneous alterations to ecosystem functioning. Potential causal links between changes to microbial assemblages and alterations to ecosystem processes are discussed. Finally, Chapter VI draws together the elements of the research described above, placing them into a general context of current and proposed future research.

Chapter II: Impacts of non-indigenous oysters on biodiversity and a protected biogenic habitat in an intertidal boulder-field

2.1 Introduction

Invasions of introduced species have become increasingly common due to the influence of anthropogenic activities (Chapin et al., 2000; Naylor et al., 2001; Butchart et al., 2010). Where they become established, invasive species can have serious impacts on native biodiversity and ecosystem functioning (Simberloff, 2005; Molnar et al., 2008). Organisms which create biogenic habitat, also referred to as ecosystem engineers (Jones et al., 1997) or foundation species (Dayton, 1975), are a functionally important group which may increase diversity of other organisms (Bruno et al., 2003). Invasive ecosystem engineers can have far reaching impacts on the structure of assemblages over space and time (Jones et al., 1994) through multiple direct and indirect mechanisms (Crooks, 2002). Understanding the complex mechanisms by which invasive species alter assemblages is crucial in order to appreciate the full extent of their potential impacts and to improve strategies for their reduction (Watling et al., 2011).

The Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas* (Thunberg, 1793), an ecosystem engineer originally from Japan and South-east Asia, has become globally invasive due to its extensive use in aquaculture since the 1900s (Bourne, 1979). *C. gigas* is of particular concern as an invasive species because of its ability to form dense populations, in some cases over 400 individuals per m² (Wrange et al., 2010), and to dominate entire shores (Diederich et al., 2005; Ruesink et al., 2005). *C. gigas* has been found to increase biodiversity, alter assemblage structure and change the abundance and distribution of native species in a number of habitats worldwide, including mudflats and mussel beds (Reise et al., 2006; Ruesink, 2007; Buttger et al., 2008; Markert et al., 2010), marshes (Escapa et al., 2004), polychaete reefs (Dubois et al., 2006a) and rocky platforms (Krassoi et al., 2008; Trimble

et al., 2009). Many of these studies have, however, been observational rather than experimental (but see Kochmann et al., 2008), so causal links remain largely unconfirmed. As the density of *C. gigas* increases, the effect it has on the physical, chemical and biological properties of the environment may change in nature or magnitude (Sousa et al., 2009) but so far no studies have explicitly addressed the effect of increasing densities of *C. gigas* on biodiversity. Indeed variation in impacts with density has been identified as a key gap in empirical research into biological invasions (Thomsen et al., 2011a).

Despite the extensive research on impacts of *C. gigas*, there has been no work to date addressing the effects of *C. gigas* on the establishment of assemblages in intertidal boulder fields. Boulder fields are unique habitats, often inhabited by a range of rare or endemic species (Kangas and Shepard, 1984; Chapman, 2005) including biogenic habitat forming species, which are a particularly important component of biodiversity (Bruno et al., 2003) and often considered a priority for conservation. *C. gigas* exists in wild populations in a number of habitats globally and coexists with protected and important biogenic habitat forming species, such as the Honey-comb worm, *Sabellaria alveolata* (Linnaeus, 1767) (Cognie et al., 2006) a reef-building polychaete which creates habitats protected under Annex I of the EU Habitats Directive. Despite the importance of this biogenic habitat, the impacts of *C. gigas* on the establishment of *S. alveolata* reefs have received little attention (Dubois et al., 2006a).

The influence of *C. gigas* on other biota may either be due to its physical structure or its biological activity or a combination of both. The structure of *C. gigas* can displace or facilitate other organisms. Under certain environmental conditions, *C. gigas* can outcompete other sessile organisms, such as eelgrass (Tallis et al., 2009), cockles (Smaal, 2005; Van den berg et al., 2005), native oysters (Bourne, 1979; Krassoi et al., 2008) and blue mussels (Cognie et al., 2006; Diederich, 2006). Their shells also provide novel

habitat, however, which can facilitate other native and non-indigenous organisms. The shell of *C. gigas* is structurally complex and has been found to increase the abundance and diversity of organisms in a variety of habitats (Gutierrez et al., 2003; Peterson et al., 2003; Dubois et al., 2006a; Markert et al., 2010; Lejart and Hily, 2011). Alternatively, diversity can remain unchanged, but the structure of assemblages may differ to those of indigenous biogenic habitats (Kochmann et al., 2008; Markert et al., 2010). Because the structure of *C. gigas* is so complex it can greatly alter small-scale hydrodynamics (Moulin et al., 2007) and subsequently affect the establishment of other taxa, since the hydrodynamic properties of the benthic boundary layer (in terms of flow velocity and sediment transport) are important in determining the settlement of particulate matter and larvae (Butman et al., 1988; Eckman et al., 1994).

The biological activity of *C. gigas* can also affect the settlement of particulate matter and larvae by increasing turbulence in the water column through its filter-feeding activities (Troost et al., 2009). At the same time, by filtering particulate matter in the water column, *C. gigas* can compete for food with other filter-feeders, (such as polychaetes: Ropert and Goulletquer, 2000; Dubois et al., 2009) and decrease their survival and growth rates, or in some cases, can directly filter the larvae of other organisms (Pechenik et al., 2004) thereby decreasing the number of larvae that settle. Furthermore, filtration by *C. gigas* may increase water clarity, enhancing light penetration, thereby increasing the growth of algae (Sousa et al., 2009). The deposition of faeces and pseudo-faeces by *C. gigas* can alter the physical and chemical properties of the environment, in terms of increased sedimentation and nutrient enrichment, in extreme cases this process can lead to toxic levels of armonium and hydrogen sulphide for other organisms, such as eelgrass (Kelly and Volpe, 2007). In some circumstances, however, bio-deposition can facilitate organisms. For example, ammonia excreted by *C. gigas* can increase the growth of algae (Reusch et al., 1994).

The aim of this study was, therefore, to test the effects of increasing cover of *C. gigas* on biodiversity and the establishment of *S. alveolata* on intertidal boulders and to distinguish between the influence of the physical structure of the oysters and their biological activity. An initial survey to assess differences in the abundance of *S. alveolata* on boulders with and without *C. gigas* was followed by an experimental manipulation to test the following hypotheses: i) biodiversity and the establishment of *S. alveolota* on boulders will be increasingly modified with increasing densities of oysters; ii) If the effects of *C. gigas* are due to its physical structure alone, the same result would be expected regardless of whether the oysters were living or dead iii) If the effects are due to the biological activity of *C. gigas* only, the result would only occur when the oysters were living and there would be no effects of dead oysters. iv) The effects could also be due to a combination of the physical structure and biological activity of *C. gigas*, in which case both living and dead oysters would have an effect, but the influence of living oysters would be different from that of dead oysters.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 Study site

The present study was done in the mid to low shore area of an intertidal boulder-field at Lough Swilly (Ballylin Point, County Donegal, Ireland: 55° 2' 36.12", -7° 33' 36.09") with recently established populations of wild *C. gigas* oysters. The boulder-field extends approximately five kilometres along the coast and is situated in a sheltered estuary that is rarely visited by people. Most of the boulders on the shore are made of sandstone, although granite and shale boulders are also present. The diameter of boulders on the shore ranged from 10 to 200 cm, although the majority were between 18 and 24 cm and the average (\pm S.E.) was 22.3 (\pm 0.5) cm. The density of boulders was approximately 5 per m² and boulders were resting either on bedrock, sediment, small pebbles or other

boulders. Most boulders were colonised by a mixture of algae, barnacles, oysters, and gastropods on the topside and barnacles, bryozoans, sponges, polychaetes, gastropods and crustaceans on the underside.

2.2.2 Cover of S. alveolata on boulders with and without C. gigas

On a 50 m section parallel to the shore, 40 boulders with oysters and 40 boulders without oysters were identified, numbered and their positions marked on a map. Boulders chosen were of a similar size and rock-type and occurred at the mid to low tide level. Out of these, 20 boulders with oysters and 20 boulders without oysters were randomly selected. The percentage cover of *S. alveolata* on these boulders was estimated by point-intercept sampling using a 10 cm side grid subdivided into 2 cm side quadrats (i.e. 25 intersections) which was randomly placed twice on each of the topside and underside of the boulder to obtain a measure out of 100 for each boulder.

2.2.3 Experimental addition of *C. gigas* onto boulders

The experiment involved two fixed and orthogonal factors; 1: 'state of oysters' (2 levels; living or dead) and 2: 'cover of oysters' (4 levels; 0, 5, 50 and 100 % cover) which equated to approximately 0, 1, 4 and 8 individual oysters. Seven replicate boulders were allocated randomly to each treatment, giving a total of 56. All boulders used in the study were similar in shape, made of sandstone and were approximately 25 x 20 x 10 cm in size and weighed approximately 12 kg. All oysters (living and dead) used in the experiment were collected from nearby mussel beds in Lough Swilly. Oysters in the range 40 - 100 mm maximal length were collected, cleaned of any flora or fauna on their shells, and randomly allocated to treatments so that any differences in size and shape would be randomized among treatments. The left and right valves of the dead oysters were glued together so that their physical structure did not differ from that of the living oysters. Oysters were then attached

to the tops of boulders using a two-part epoxy resin (ARALDITE rapid; Huntsman Advanced Materials, USA) as in Jackson (2009) and allowed to dry for 12 h before the boulders were deployed at the site. To account for any possible effects of the glue, a procedural control was included, in which only glue was added to 7 boulders. The amount of glue that was added was similar to that of the boulders with 50 % cover of oysters. All the boulders used in this study were collected from the upper shore, because they were free of an existing marine assemblage, but they were also scraped, and cleaned with a blowtorch to ensure that there was no remaining biofilm. In order to account for possible differences between upper and lower shore boulders, another procedural control was included in which 7 boulders from the lower shore were also scraped and cleaned with a blowtorch. Boulders were deployed in mid April 2010 and were sampled after 4, 9 and 14 months. The first and last sampling periods were chosen because the reproductive peak for S. alveolata is between June and September and the experiment was run for long enough to allow settlement and establishment of this species (Culloty et al. 2010). The length of time between sampling periods was sufficient to allow assemblages disturbed by the non-descructive sampling to fully recover (Chapman & Underwood 1996).

2.2.4 Sampling of experimental boulders

The surface area of each boulder was approximated to that of a sphere and was calculated using the average diameter. The total individual *S. alveolata* tubes on the topside and underside of the boulders were recorded and combined to obtain a measurement for the whole boulder which was converted to a measure of density per m². All other organisms on the boulders were also identified and counted, but were not removed from the boulders so as to minimise disturbance. Organisms which could not be counted individually in the field, such as algae, bryozoans and barnacles were recorded as percentage cover using the point-intercept method described in Section 2.2.2.

2.2.5 Statistical analysis

To compare the percentage cover of *S. alveolata* on boulders with and without oysters in the initial sampling programme, a two-tailed t-test was used.

Variation in assemblage structure among treatments at each sampling time was compared using two factor PERMANOVA (Anderson, 2001) based on the design described in Section 2.2.3 and using Bray-Curtis dissimilarities (Bray and Curtis, 1957) of square root transformed data with 9999 permutations under the reduced model. Where differences in assemblage structure were found, the data were ordinated on a 2-dimensional non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) diagram, with the stress values representing the level of distortion of the actual rank order of distance among samples (Clarke, 1993). Where significant differences were found SIMPER (Clarke, 1993) analyses were also done of square root transformed data and were used to assess the contribution of different taxa to dissimilarities between treatments.

Univariate analyses were also done of selected variables using the same design described above. These included the following diversity indices; species richness (SR), Shannon-Wiener index (H') and Pielou's evenness (J'). Differences in the density of *S. alveolata* and the density or percentage cover of some other taxa thought to be susceptible to the impacts of oysters, or found as dominant space occupiers on the shore, were also compared. Specifically, these were bladder-wrack algae, *Fucus vesiculosus* (Linnaeus, 1767), solitary ascidians, *Ascidia conchilega* (Müller, 1776), and common periwinkles, *Littorina littorea* (Linnaeus, 1758).

The potential influence of artefacts due to the experimental procedures on multivariate assemblage structure and the density of *S. alveolata* was tested using two analyses: firstly

to test for the effects of glue one-way PERMANOVAs and one-way ANOVAs were done with the factor; 'type of boulder' with 4 levels (blank control, glue control, 50 % living oyster or 50 % dead oyster boulders). The glue control was only done for the 50 % cover treatment due to practical limitations. Secondly, to test for possible effects of using upper shore boulders in the mid-low shore, a one-way PERMANOVA and a two-tailed t-test were done comparing upper shore blank controls with mid-low shore blank controls.

All multivariate analyses were done using the PRIMER package (PRIMER-e, 2009). All univariate analyses were done with Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) on untransformed data using the software Win-GMAV (Underwood and Chapman, 1998). Heterogeneity of variance was tested using Cochran's *C*-test. When this was significant data were square root transformed to decrease the probability of inflated Type I error rates, i.e. incorrectly rejecting a true null hypothesis (Cochran, 1947). Furthermore, it should be noted that heterogeneity of variance only causes serious problems for the use of ANOVA when the variance of one group is significantly larger than the others or when the design is unbalanced (Underwood, 1997). This did not occur in the current experiment, nor in the subsequent experiments. When significant differences were detected by ANOVA (P < 0.05), Student-Newman Keuls (SNK) tests were done to identify patterns of difference.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Amount of S. alveolata on boulders with or without C. gigas

The percentage cover of *S. alveolata* on boulders ranged from 0 to 100% and there was significantly less cover on boulders with oysters than on boulders without oysters (Figure 2, t-test: P = 0.04).

2.3.2 Experimental addition of *C. gigas*

After 4 months, 6 replicate boulders were found for each treatment. After 9 months, only 4 were found. This sampling period occurred in January during particularly harsh weather which included snow and hail, making it difficult to locate the boulders. After 14 months, 6 replicates were found in all except the treatment with 5 % cover of living oysters, for which 5 replicates were found. In this case, analyses were done with n=6. The mean of the 5 available replicates was used as the 6th replicate for this treatment and the residual degrees of freedom were reduced by 1 (Sokal and Rohlf, 1981; Underwood, 1997).

2.3.3 Effects of C. gigas on biodiversity

A total of 38 taxa were found during this experiment (Appendix 1). Species richness (SR) did not differ among treatments after 4 and 9 months, but after 14 months SR was affected by the cover of oysters regardless of their state, where boulders with 5 % cover of oysters had more taxa than boulders with no oysters (Figure 3a, Table 1, SNK procedure).

Shannon-Wiener diversity (H') did not differ after 4 months, but after 9 months was affected by the cover of oysters (Table 1), although no differences could be resolved by SNK procedure. After 14 months, H' was affected by the interaction between cover and state of oysters: boulders with 5 % cover of living oysters had a greater diversity than boulders with 50, 100 % or no living oysters whereas diversity was greater on boulders with 5, 50 or 100 % cover of dead oysters than on boulders with no oysters (Figure 3b, Table 1, SNK procedure).

Pielou's evenness (J') was affected by the cover of oysters at all times, regardless of their state (Table 1). After 4 months, J' on boulders with 100 % cover of oysters was less than that of the other treatments. After 9 months no differences could be resolved by SNK

procedure and after 14 months J' on boulders with no oysters was less than on boulders with 5, 50 or 100 % cover of oysters (Figure 3d, Table 1, SNK procedure).

2.3.4 Effects of C. gigas on community structure

After 4 and 9 months, assemblage structure did not differ among treatments (Table 2). After 14 months, however, it differed between boulders with living and dead ovsters and among different levels of cover of oysters on boulders (Table 2). Boulders with 5 % or no cover of oysters had assemblages with different structure from those on boulders with 50 or 100 % cover of oysters. These differences are apparent in the nMDS plot which shows boulders with 100 and 50 % cover of oysters separated from boulders with 5 % and no cover of oysters (Figure 4). Overall, boulders with living oysters had a greater density of the gastropods L. littorea and Gibbula umbilicalis, the common chiton Lepidochitona cinerea (Linnaeus, 1767), juvenile C. gigas oysters, polychaete worms of the family Spirorbidae and greater cover of F. vesiculosus than boulders with dead ovsters which had a greater density of S. alveolata, the gastropods Nucella lapillus (Linneaus, 1758) and Patella vulgata (Linneaus, 1758), and the common Keel worm, Pomertoceros triqueter (Linneaus, 1758) (SIMPER analysis). In addition, there was a greater density of S. alveolata, P. vulgata, G. umbilicalis and P. triqueter on boulders with 5 or 0 % cover of oysters than on boulders with 50 or 100 % cover of oysters. On the contrary, there was a greater density of L. littorea, juvenile C. gigas oysters and greater cover of F. vesiculosus on boulders with 50 or 100 % cover of oysters than on boulders with 5 or 0 % cover of oysters (SIMPER analysis). Interestingly, boulders with 5 % cover of living oysters had the greatest density of several organisms including L. cinerea, P. lamarcki, G. umbilicalis, P. vulgata, the anenome Actinia equina (Linneaus, 1758) and polychaete scale worms of the family Polynoidae.

2.3.5. Effects of C. gigas on the establishment of S. alveolata

After 4 months, the recruitment of S. *alveolata* was very patchy and there were no differences among treatments (Figure 5a, Table 3). After 9 months, there was an increasing density of S. *alveolata* with a decreasing cover of oysters, regardless of whether the oysters were living or dead, specifically, there was significantly more S. *alveolata* on boulders without any oysters than on boulders with 5, 50 or 100 % cover of oysters (Figure 5b, Table 3, SNK procedure). This pattern was more pronounced on boulders with living oysters, but was significant for the factor 'cover' alone, indicating no major influence of the state of the oysters. By 14 months, although the density of S. *alveolata* on boulders without *C. gigas* regardless of whether the oysters were living or dead (Figure 5c, Table 3, SNK procedure). S. *alveolata* was primarily found on the bottom surfaces of boulders, in 84 of the 120 times it occurred throughout the experiment ($\chi^2 = 19.2$, *d.f.* = 1, P < 0.0001).

2.3.6 Effects of *C. gigas* on the establishment of *F. vesiculosus*, *A. conghilega* and *L. littorea*

After 4 months, there was an insufficient cover of *F. vesiculosus* to analyse the data. After 9 months, there was significantly greater cover of *F. vesiculosus* on boulders with 100 % cover of oysters, regardless of whether they were living or not, than on boulders with less or no oysters (Figure 6a, Table 3, SNK procedure). After 14 months, there was significantly greater cover of *F. vesiculosus* on boulders with 100 % and 50 % cover of oysters than on boulders with 5 % or no oysters (Figure 6b, Table 3, SNK procedure). There was also a significantly greater cover of *F. vesiculosus* on boulders on boulders with living oysters than on boulders with dead oysters (Figure 6b, Table 3, SNK procedure).
After 4 and 9 months there was a significantly greater density of *A. conchilega* on boulders with dead oysters than on boulders with living oysters (Figure 7a and b, Table 3), but after 14 months the density of *A. conchilega* had greatly decreased on all boulders and was insufficient for a formal analysis.

After 4 months there were no differences in the density of *L. littorea*. After 9 months, there was a greater density of *L. littorea* on boulders with 100 % cover of oysters, although this was not significant (Table 3, Figure 8b). After 14 months there was a significantly greater density of *L. littorea* on boulders with 100 % cover of oysters than on boulders with no oysters (Figure 8c, Table 3, SNK procedure).

2.3.7 Effects of the experimental procedure

No artefacts of the experimental procedure in terms of adding glue or using upper shore boulders were found at any time during this experiment either for assemblage structure or for the density of *S. alveolata*. Assemblage structure was similar on blank control boulders, glue control boulders and boulders with a 50 % cover of living or dead oysters after 4 (PERMANOVA: Pseudo-F = 0.703, *d.f.* = 3, P = 0.834) and 9 months (PERMANOVA: Pseudo-F = 0.822, *d.f.* = 3, P = 0.662). But after 14 months, assemblage structure on blank control boulders was the same as that on glue control boulders, but each differed from that on boulders with 50 % cover of living or dead oysters (PERMANOVA: Pseudo-F = 2.285, *d.f.* = 3, P = 0.005, SNK procedure). After 4 months, the density of *S. alveolata* did not differ among blank control, glue control or 50 % living oyster boulders (ANOVA: F = 0.45, *d.f.* = 3, P = 0.717). After 9 and 14 months, the density of *S. alveolata* on blank control and glue control boulders were both greater than on boulders with 50 % cover of living or dead oysters (ANOVA: F = 4.3, *d.f.* = 3, P = 0.028 and F = 3.66, *d.f.* = 3, P = 0.029 respectively). These results mirrored those from the main experiment and indicate that

there were no effects of adding glue but there were effects of adding oysters to boulders.

The structure of assemblages on blank upper shore boulders was not different from that of assemblages on blank lower shore boulders at 4 (PERMANOVA: Pseudo-F = 0.885, *d.f.* = 1, P = 0.528), 9 (PERMANOVA: Pseudo-F = 0.418, *d.f.* = 1, P = 0.889) or 14 months (PERMANOVA: Pseudo-F = 0.661, *d.f.* = 1, P = 0.703). Furthermore, the density of *S. alveolata* on blank upper shore boulders did not differ from that on blank lower shore boulders at 4 (T-test: P = 0.720), 9 (T-test: P = 0.863) or 14 months (T-test: P = 0.761). This indicates that there were no effects of using boulders from the upper shore in the experiment.

Table 1. ANOVA for species richness, Shannon-Weiner diversity and Pielou's evenness on boulders with increasing cover of living and dead oysters after 4, 9 and 14 months.

		4 months			9 month	S		14 months			
Source variation	d.f.	MS	F	d.f.	MS	F		d.f.	MS	F	
Species											
State of oysters	1	16.33	2.11	1	2.53	0.43		1	2.52	0.21	
Cover of oysters	3	10.72	1.38	3	3.11	0.53		3	34.58	2.93	*
SxC	3	1.17	0.15	3	13.61	2.34		3	29.58	2.50	
Residual	40	7.75		24	5.82			40	11.82		
Shannon-											
State of oysters	1	5977.00	2.34	1	0.13	0.94		1	0.06	0.51	
Cover of oysters	3	0.18	0.71	3	0.47	3.39	*	3	1.06	9.47	***
SxC	3	0.02	0.09	3	0.14	1.04		3	0.35	3.13	*
Residual	40	0.26		24	0.14			40	0.11		
Pielou's											
State of oysters	1	0.01	0.83	1	0.03	1.12		1	0.00	0.20	
Cover of oysters	3	0.03	3.41 *	3	0.08	3.12	*	3	0.08	3.72	*
SxC	3	0.01	0.92	3	0.01	0.42		3	0.01	0.38	
Residual	40	0.01		24	0.03			40	0.02		
0 10 1			D			4	-				

		4 months			9 months		14 months			
Source of variation	d.f.	MS	Pseudo F	d.f.	MS	Pseudo F	d.f.	MS	Pseudo F	
State of oysters (=S)	1	2461.80	1.06	1	1812.30	1.11	1	3463.50	2.18	*
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	2094.80	0.90	3	2372.30	1.46	3	7215.70	4.55	**
SxC	3	450.67	0.19	3	1123.60	0.69	3	2243.90	1.41	
Res	40	2329.80		24	1626.30		40	1587.10		
Total	47			31			47			

Table 2. PERMANOVA of assemblage structure on square root transformed data of boulders with increasing cover of living and dead oysters after 4, 9 and 14 months with 9999 permutations of residuals under the reduced model.

	4	months				9 months	S			14 mon	ths	
Source of variation	d.f.	MS	F		d.f.	MS	F		d.f.	MS	F	
Density of S. alveolata												
State of oysters (=S)	1	74.11	1.17		1	830.28	0.67		1	4722.91	1.53	
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	21.71	0.34		3	5173.61	4.21	*	3	12951.13	4.21	*
SxC	3	98.99	1.57		3	98.61	0.08		3	800.17	0.26	
Residual	40	63.15			24	1230.09			40	3078.19		
Cover of F. vesiculosus												
State of oysters (=S)	1	-	-		1	913.78	1.82		1	3816.33	8.07	**
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	-	-		3	1866.78	3.72	*	3	6847.14	14.49	***
SxC	3	-	-		3	130.61	0.26		3	1227.50	2.60	
Residual	40	-			24	501.82			40	472.63		
Density of A. conchilega												
State of oysters (=S)	1	26.16	8.39	**	1	7.39	4.48	*	1	-	-	
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	2.96	0.95		3	0.66	0.40		3	-	-	
SxC	3	3.81	1.22		3	3.27	1.98		3	-	-	
Residual	40	3.12			24	1.65			40	-		
Density of L. littorea												
State of oysters (=S)	1	97.66	2.15		1	50.77	0.09		1	1.46	0.50	
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	28.86	0.64		3	1157.28	2.01		3	10.52	3.58	*
SxC	3	19.79	0.44		3	55.97	0.10		3	1.85	0.63	
Residual	40	45.42			24	574.40			40	2.94		

Table 3. ANOVA for density or cover of *S. alveolata*, *F. vesiculosus*, *A. conchilega* and *L. littorea* on boulders with increasing cover of living and dead oysters after 4, 9 and 14 months. After 4 months, there was insufficient cover of *F. vesiculosus* and after 14 months there was insufficient cover of *A. conchilega* to permit analysis.



Figure 2. Mean % cover (+/- S.E.) of *S. alveolata* on boulders with (hashed lines) and without (clear) *C. gigas.* n = 20.



Figure 3. Mean (+/- S.E.) values of diversity indices per boulder (a) species richness, (b) Shannon-Weiner diversity and (c) Pielou's evenness for assemblages on boulders with living (hashed lines) and dead (clear) oysters at 0, 5, 50 and 100 % cover after 14 months.



Figure 4. nMDS plot of square root transformed data of assemblages on experimental boulders after 14 months. Black shapes represent boulders with living oysters added on them and white shapes represent boulders with dead oysters added on them. Boulders have 100 (circles), 50 (triangles), 5 (squares) and 0 % (diamonds) cover of oysters. In the legend, the letter 'L' denotes living oysters and the letter 'D' denotes dead oysters.



Figure 5. Mean density (+/- S.E.) of *S. alveolata* (number of tubes per m^2) on boulders with experimentally added living (hashed lines) or dead (clear) oysters at 0, 5, 50 and 100 % cover after 4 (a), 9 (b) and 14 (c) months.



Figure 6. Mean percent cover (+/- S.E.) of *F. vesiculosus* on boulders with experimentally added living (hashed lines) or dead (clear) oysters in cover of 0, 5, 50 and 100 % after 9 (a) and 14 (b) months.



Figure 7. Mean density (+/- S.E.) of *A. conchilega* (number per m^2) on boulders with experimentally added living (hashed lines) or dead (clear) oysters at 0, 5, 50 and 100 % cover after 4 (a) and 9 (b) months.



Figure 8. Mean density (+/- S.E.) of *L. littorea* (number per m^2) on boulders with experimentally added living (hashed lines) or dead (clear) oysters at 0, 5, 50 and 100 % cover after 4 (a), 9 (b) and 14 (c) months.

2.4 Discussion

The addition of *C. gigas* to the tops of boulders altered biodiversity, evenness, assemblage structure, and the establishment of several species. The nature and magnitude of most of these effects differed according to the cover of oysters alone, indicating that effects were mainly due to the physical structure of C. gigas, although some species also responded to their biological activity. Overall, boulders with oysters, regardless of their state or cover, supported more diverse and more even assemblages than boulders without oysters. This is probably due to an increase in habitat complexity (McCoy and Bell, 1991) provided by the physical structure of oyster shells, but effects differed depending on the cover of oysters. On boulders with a low cover of oysters (5 %), biodiversity and the establishment of several species was facilitated by the physical structure and the biological activities of C. gigas, as boulders with the least cover of living oysters had the greatest species richness and Shannon-Wiener diversity, the most even assemblages and supported a greater density of several taxa. With greater cover of oysters (50 and 100 %), however, these patterns seemed to reach a threshold or start to decline depending on the state of oysters. On boulders with dead oysters (physical structure only), biodiversity increased with increasing cover of oysters up until the second greatest cover (50 %) where it levelled out. This may be due to a lack of rocky habitat available for colonisation by other organisms due to the space being occupied by oysters. In contrast, the addition of living oysters (physical structure and biological activity) increased biodiversity with the least cover of oysters (5%) but there were declines in biodiversity relative to this, with greater cover. It is possible that the biological activities of C. gigas at greater cover can inhibit other organisms from becoming established, for example, through competition for food. Alternatively, in both living and dead states, C. gigas facilitated the establishment of a few dominant species which may have indirectly prevented others from becoming established. For example, boulders with the greatest cover (50 and 100 %) of C. gigas were dominated by algae (F. vesiculosus) and grazing gastropods (L. littorea), resulting in less available

space for colonisation of other organisms compared to boulders with less cover of oysters (5 %), which still provided a more complex habitat than boulders with no oysters. Perhaps over a longer time period (> 14 months), the diversity on boulders with the greatest cover of living oysters would continue to decrease, although this could not be ascertained from the current study.

Despite the fact that biodiversity was increased by the least cover of living oysters, the establishment of S. alveolata on these boulders was greatly reduced (by approximately half) compared to boulders without any oysters. In fact, the establishment of S. alveolata was decreased even at the lowest cover of dead oysters, indicating that the physical structure of oysters can have strong effects. This could be due to either direct impacts of the oyster shells themselves because they occupy space or alter small scale hydrodynamics, or it could be due to indirect effects of the oysters' interactions with other organisms. Direct competition for space is unlikely since in this experiment S. alveolata was mostly found on the underside of boulders (even on boulders without C. gigas) and C. gigas were only attached to the topside. Therefore, hydrodynamics are a more likely cause. Modification of flow regimes caused by the physical structure of oysters (Lenihan, 1999; Soniat et al., 2004) can affect the arrival of particulate matter and settlement of larvae, thus affecting assemblage structure (Butman et al., 1988; Eckman et al., 1994; Commito et al., 2005). For many marine organisms, passive settlement patterns are more important than active ones and are dependent on the flow speed of the water (Butman, 1987 and 1989; Snelgrove and Butman, 1994; Boxshall, 2000). Rough surfaces, such as oyster shells, decrease flow speed, thereby increasing the potential for larvae to reach the substratum and settle (Wright and Boxshall, 1999). But the increased cover of C. gigas may decrease the amount of food available for other suspension feeders such as S. alveolata. Moulin et al. (2007) found that dense accumulations of invasive slipper limpets decreased local flow velocities, decreasing the resuspension of particulate matter and thus

decreasing the availability of food for other filter feeders. It is, therefore, possible that settlement of *S. alveolata* increased with increasing cover of *C. gigas*, but that post-settlement processes causing increased mortality and/or reduced growth (e.g. due to modifications in the flow of food particles) were responsible for the decrease in its establishment. Effects on the establishment of *S. alveolata* could also have been due to indirect effects of *C. gigas* due to its provision of habitat for other organisms. *F. vesiculosus*, for example, which was facilitated by *C. gigas*, can reduce the recruitment of other algae (Kiirikki, 1996) and invertebrates (Lewis and Bowman, 1975; Grant, 1977) by its "whiplash effect". It is also possible that damage may have been caused to *S. alveolata* by *F. vesiculosus* via mechanical abrasion (Leonard, 1999) or that smothering of tube ends by algal fronds may have inhibited their ability to feed and grow. The increase in density of *L. littorea* associated with *C. gigas* may also have contributed to the reduction in the establishment of *S. alveolata*. Grazing periwinkles, such as these, can cause mortality in the newly settled larvae of invertebrates through physical dislodgement or "bulldozing" effects (Miller and Carefoot, 1989; Hidalgo et al., 2008).

Unlike *S. alveolata, L. littorea* increased in density with increasing cover of *C. gigas.* Similar results have previously been found in regards to oysters on mussel beds (Diederich, 2005; Markert et al., 2010), likely because the shell of *C. gigas* is very structurally complex, providing additional refuge and biofilm for grazing compared to adjacent rocky surfaces (Kochmann et al., 2008). The cover of *F. vesiculosus* also increased with increasing density of oysters, which is contrary to other studies on mussel beds, which have found a decrease of *F. vesiculosus* with the occurrence of *C. gigas* (Diederich, 2005; Buttger et al., 2008; Padilla, 2010). This could be because of differences in the type of *F. vesiculosus* that is present in different habitats. In mussel beds of the Wadden Sea, there is an asexual form of *F. vesiculosus* referred to as "mussel *Fucus*" or *F. vesiculosus* forma *mytili* (Nienburg). Mussel *Fucus* never has a holdfast and is associated

with *Mytilus edulis* because the bysall threads of the mussel help to secure it to the substratum (Albrecht, 1998). On rocky shores, however, the sexual form of *F. vesiculosus* is more likely to occur and can secure itself to the substratum (in this case the shell of *C. gigas*) by a holdfast.

Aside from structural effects, *F. vesiculosus* was also affected by the biological functioning of the oysters, as it had a much greater cover on boulders with living oysters after 14 months. This may be due to nutrient enrichment from the deposition of faeces and pseudofaeces from oysters (Reusch et al., 1994). The opposite pattern was found for the density of A. conchilega which decreased on boulders with living oysters, possibly due to competition for food, as A. conchilega is also a filter-feeder. There may also be some effects of the biological functioning of C. gigas on the establishment of S. alveolata, because although not significant, the patterns were more pronounced on boulders with living than with dead C. gigas. Both of these filter feeders ingest food particles in the same size range (Dubois et al., 2003), so there is a possibility that they may compete for food. C. gigas can also reduce the settlement of other organisms by decreasing the abundance of larvae in the water column through larviphagy (Troost et al., 2008), although whether or not this applies to S. alveolata or A. conchilega is unknown. More profound effects, however, may result from the deposition of faeces and pseudofaeces from oysters which can increase the concentration of fine particles in the water column, clogging the tubes of S. alveolata and decreasing their filtration rates (Dubois et al., 2009).

Although the potential impacts of invasive marine organisms which form durable structures, such as shells, have been identified as a priority for management and conservation initiatives (Sousa et al., 2009), little has been done to assess their impact on protected habitats. *C. gigas* is already a globally invasive species and it is still spreading (Troost, 2010). It is clear from the results of this study that, even with limited cover and by

its physical structure alone, it can alter assemblage structure and increase biodiversity but markedly reduce the extent of protected biogenic habitats. Notably, *C. gigas* reduced the establishment of *S. alveolata*, a polychaete which creates some of the most extensive intertidal biogenic reefs in Europe (Desroy et al., 2011), which are key components of marine communities and have a great diversity of associated species (Holt et al., 1998; Frost et al. 2004).

C. gigas is one of a number of invasive habitat-forming species or ecosystem engineers (Jones et al., 1997) that have been shown to have profound direct and indirect effects on other organisms due to their physical structure alone (Crooks, 2002). For example, an experiment by Peterson and Andre (1980) found that the growth rates of some bivalves can be reduced by the presence of the dead shells of other dominant bivalve species (Branch and Steffani, 2004; Ward and Ricciardi, 2007). Understanding the mechanisms by which invasive species may alter receiving ecosystems is paramount to developing effective management strategies. The fact that *C. gigas* can have strong effects by virtue of its physical structure alone highlights the importance of assessing the total cover (dead and living) of invasive species which form habitats that can persist in the environment long after death and requires dead as well as living oysters to be taken into account when planning mitigation and restoration.

In the current study, assemblage structure on boulders was altered by the physical structure and the biological activities of oysters, and these impacts differed depending on the cover of oysters. Few studies (Aldridge, 2009; Pawson et al., 2010) have explicitly compared the effects of invasive species at different densities or cover (Thomsen et al., 2011a), but knowing the nature and magnitude of impacts as their populations increase can help to make management decisions that avoid detrimental economic or ecological consequences. This is particularly important for species which have great impacts even at

small densities or cover (Yokomizo et al., 2009), which the current study suggests may be the case for *C. gigas*.

Chapter III - Effects of non-indigenous oysters on biodiversity vary with increasing cover and environmental context

3.1 Introduction

Non-indigenous invasive species can profoundly affect ecosystems and economies worldwide (Chapin et al., 2000; Mack et al., 2000) through their alterations to native biodiversity (Bax et al., 2003; Molnar et al., 2008; Wright, 2011) and ecosystem processes (Ehrenfeld, 2010). As the density of an invasive species increases, the effect it has on the physical, chemical and biological properties of the environment may change in nature or magnitude (Sousa et al., 2009). Although there has been extensive research into impacts of invasive species, few studies have made comparisons of impacts at different abundances (Thomsen et al., 2010). This is a significant shortcoming in invasion biology because it precludes the ability to make generalisations about abundance-dependent impacts (Thomsen et al., 2010). The effects of invasive species are also likely to be context-dependent, differing depending on the properties of the receiving environment (Padilla, 2010; Queiros et al., 2011). Hence there is increasing recognition of the need to explore the effects of invasive species in different habitats in order to be able to understand mechanistic interactions between invaders and abiotic conditions (Sousa et al., 2009; Thomsen et al., 2011b).

Among the most influential invasive species are those which alter existing habitats and/or create new habitats that persist in the environment for a long time. Such species have been referred to as "ecosystem engineers" (Jones et al., 1994) or "foundation species" (Dayton, 1975). Invasive ecosystem engineers can have far reaching impacts on the structure of assemblages over space and time (Jones et al., 1994) through multiple direct and indirect mechanisms (Crooks, 2002). Many bivalves are ecosystem engineers and can physically alter the environment, affecting the availability of resources to other

organisms either through their physical structure (shell) or their biological activities (filterfeeding and biodeposition). Due to their potential to alter the structure and functioning of receiving ecosystems, invasive bivalves have been identified as a priority for conservation and management initiatives (Sousa et al., 2009) as they can have severe cascading economic impacts (Aldridge et al., 2004). For example, invasive bivalves having strong impacts on native ecosystems include the Zebra mussel, *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pallas, 1771) (Bially and MacIsaac, 2000), the Mediterranean blue mussel, *Mytilus galloprovincialis* (Lamarck, 1819) (Robinson et al., 2007) and the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas* (Linnaeus, 1767) (Troost, 2010).

C. gigas is a commercially important species (accounting for 98% of global commercial oyster production) and, as a consequence of deliberate introduction, has become globally invasive. *C. gigas* is able to modify habitats in a way that enhances its own further spread (Diederich, 2005) and as such, it can form very dense populations (over 400 individuals per m²; Wrange et al., 2010). It is an ecosystem engineer which modifies the physical properties of the receiving environment and provides a complex three dimensional habitat for other organisms to colonise (Markert et al., 2010).

Invasive populations of *C. gigas* have been found to alter the abundance and distribution of native species in other parts of the world including the United Kingdom, Canada, Australia, New Zealand and Western Europe (Troost, 2010). Effects have been documented in a variety of different habitats, including mudflats and mussel beds (Reise et al., 2006; Ruesink, 2007; Buttger et al., 2008; Markert et al., 2010), marshes (Escapa et al., 2004), polychaete reefs (Dubois et al., 2006a) and rocky platforms (Krassoi et al., 2008; Trimble et al., 2009). In some cases, *C. gigas* was associated with an increase in the abundance and diversity of organisms (Gutierrez et al., 2003; Peterson et al., 2003; Dubois et al., 2006a; Markert et al., 2010; Lejart and Hily, 2011). In other cases, diversity

was unchanged, but the structure of assemblages associated with *C. gigas* differed from those associated with indigenous habitats (Kochmann et al., 2008; Markert et al., 2010). It is difficult to make generalisations about the impact of *C. gigas* on biodiversity since the effects of invasive species, as with many anthropogenic impacts, are context-dependent, varying in nature and magnitude depending on the receiving environment (Hewitt et al., 2008; Padilla, 2010; Thomsen et al., 2010; Queiros et al., 2011).

The majority of studies of impacts of *C. gigas* have been mensurative (Ruesink et al., 2005) rather than experimental (Escapa et al., 2004; Kochmann et al., 2008) and therefore causal links between increases in density of *C. gigas* and changes in biodiversity are not fully understood. The aims of this study were therefore to test the following hypotheses 1.) Biodiversity, assemblage structure and the abundance of individual taxa will be altered by *C. gigas* 2.) These impacts vary with increasing cover of *C. gigas*, 3.) Impacts will vary in different habitats, 4.) Impacts will vary in different locations and 5.) Impacts will vary after different lengths of time since establishment.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Study sites

This study was done at two locations in Ireland, Lough Foyle (Quigley's Point, County Donegal: 55° 7' 14.87", -7° 11' 53.59) and Lough Swilly (Ballylin Point, County Donegal, Ireland: 55° 2' 36.12", -7° 33' 36.09"). At each location experimental plots were set-up on two different types of habitat, both in lower intertidal areas: mussel-beds and mud-flats. Mussel-bed habitats consisted of dense populations of blue mussels, *Mytilus edulis* (Linneaus, 1758). Mud-flat habitats were patches of mud interspersed between the mussel-beds which were not dominated by any other biogenic habitat building organism or by hard substratum. Sediment within mussel-beds was a mixture of fine sand, silt with

large shell fragments throughout. Sediment within mud-flats was a mixture of very fine sand, silt and clay. Plots were spaced at least 5 m apart and were spread across a section of shore that was approximately 100 m in length.

3.2.2 Experimental set-up

The experiment was set up during late April 2009 and had 2 factors: Habitat (fixed and orthogonal with 2 levels, mussel-bed or mud-flat) and cover (fixed and orthogonal with 4 levels, 0, 5, 50 or 100 % cover of oysters). These four levels of cover were arranged into 50 x 50 cm plots in mussel bed and muddy sediment habitat and equated to the following densities: 0, 16 +/- 0.5, 120 +/- 8 and 240 +/- 12 individuals per m². These four densities equated to 0, 26.06 +/- 2.13, 390.88 +/- 31.95 and 781.77 +/- 63.90 g per m² ash free dry weight. Mixtures of different sizes of oysters were used, ranging from 40 – 100 mm maximal length. All oysters used in this experiment were found in situ and were not moved between locations. Oysters were rinsed with seawater and cleaned of any epibionts prior to use and then simply inserted upright into the mud and mussel-bed habitats to mimic the positions in which they are found in natural populations. Oysters were inserted to simulate an overgrowth, rather than a complete replacement of mussels (Figure 9). Because sampling was destructive, 8 replicate plots of each treatment were set up and 4 replicates were sampled at each of 2 times. Plots were spaced at least 5 m apart and were spread across a section of shore that was approximately 25 m in length and 100 m in width.

3.2.3 Sampling methods

The experiment was sampled after 4 and 15 months, during late July, 2009 and late June, 2010 respectively. To measure epifauna and flora, a 25 x 25 cm quadrat was randomly placed onto each plot and a 2 minute search was conducted in which large mobile macrofauna, including gastropods and crabs, were counted and percentage covers of algae were estimated visually. After this, a core with 10 cm diameter was taken down to 10

cm depth in the centre of the plot. The top section, which included epifauna and the first 1-2 cm of sediment, was removed and placed into a container and preserved in 5 % formalin. Any epifauna or flora on the surface of the bivalves was later identified and counted and the sediment was sieved through a 125 μ m mesh, sorted and identified. Sessile epifauna including bryozoans, barnacles and polychaetes were counted as individuals not as colonies. The remainder of the core (from 2 to 10 cm depth) was sieved through a 500 μ m mesh to retain macrofauna then placed into a container and topped up with 5 % formalin stained with rose bengal to preserve fauna for later sorting and identification in the laboratory. Organisms in quadrats and cores were scaled up to numbers per m².

3.2.4 Statistical analysis

Univariate analyses were done using 2-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) on the same design described in 3.2.2. Analyses were done on the total number of individuals (N), species richness (SR) and Shannon-Wiener diversity (H'). Variation in assemblage structure among treatments at each sampling time and within each location was compared using two-factor PERMANOVA (Anderson, 2001) based on the design described above and using Bray-Curtis dissimilarities (Bray and Curtis, 1957) of square root transformed data with 9999 permutations under the reduced model. Assemblage data were ordinated on a 2-dimensional non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) diagram, with the stress values representing the level of distortion of the actual rank order of dissimilarity among samples (Clarke, 1993). Where significant differences in assemblage structure were found, SIMPER (Clarke, 1993) analyses were done on square root transformed data and were used to assess the contribution of different taxa to dissimilarities between treatments. Tests for homogeneity of multivariate dispersions (PERMDISP: Anderson, 2004; Anderson, 2006) were done to identify heterogenous variability among experimental groups and were also used as a measure of β -diversity (Anderson et al., 2006), which can be defined as the

variation in community structure among samples, sites or experimental units. Differences in the abundance of taxa thought to be susceptible to the impacts of oysters based on previous studies, or found as dominant space occupiers on the shore were also analysed. These included common periwinkles, *Littorina littorea* (Linnaeus, 1758), green shore crabs, *Carcinus maenas* (Linnaeus, 1758), invasive barnacles, *Elminius modestus* (Darwin, 1854), and the total abundance of polychaetes.

Analyses of Variance were done using the software Win-GMAV (Underwood and Chapman, 1998). Prior to univariate ANOVAs, homogeneity of variance was tested and corrected for by the same method as detailed in Chapter II. When significant differences were detected by ANOVA (P < 0.05), post-hoc Student-Newman Keuls (SNK) tests were used to identify patterns of difference. All multivariate analyses were done using the PRIMER package (PRIMER-e, 2009).

3.3 Results

A total of 60 taxa were found throughout the duration of the experiment (Appendix 2). The abundance and identity of these varied between locations and over time but included 9 gastropod species, 6 bivalve species, 4 amphipod species, 3 algal species and 16 different families of polychaetes. At Lough Foyle after 15 months several plots were missing or damaged so only 3 replicate plots for each treatment were used in the analyses. In addition, by 15 months, the "100 %" plots at Lough Foyle were no longer completely intact and more closely represented 75 % cover.

3.3.1 Effects of *C. gigas* on the total number of individuals

After 3 months, N was unchanged within mussel-bed habitats but increased with increasing cover of oysters within mud-flat habitats at both locations (Figure 10a). Specifically, at Lough Foyle the 50 and 100 % plots had greater N than the 0 and 5 % and

the 5 had more N than the 0 %. At Lough Swilly the 100 was greater than the 50, 5 and 0 % (Table 4, SNK procedure).

After 15 months at Lough Foyle, N differed between habitats, with greater N in mussel-bed than in mud-flat habitats (Figure 10b). At Lough Swilly N was altered by the interaction between habitat and cover (Table 4). N increased with oyster cover within mud-flat habitats, but within mussel-bed habitats the 50 % was greater than the 0 and the 100 % plots which were equal (Figure 10b, SNK procedure).

3.3.2 Effects on biodiversity after 4 months

At Lough Foyle, neither SR nor H' differed among different covers of oysters in mussel-bed habitats, but within mud-flat habitats, the plots with 100 % cover of oysters had greater SR and H' than the plots with 0 and 5 % cover (Figure 10c and e, Table 4). In mud-flat habitats, plots with 50 % cover of oysters also had greater H' than plots without oysters (Table 4, SNK procedure). At Lough Swilly, neither SR nor H' differed among different covers of oysters in mussel-bed habitats, but within mud-flat habitats, SR and H' were all greater within plots with 5, 50 and 100 % cover of oysters than with plots with no oysters (Figure 10c and e, Table 4, SNK procedure).

3.3.3 Effects on biodiversity after 15 months

At Lough Foyle, SR and H' were affected by the cover of oysters regardless of the type of habitat (Table 4). H' was greater in plots with 50 % cover of oysters than in plots with no oysters, but no differences could be detected for SR (SNK procedure). At Lough Swilly, within mussel-bed habitats, SR and H' plots with 5 and 50 % cover of oysters had greater SR than those with 100 % cover of oysters and plots with 0, 5 and 50 % cover of oysters had greater H' than plots with 100 % cover of oysters (Figure 10d and f, Table 4, SNK procedure). Within mud-flat habitats, plots with 50 and 100 % cover of oysters had greater

SR and H' than plots with 0 and 5 % cover of oysters and plots with 5 % cover of oysters also had greater H' than plots with no oysters.

3.3.4 Effects on assemblage structure after 4 months

At Lough Foyle, assemblage structure did not vary with cover of oysters on mussel-bed habitats. In mud-flat habitats, plots with 100 % cover of oysters differed from those with 0, 5 and 50 % cover of oysters and plots with 5 or 50 % cover of oysters differed from those with no oysters (Table 5, Post-hoc procedure). This was also indicated by the clear separation of the 0 and 100 % plots on the nMDS plot (Figure 11a). In mud-flat habitats, differences in assemblage structure on plots with 100 % compared to plots with 0, 5 or 50 % cover of oysters were driven by variations in the density of *E. modestus*, bryozoans *Conopeum seurati* (Canu, 1928), *L. littorea*, and Spionidae worms, which all occurred in greater density in plots with 100 % cover of oysters, were driven by *E. modestus*, *C. seurati*, *Melita palmata* (Montagu, 1804), nematodes and Spionidae worms which occurred in greater density in plots 0 than on plots with 5 % cover of oysters and *C. seurati*, *L. littorea*, *E. modestus*, Oligochaetes and Spionidae worms all occurred in greater density in plots 0 than on plots with 5 % cover of oysters and *C. seurati*, *L. littorea*, *E. modestus*, Oligochaetes and Spionidae worms all occurred in greater density in plots 0 than on plots with 5 % cover of oysters and *C. seurati*, *L. littorea*, *E. modestus*, Oligochaetes and Spionidae worms all occurred in greater density in plots 0 than on plots with 5 % cover of oysters and *C. seurati*, *L. littorea*, *E. modestus*, Oligochaetes and Spionidae worms all occurred in greater density in plots with no oysters (Table 6).

At Lough Swilly, assemblage structure did not vary with cover of oysters in mussel-bed habitats. In mud-flat habitats, however, plots with 100 % cover of oysters differed from those with 0 and 50 % cover and plots with 5 and the 50 % cover of oysters differed from those with no oysters (Table 5, Post-hoc procedure). The nMDS plot for the mud-flat habitat clearly shows the close grouping of the plots with 50 and 100 % cover which are separated from the plots with 0 and 5 % cover of oysters (Figure 11b). In mud-flat habitats, differences in assemblage structure between plots with different covers of oysters were

driven by greater densities of *E. modestus*, *C. seurati*, *L. littorea* and copepods but less density of nematodes in plots with 100 % cover than in plots with 0 or 50 % cover of oysters (Table 7). Similarly, plots with 5 or 50 % cover of oysters had greater densities of *E. modestus*, *C. seurati*, Spionidae worms and copepods but less nematodes than in plots with no oysters (Table 7).

3.3.5 Effects on assemblage structure after 15 months

At Lough Foyle, assemblage structure did not vary with cover of oysters on mussel-beds, but in mud-flat habitats plots with 50 and 100 % cover of oysters differed from those with no oysters (Table 5, SNK procedure). Plots with 50 or 100 % cover of oysters can be seen on the nMDS plot grouped close together, separated from the 0 % plots (Figure 11c). In mud-flat habitats, differences in assemblage structure were driven by a greater density of *E. modestus, C. seurati, L. littorea* and Spionidae worms in plots with 50 or 100 % cover of oysters (Table 5).

At Lough Swilly, assemblage structure of plots with 100 % cover of oysters in mussel-bed habitats differed from those with no oysters (Table 5, SNK procedure). In mud-flat habitats, plots with 100 % cover of oysters differed from those with 0 or 5 % cover and plots with 50 % also differed from those with no oysters (Table 5, SNK procedure). This is particularly evident from the clear grouping of the assemblages on plots with 100 % cover (Figure 11d). In mussel-bed habitats, differences in assemblage structure were driven by a greater cover of *F. vesiculosus* and density of *E. modestus* in plots with 100 % cover of oysters and less density of copepods than in plots with no oysters (Table 9). In mud-flat habitats, differences in assemblage structure by a greater density of Phyllodocidae worms, oligochaetes, *L. littorea, E. modestus* and a greater cover of *F. vesiculosus* in plots with 50 or 100 % cover than plots with 0 or 5 % cover of oysters and less density of

copepods in plots with 100 % cover than in plots with no oysters (Table 9).

3.3.6 Effects on β -diversity

 β -diversity (multivariate dispersion indices) significantly varied among covers of oysters in mud-flat habitats at Lough Swilly after 15 months, where plots with 100 % cover of oysters were less dispersed than those with 0, 5 or 50 % cover (PERMDISP: F = 10, df1 = 7, df2 = 24, P = 0.001).

3.3.7 Effects on individual taxa after 4 months

At Lough Foyle the density of *L. littorea* and Polychaete worms were greater in mussel-bed than in mud-flat habitats and, in both habitats were greater in plots with 100 % cover of oysters than on plots with 0 or 5 % cover of oysters (Table 10, Figure 12a and g, SNK procedure). *E modestus* had a greater density on plots with 50 or 100 % than on those with 0 or 5 % cover of oysters on mussel-beds and a greater density on plots with 100 % than those with 0, 5 or 50 % cover of oysters on mud-flat habitats (Table 6, Figure 12c). *C. maenas* had a greater density on plots with 100 % than those with 0, 5 or 50 % cover of oysters (SNK procedure). Although there were no significant effects on the density of polychaetes (Table 10), their density within mud-flat habitats did increase with increasing cover of oysters (Figure 12g).

At Lough Swilly the density of *L. littorea* was greater within mussel beds than in mud-flats and in plots with 100 % than in those with 0, 5 or 50 % cover of oysters (Table 10, Figure 12a, SNK procedure). The density of *E. modestus* was greater in plots with 100 % than in plots with 0 or 5 % cover of oysters on mussel beds and was greater in plots with 100 % than those with 0, 5 or 50 % cover of oysters in mud-flat habitats (Table 7, Figure 12c, SNK procedure). The density of *C. maenas* was greater in mussel-bed than in mud-flat habitats (Figure 11e, SNK procedure). The density of polychaetes was greater in plots with 5, 50 or 100 % cover of oysters than in plots with no oysters (Figure 12g, SNK procedure).

3.3.8 Effects on individual taxa after 15 months

At Lough Foyle the density of *L. littorea* and *E. modesutus* greater in mussel-bed than in mud-flat habitats and greater in plots with 100 % than those with 0 or 5 % cover of oysters (Table 10, Figure 12b and d, SNK procedure). The density of *C. maenas* was greater on mussel-bed than mud-flat habitats (Table 10, Figure 12f, SNK procedure). The density of polychaetes was greater in mussel-bed than in mud-flat habitats (Table 10, Figure 12f, SNK procedure). The density of SNK procedure). Although not significant, the density of polychaetes in mud-flat habitats increased with increasing cover of oysters.

At Lough Swilly the density of *L. littorea* was greater in plots with 50 or 100 % than those with 0 or 5 % cover of oysters within mud-flat habitats, and no differences were found in mussel-bed habitats (Table 10, Figure 12b, SNK procedure). The density of *E. modestus* was greater in plots with 50 or 100 % than those with 0 or 5 % cover of oysters (Table 9, Figure 12d, SNK procedure). The density of *C. maenas* was greater in mussel-bed than in mud-flat habitats (Table 10, Figure 12f, SNK procedure). The density of polychaetes was greater in mussel-bed than in mud-flat habitats (Table 10, Figure 12f, SNK procedure). The density of polychaetes was greater in mussel-bed than in mud-flat habitats (Table 10, Figure 12f, SNK procedure). Although not significant, the density of polychaetes in mussel-bed habitats was greater in plots with 0, 5 or 50 % cover of oysters than in those with 100 % (Table 9).

Source of variation	4mth	s L. Foy	/le		4mth	s L. Swil	ly	1	15mths L. Foyle				15mths L. Swilly			
Number of individuals	d.f.	MS	F		d.f.	MS	F		d.f.	MS	F		d.f.	MS	F	
Habitat (=H)	1	3.21	61.42	***	1	1997.68	22.83	***	1	8953.59	16.54	***	1	545.72	8.96	**
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	0.55	10.60	***	3	203.71	2.33		3	492.65	0.91		3	748.39	12.28	***
НхС	3	0.41	7.80	***	3	695.99	7.95	***	3	1027.85	1.90		3	446.68	7.33	**
Residual	24	0.50			24	87.51			16	541.28			24	60.93		
Species richness																
Habitat (=H)	1	105.12	20.85	***	1	24.50	4.45	*	1	8.17	1.75		1	60.50	8.02	**
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	11.58	2.30		3	31.42	5.71	**	3	17.00	3.64	*	3	53.42	53.42	**
НхС	3	15.71	3.12	*	3	22.42	4.08	*	3	7.17	1.54		3	90.08	11.94	***
Residual	24	5.04			24	5.50			16	4.67			24	7.54		
Shannon-Weiner (H')																
Habitat (=H)	1	1.51	32.81	***	1	0.04	0.73		1	0.08	0.79		1	0.21	4.98	*
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	0.14	3.09	*	3	0.33	6.54	**	3	0.34	3.53	*	3	0.32	7.52	**
НхС	3	0.22	4.80	**	3	0.27	5.40	**	3	0.04	0.45		3	0.57	13.22	***
Residual	24	0.05			24	0.05			16	0.10			24	0.04		

Table 4. ANOVA for the total number of individuals, species richness and Shannon-Weiner diversity on plots with increasing cover of oysters on mussel-beds and mud-flats after 4 and 15 months. Significant results are indicated, * = P < 0.05, ** = P < 0.01, *** = P < 0.001.

Table 5. PERMANOVA of assemblage structure on square root transformed data of plots with increasing cover of oysters on mussel-beds and mud-flats at Lough Foyle and Lough Swilly after 4 and 15 months with 9999 permutations under the reduced model.

Source of variation	4 m	ths			15 r	15 mths					
Lough Foyle	d.f.	MS	Pseudo F		d.f.	MS	Pseudo F				
Habitat (=H)	1	12326	22.94	**	1	12620	13.18	**			
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	1924	3.58	**	3	1798	1.88	*			
HxC	3	2438	4.54	**	3	2238	2.34	**			
Residual	24	537			16	957					
Lough Swilly											
Habitat (=H)	1	7075	14.49	**	1	6978	7.81	**			
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	1608	3.29	**	3	2771	3.10	**			
HxC	3	2024	4.15	**	3	1776	1.98	**			
Residual	24	488			24	893					

Significant results are indicated, * = P < 0.05, ** = P < 0.001

Table 6. SIMPER analyses based on square-root transformed data corresponding to significant PERMANOVA results at Lough Foyle after 4 months (Table 2). Listed are the 5 taxa that contributed most to the dissimilarity between pair-wise comparisons of different covers of oysters.

Mud-flat	Average d	ensity				
Taxon	0%	5%	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%
E. modestus	4.60	0.00	12.26	1.35	25.59	25.59
C. seurati	4.01	0.00	9.23	0.80	19.26	44.84
Spionidae	4.14	1.38	7.75	1.62	16.17	61.02
M. palmata	1.57	1.36	2.69	1.13	5.62	66.64
Nematoda	7.78	7.10	2.68	1.33	5.59	72.23
	0%	50%				
C. seurati	0.00	11.00	22.42	5.08	38.45	38.45
Spionidae	1.38	4.42	6.56	1.74	11.25	49.70
L. littorea	0.00	2.47	4.89	5.99	8.39	58.09
E. modestus	0.00	2.18	3.90	0.72	6.68	64.77
Oligochaete	0.35	1.99	3.42	1.94	5.87	70.64
	0%	100%				
C. seurati	0.00	11.40	18.61	3.87	25.69	25.69
E. modestus	0.00	10.80	17.67	5.94	24.39	50.09
Spionidae	1.38	5.89	7.24	1.97	10.00	60.08
L. littorea	0.00	3.09	5.20	2.45	7.18	67.27
Nematoda	7.10	5.47	4.57	0.83	6.31	73.57
	5%	100%				
C. seurati	4.01	11.40	11.51	1.76	25.44	25.44
E. modestus	4.62	10.80	8.33	1.89	18.40	43.84
L. littorea	0.00	3.09	4.32	2.49	9.54	53.37
Nematoda	7.78	5.47	4.30	0.90	9.50	62.87
Spionidae	4.14	5.89	3.67	1.60	8.12	70.99
	50%	100%				
E. modestus	2.18	10.80	10.63	2.15	29.56	29.56
C. seurati	11.16	11.40	4.42	1.44	12.29	41.85
Nematoda	8.49	5.47	4.33	0.98	12.06	53.91
Spionidae	4.42	5.89	2.98	1.31	8.29	62.20
Copepoda	1.30	1.54	1.75	1.32	4.88	67.08

Table 7. SIMPER analyses based on square-root transformed data corresponding to significant PERMANOVA results at Lough Swilly after 4 months (Table 2). Listed are the 5 taxa that contributed most to the dissimilarity between pair-wise comparisons of different covers of oysters.

Mud-flat	Average	e density	/			
Taxon	0%	5%	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%
E. modestus	0.00	6.34	9.74	3.89	18.71	18.71
C. seurati	0.00	3.64	4.98	0.73	9.56	28.27
Nematoda	9.00	9.18	3.51	1.27	6.74	35.02
Spionidae	1.24	3.23	3.13	1.69	6.02	41.04
Chiton	0.00	1.98	3.02	8.29	5.80	46.84
	0%	50%				
C. seurati	0.00	12.08	17.19	3.88	29.80	29.80
E. modestus	0.00	5.53	7.88	4.84	13.66	43.46
Spionidae	1.24	3.57	3.32	1.38	5.76	49.22
Nematoda	9.00	7.86	3.16	2.91	5.47	54.69
Copepoda	2.75	4.71	3.07	1.16	5.32	60.00
	0%	100%				
E. modestus	0.00	9.80	14.38	7.55	23.76	23.76
C. seurati	0.00	6.66	9.64	1.50	15.93	39.69
Nematoda	9.00	7.00	6.03	1.09	9.96	49.65
L. littorea	1.37	4.12	4.07	5.42	6.73	56.38
Copepoda	2.75	5.17	3.62	1.84	5.98	62.36
	50%	100%				
C. seurati	12.08	6.66	6.31	1.31	18.68	18.68
E. modestus	5.53	9.80	4.30	2.46	12.72	31.40
Nematoda	7.86	7.00	3.78	1.23	11.19	42.59
Copepoda	4.71	5.17	2.12	1.33	6.27	48.86
M. palmata	2.10	2.41	1.41	1.73	4.17	53.03

Table 8. SIMPER analyses based on square-root transformed data corresponding to significant PERMANOVA results at Lough Foyle after 15 months (Table 2). Listed are the 5 taxa that contributed most to the dissimilarity between pair-wise comparisons of different covers of oysters.

Mud-flat	Average	density				
Taxon	0%	50%	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%
Copepod	17.19	3.41	18.10	1.19	29.90	29.90
E. modestus	0.00	5.67	8.90	2.67	14.70	44.60
C. seurati	0.00	5.89	8.82	0.65	14.57	59.17
L. littorea	0.00	5.38	8.40	5.40	13.87	73.04
Oligochaete	2.88	1.63	1.90	1.07	3.14	76.19
	ጋ%	100%				
C. seurati	0.00	19.45	22.79	1.86	34.67	34.67
Copepoda	17.19	4.80	12.91	0.94	19.63	54.30
L. littorea	0.00	6.01	7.51	3.52	11.43	65.73
E. modestus	0.00	4.68	6.04	1.16	9.19	74.92
Spionidae	5.88	7.22	2.32	0.94	3.53	78.45

Table 9. SIMPER analyses based on square-root transformed data corresponding to significant PERMANOVA results at Lough Swilly after 15 months (Table 2). Listed are the 5 taxa that contributed most to the dissimilarity between pair-wise comparisons of different covers of oysters.

Mud-flat	Average	e density	/			
Taxon	50%	0%	Av.Diss	Diss/SD	Contrib%	Cum.%
F. vesiculosus	0.00	5.31	8.22	4.02	12.04	12.04
L. littorea	0.56	5.48	8.12	2.69	11.90	23.94
Copepoda	5.09	3.58	5.38	1.20	7.88	31.82
E. modestus	0.00	2.76	4.31	1.16	6.32	38.14
Phyllodocidae	0.25	2.67	3.86	1.69	5.66	43.80
	0%	100%				
E. modestus	0.00	6.46	9.37	4.59	14.35	14.35
F. vesiculosus	0.00	5.99	8.65	7.72	13.25	27.60
L. littorea	0.56	6.34	8.27	3.93	12.66	40.27
Phyllodocidae	0.25	3.70	5.01	3.94	7.67	47.94
Copepoda	5.09	4.77	3.51	1.76	5.38	53.31
	5%	100%				
F. vesiculosus	1.12	5.99	6.45	2.10	12.41	12.41
E. modestus	2.35	6.46	5.42	1.48	10.43	22.84
L. littorea	3.19	6.34	4.22	1.79	8.11	30.95
Copepoda	2.98	4.77	3.47	2.28	6.67	37.62
Oligochaete	2.27	3.90	2.99	1.27	5.76	43.38
Mussel-bed	0%	100%				
E. modestus	1.74	7.10	7.14	2.23	16.48	16.48
F. vesiculosus	1.12	4.68	5.30	1.85	12.22	28.69
Oligochaete	6.72	6.79	2.97	1.51	6.85	35.54
Phyllodocidae	1.96	0.35	2.23	1.97	5.15	40.69
Copepoda	1.93	0.87	2.01	1.28	4.63	45.32

Source of variation 4m	nths	L. Foyl	е	4n	nths	L. Sw	illy	15	omths	L. Foy	е	1:	5mths	s L. Swi	lly	
L. littorea	d.f.	MS	F		d.f.	MS	F		d.f.	MS	F		d.f.	MS	F	
Habitat (=H)	1	5151.13	49.67	***	1	693.78	40.39	***	1	7704.17	37.34	***	1	5151.13	42.84	***
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	311.46	3.00	*	3	215.53	12.55	***	3	1079.00	5.23	*	3	1188.54	9.89	***
НхС	3	49.13	0.70		3	9.61	0.65		3	237.17	1.15		3	373.88	3.11	*
Residual	24	103.71			24	17.18			16	206.33			24	120.23		
E. modestus																
Habitat (=H)	1	478.83	50.99	***	1	49.45	21.81	***	1	357.46	74.86	***	1	693.78	1.94	
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	88.45	9.42	***	3	49.44	21.81	***	3	32.49	6.80	**	3	3328.03	9.33	***
HxC	3	56.58	6.02	**	3	13.92	6.14	**	3	5.24	1.10		3	340.36	0.95	
Residual	24	9.39			24	2.27			16	4.78			24	356.84		
C. maenas																
Habitat (=H)	1	31.08	41.02	***	1	800.00	26.37	***	1	3.43	10.44	**	1	28.13	21.43	***
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	5.85	7.71	***	3	12.00	0.40		3	0.75	2.29		3	3.08	2.35	
HxC	3	2.92	3.86	*	3	12.00	0.40		3	0.32	0.99		3	0.38	0.29	
Residual	24	0.76			24	30.33			16	0.32			24	1.31		
Polychaetes																
Habitat (=H)	1	133.40	0.46		1	0.81	2.15		1	8523.47	14.35	**	1	5.00	16.05	***
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	231.33	0.80		3	1.14	3.04	*	3	210.94	0.36		3	0.34	1.10	
HxC	3	601.94	2.08		3	1.50	4.00	*	3	159.15	0.27		3	0.59	1.88	
Residual	24	289.32			24	0.38			16	594.07			24	0.31		

Table 10. Results of analyses of densities (No. per m²) of *L. littorea*, *E. modestus*, *C. maenas* and Polychaetes on plots with increasing cover of oysters on mussel-beds and mud-flats at Lough Foyle and Lough Swilly after 4 and 15 months.


Figure 9. Experimental plots measuring 50 x 50 cm with increasing cover of C. gigas on mussel-beds



Figure 10. Mean (+/- S.E.) numbers of individuals per m^2 after (a) 4 and (b) 15 months, species richness after (c) 4 and (d) 15 months and Shannon-Wiener diversity after (e) 4 and (f) 15 months in mussel-beds (hatched bars) and mud-flats (white bars) with increasing cover of *C. gigas* at Lough Foyle and Lough Swilly. Note that at Lough Foyle by 15 months the 100 % cover plots had decreased to approximately 75 %.



Figure 11. nMDS plots with stress values on square root transformed data of assemblages on mussel-beds (black) and mud-flats (white) with 0 (\diamond), 5 (\blacksquare), 50 (\triangledown) or 100 (\bullet) % cover of *C. gigas* at Lough Foyle after 3 (a), and 15 (c) months and Lough Swilly after 4 (b) and 15 (d) months.



Figure 12. Mean (+/- S.E.) density (No. per m^2) of *L. littorea* after (a) 4 and (b) 15 months, *E. modestus* after (c) 4 and (d) 15 months, *C. maenas* after (e) 4 and (f) 15 months and polychaetes after (g) 4 and (h) 15 months in mussel-beds and mud-flats with increasing cover of *C. gigas* at Lough Foyle and Lough Swilly.

3.4 Discussion

C. gigas affected biodiversity, assemblage structure and the abundance of organisms, and the nature of these effects depended both on the environmental context (i.e. the location, habitat and time since establishment) and on the cover of *C. gigas*.

Overall effects on biota were more consistent in mud-flat than in mussel-bed habitats. This is not surprising since the addition of C. gigas to mud-flat habitats provides hard substratum where it was formerly rare, thus completely changing the habitat from soft unstructured mud-flat to one with hard biogenic reef (Lejart and Hily, 2011). This is in contrast to mussel-bed habitats, where C. gigas are overgrowing an existing hard biogenic habitat. Regardless, the formation of oyster reefs within either habitat results in an increase of habitat complexity and heterogeneity (McCoy and Bell, 1991), and although not always consistent, there were also strong effects of C. gigas within mussel-bed habitats. In mud-flats the total number of individuals, species richness and Shannon-Wiener diversity all increased with increasing cover of C. gigas. The importance of availability of refuge and structural complexity of habitat on intertidal assemblage structure has long been recognised (Barshaw and Lavalli, 1988; Gee and Warwick, 1994) and the increase in the total number of individuals with increasing cover of oysters may be a result of reduced mortality or increased recruitment (Crooks and Khim, 1999). Effects on assemblage structure within mud-flat habitats were also consistent across locations and time, with plots with the greatest cover differing from those with less or no cover of C. gigas. These changes were mostly underpinned by increases of organisms which require a hard surface for colonisation, such as barnacles, bryozoans and fucoid algae, with the oysters' shell allowing these organisms to exist in a habitat where they previously could not. Assemblage structure in mussel-bed habitats also differed at Lough Swilly after 15 months, with plots with the greatest cover differing from those with no cover of C. gigas. In both habitats differences in assemblage structure could be due to an increase in habitat

complexity, since *C. gigas* has overlapping ridges and layers on its shell and is more complex in structure than *M. edulis* (Lejart and Hily, 2011).

Because C. gigas enhances habitat heterogeneity with its shell and forms complex reefs, it is expected to increase biodiversity (McCoy and Bell, 1991). Previous studies have confirmed this hypothesis, finding C. gigas to increase biodiversity and the abundance of taxa compared to adjacent habitats (Dubois et al., 2006a; Markert et al., 2010; Troost, 2010; Lejart and Hily, 2011). As in the current study, others have also found increases in the number of individuals and species richness associated with C. gigas in mud-flat habitats (Hosack, 2003; Kelly et al., 2008; Lejart and Hily, 2011). Although another study done in a similar mud-flat habitat found no effect of C. gigas on native assemblages (Nicastro et al., 2009). Lang and Buschbaum (2010) found an increase in algal diversity associated with C. gigas, while others have found algal diversity and/or survival reduced by C. gigas (Kelly and Volpe, 2007; Kelly et al., 2008). Previous studies within mussel-bed habitats similar to those in the present study, found that C. gigas reefs had greater biodiversity than adjacent mussel-beds (Markert et al., 2010) or a greater abundance of organisms (Kochmann et al., 2008). The current study is the first to find a decrease in macro-invertebrate biodiversity caused by C. gigas. Species richness and Shannon-Wiener diversity decreased at the greatest cover of C. gigas on mussel-beds at Lough Swilly at both times, and reached a maximum and asymptoted with the lowest cover of C. gigas on mussel-beds at Lough Foyle. The high cover plots decreased in cover at Lough Foyle which may explain why there was no decrease in diversity in mussel-beds here, since high cover plots actually represented 75 % cover by 15 months. Also at Lough Swilly after 15 months, β -diversity (multivariate dispersion indices) was reduced with the greatest cover of C. gigas in mud-flat habitats. Tests for homogeneity of multivariate dispersions have been identified as a way of measuring β -diversity (Anderson et al., 2006). The exact meaning of this measure, however, is largely dependent on the dissimilarity measure and

any transformations used and therefore should be carefully interpreted (Anderson et al., 2011). β-diversity, as measured here, based on Bray-Curtis, square-root data measures variation in assemblage structure with emphasis on both species composition and relative abundance (Anderson et al., 2011). Therefore, the reduction in β -diversity with increasing cover of C. gigas means that assemblages were more homogeneous in terms of their composition (the types of taxa present) and the relative abundance of taxa. This corroborates another study comparing assemblages associated with bare mud to those underneath oysters, which found more uniform assemblages associated with C. gigas (Lejart and Hily, 2011). The issue of homogenisation may become magnified if invasive species also cause homogenisation of the habitat and / or cause endemic species to become extinct (Rahel, 2002). Although in the current study there was little evidence of the latter, C. gigas is an ecosystem engineer which can dominate large areas (Diederich, 2005) thereby causing extensive habitat homogenisation. The potential for invasive species to cause homogenisation (Olden and Rooney, 2006), in terms of a decrease in β diversity (McKinney and Lockwood, 1999; Olden et al., 2008) is an important, but often overlooked, consequence of invasive species (Wright, 2011).

The reductions in biodiversity found in the current study may not have been uncovered by an experiment which did not include treatments of different covers of *C. gigas* or which was sampled only after a shorter duration. Previously 9 months was the longest experimental manipulation of *C. gigas* (Kochmann et al., 2008), as opposed to 15 months in the current study.

It is not uncommon for invasive species to have "positive" effects, for example by increasing biodiversity and the abundance of native organisms (Simberloff and Von Holle, 1999; Altieri et al., 2010). In fact, some previous studies have found positive effects to increase with invader density (Thomsen, 2010), but it is possible that there is a density

threshold whereupon the positive effects on an invasive species become negative, or the negative effects increase, after a critical invader density is reached (Foxcroft and Downey, 2008). Despite this, very few studies have explicitly tested the effects of invasive species at a range of densities (Thomsen et al., 2011a), but this is paramount if we are to avoid the detrimental consequences of under-estimating their effects at greater densities (Yokomizo et al., 2009). For example in the current study, at lower densities, *C. gigas* might be interpreted as having positive effects by increasing biodiversity. At greater densities, however, there was evidence of a threshold being reached, and in mussel beds, the effects on biodiversity even became negative.

While the effects of *C. gigas* on biodiversity can be difficult to predict, some single species, such as *L. littorea* and *E. modesutus*, exhibited very consistent responses, increasing with increasing cover of *C. gigas* within both habitats, locations and at both times. Similar results have been found by others for both of these species (Kochmann et al., 2008; Markert, 2010) and are probably due to an increase in habitat complexity provided by oyster shells providing more refuges from desiccation or predation, or in the case of the periwinkles, an increase in available microalgae for grazing. *C. maenas*, although initially increased at Lough Foyle with increasing cover of oysters, was mostly affected by the type of habitat, occurring in greater density in mussel bed than in mud-flat habitats. This was in contrast to past studies which have found *C. maenas* to increase in association with *C. gigas* (Kochmann et al., 2008; Markert, 2010). Although the density of polychaetes was mostly affected by the type of habitat, in mud-flat habitats it generally increased with increasing cover of *C. gigas* whereas it was decreased at the greatest cover of *C. gigas* in mussel-bed habitats.

Declines in polychaetes and biodiversity at the greatest cover of oysters may have been caused by an increase in the concentration of nutrients in the pore-water, such as

ammonium, resulting either directly from oyster excretion (Dame et al., 1984 and 1985) or indirectly due to the breakdown of organic matter in oyster "biodeposits" which may be composed of faeces or pseudofaeces. Oysters produce large quantities of biodeposits (Hayakawa et al., 2001) which organically enrich sediments and supply food for other organisms (Castel et al., 1989). But the decomposition of biodeposits increases the uptake of oxygen in the sediment (Christensen et al., 2003) and if the rate of biodeposition is great, this can lead to sediment anoxia, thus making the habitat unsuitable, and decreasing the diversity and abundance of infaunal organisms (Callier et al., 2009). Alternatively an increase in hydrogen sulphide may be responsible for the decrease in diversity, as toxic levels have been reached before with regards to the effects of C. gigas on eelgrass (Kelly and Volpe, 2007; Kelly, 2008). Some of the differences in assemblage structure or biodiversity could also be due to structural effects, such as alterations to hydrodynamics, caused by the oysters' shells (Moulin, 2007). An experiment by Lenihan (1999) in which oyster reefs were artificially created using a similar species of oyster, Crassostrea virginica (Gmelin, 1791), found that flow speed was altered, increasing with increasing reef height. Flow, in turn, controls the rate of sedimentation (Lenihan, 1999) which exerts strong influence on the growth and survival of benthic organisms (Muschenheim, 1987). Of course, in order to understand the mechanisms underpinning these changes, it would be necessary to separate the effects of the physical structure and the biological activities of C. gigas. This was not explored in the current study, but in Chapter II, it was found that structure was more important than biological activity in determining patterns of difference associated with increasing cover of C. gigas in boulderfields.

It is also possible that indirect effects of organisms that were facilitated by increasing cover of *C. gigas* may have excluded the establishment of others, thereby decreasing biodiversity. For example, some species which consistently increased in density with

increasing cover of *C. gigas* are known to be able to reduce the establishment of other invertebrates and algae, for example, *E. modestus* through competition for space and food (Little et al., 1992), *L. littorea* via bull-dozing effects from grazing (Buschbaum, 2000) and *F. vesiculosus* via mechanical abrasion (Grant, 1977; Kiirikki, 1996). The ecological importance of facilitation of native organisms by invaders, and the cascading indirect effects on biodiversity, have recently been highlighted (Rodriguez, 2006; Pope et al., 2008) and warrants further investigation.

These findings emphasise how difficult it is to predict the effect of invasive species on biodiversity, since the outcome depends not only on the type of substratum but also on the physical and chemical properties of the receiving environment and on the types of species already present (Padilla, 2010; Queiros et al., 2011). Estuarine habitats such as those examined here are inherently patchy (Morrisey et al., 1992) characterised by a high level of spatial and temporal variability not only in the abundance and distribution of invertebrates (Underwood and Chapman, 1996) but also geochemical properties of sediments (Tolhurst and Chapman, 2007). The current study found that some impacts of *C. gigas* on individual taxa were consistent across habitats, locations and time, but the majority were context dependent, especially with regards to the type of habitat being invaded. In addition, these effects varied in direction and magnitude depending on the density of *C. gigas*. This confirms the recommendations of others (Sousa et al., 2009; Padilla, 2010; Thomsen et al., 2011a) that more experimental studies spanning a range of habitats and a range of invader abundances are needed in order to assess the context-dependency of invasive species.

Chapter IV - Effects of non-indigenous oysters on ecosystem processes of estuarine habitats

4.1 Introduction

Non-indigenous invasive species can profoundly affect ecosystems and economies worldwide (Chapin et al., 2000; Mack et al., 2000), thus necessitating effective management procedures (Keller et al., 2008). Characterising the costs of invasive species to society is difficult, but important if decisions are to be made involving tradeoffs between investing in the control of invasive species or control of other pressures on ecosystems (Oreska and Aldridge, 2011).

Invasive species can alter native biodiversity (Bax et al., 2003; Molnar et al., 2008) and ecosystem functioning (Ehrenfeld, 2010) and, as such, affect the provision of ecosystem services (Pejchar and Mooney, 2009; Vilá et al., 2010). Although the effects of invasive species on biodiversity have been well documented, experimental tests of their effects on ecosystem functioning are rare (Ehrenfeld, 2010; Sousa et al., 2011). Alterations to biodiversity may alter the magnitude and stability of ecosystem processes, and therefore may exacerbate effects on ecosystem functioning (Naeem, 1999; Gamfeldt and Hillebrand, 2008). Similarly, alterations to ecosystem processes, arising either directly from the activities of invasive species or indirectly via consequent changes to native biodiversity, may generate feedbacks that further exacerbate changes to biodiversity (Duke and Mooney, 2004; Gomez-Aparico and Canham, 2008). Combinations of these mechanisms may operate simultaneously, depending on the species and/or processes being affected. Invasive species can affect the abundance and distribution of other organisms through interactions (such as predation or competition) or alterations to habitats and they may alter processes important for the functioning of ecosystems, such as biogeochemical cycling rates (Kurten et al., 2008), nutrient availability (Gomez-Aparico and Canham, 2008),

productivity (Sousa et al., 2008), rates of decomposition (van der Putten et al., 2007) and community respiration (Martin et al., 2007), again either directly or indirectly via changes to biodiversity.

The properties of the receiving environment can strongly influence the effects of invasive species (Padilla, 2010; Queiros et al., 2011). Hence there is increasing recognition of the need to explore the effects of invasive species in different types of habitats (Sousa et al., 2009; Thomsen et al., 2011a). The nature and magnitude of effects may also change depending on the abundance or density of the invading organism, which will vary in different places and also at different stages of the establishment of the species in non-native habitats and its subsequent invasion (Sousa et al., 2009). Indeed variation in impacts with abundance or density has been identified as a key gap in empirical knowledge of biological invasions (Thomsen et al., 2011a), particularly concerning effects on ecosystem functioning (Ehrenfeld, 2010).

Invasive 'ecosystem engineers' (Jones et al., 1994) cause some of the most significant changes to the physical and / or chemical properties of the native ecosystems (Cuddington and Hastings, 2004). Many bivalves are ecosystem engineers, often creating complex habitats that persist in the environment for a long time (Sousa et al., 2009). Several species can form dense monocultures, profoundly disrupting ecosystem processes (Hall et al., 2006; Queiros et al., 2011).

The Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas* (Thunberg, 1793), one of the best known invasive marine species, is an ecosystem engineer which can construct very dense reefs (over 400 individuals per m²; Markert et al., 2010). Invasive populations of *C. gigas* have been found throughout much of the world and their effects on biodiversity have been extensively documented (Troost, 2010). In several cases increases in biodiversity have been attributed

to the presence of *C. gigas* (Gutierrez et al., 2003; Peterson et al., 2003; Dubois et al., 2006a; Markert et al., 2010; Lejart and Hily, 2011). The effects of invasive *C. gigas* on ecosystem functioning, however, remain mostly unexplored.

Oysters can alter the physical and chemical environment through their physical structure and biological activities. The shells of oysters can be particularly complex, increasing the heterogeneity of the receiving habitat and possibly facilitating the establishment of other organisms (Lejart and Hily, 2011). Oyster shells can also alter local hydrodynamic patterns, thereby altering the flow of nutrients and sedimentation rates (Lenihan, 1999). Oysters filter-feed, removing suspended phytoplankton and inorganic particulates from the water column, depositing faeces or pseudofaeces (collectively termed "biodeposits") onto the benthos (Haven and Morales-Alamo, 1966) and modifying nutrient cycling through benthicpelagic coupling (Arnott and Vanni, 1996; Norkko et al., 2001). Increased sedimentation of organic matter in the form of biodeposits may lead to carbon and nitrogen accumulation, followed by increased oxygen consumption resulting in anoxic conditions (Kaspar et al., 1985). High mineralisation rates of biodeposits can increase nutrient turnover at the sediment-water interface and may increase the release of ammonium and silicate into the water column (Christensen et al., 2003). As a result of these biogeochemical changes, infaunal biodiversity and community structure may be affected (Tenore, 1982). Different species of oysters can differ in their clearance rates (Haure et al., 2003), tolerance to environmental stress (Piano et al., 2002; Brownlee et al., 2008) and biodeposition rates (Hayakawa et al., 2001), therefore their effects may change as they become established in habitats outside of their native range.

Understanding the effects of invasive oysters on ecosystem processes is essential for predicting their impact on provisioning ecosystem services, such as aquaculture. The development of sustainable aquaculture requires determination of the relative roles of wild,

feral and cultivated populations, on the partitioning of resources and the incorporation of these estimates into existing models of carrying capacities (Sequeira et al., 2008; Cugier et al., 2010). The extent to which ecosystem processes and services are altered, however, is also likely to depend on the cover of *C. gigas* that is established and on the nature of the habitat being invaded. For example, the effects of *C. gigas* becoming established in habitats already dominated by biogenic reef forming organisms, such as mussel-beds, would be expected to differ from those caused by its establishment in habitats without biogenic reef, such as mud-flats.

In the current study, we experimentally manipulated the cover of *C. gigas* in the field to test the following hypotheses 1.) *C. gigas* will affect ecosystem functioning in invaded habitats, 2.) The effects of *C. gigas* will differ between different mussel-bed and mud-flat habitats 3.) These effects will change with increasing cover of *C. gigas* and finally 4.) That the effects on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning will co-vary (using data on biodiversity reported in Chapter III).

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Study site

This experiment was done at Lough Swilly (Ballylin Point, County Donegal, Ireland: 55° 2' 36.12", -7° 33' 36.09") on lower intertidal mussel-bed and mud-flat habitats. Mussel-bed habitats consisted of dense populations of the blue mussel, *Mytilus edulis* (Linneaus, 1758), while mud-flat habitats were patches of mud interspersed between the mussel beds which were not dominated by mussels or any other habitat-forming species. Sediment within mussel-beds was a mixture of fine sand and silt with large shell fragments throughout. Sediment within mud-flats was a mixture of very fine sand, silt and clay.

4.2.2 Experimental design

The experiment was set-up during late April 2009, with 2 orthogonal factors; habitat (2 levels, mussel-beds and mud-flats) and cover (4 levels, zero, (0 %), low (5 %), medium (50 %) or high (100 %) cover of *C. gigas*). These four levels of cover were applied to 50 x 50cm plots in each habitat and equated to densities of 0, 16 +/- 0.5, 120 +/- 8 and 240 +/- 12 individuals per m² and biomasses of 0, 26.06 +/- 2.13, 390.88 +/- 31.95 and 781.77 +/- 63.90 g per m² ash free dry weight. All oysters used in this experiment were found *in situ* and were not moved from other locations. Oysters were rinsed with seawater and cleaned of any epibionts prior to use and were then simply inserted upright into the mud-flat and mussel-bed habitats to simulate how they are typically found in natural populations. Four replicate plots were randomly allocated to each treatment and were sampled after 15 months (July 2010).

4.2.3 Organic matter (OM) content and C/N ratios

Sediment was collected from three depths (0 - 2, 2 - 4 and 4 – 6 cm) using a mini-corer adapted from a 60 ml syringe. At each plot 5 sediment samples were taken from each depth and pooled together in order to minimise variation among plots due to spatial heterogeneity within plots. OM content was determined by loss on ignition (Eleftheriou and McIntyre, 2005) as a percentage of ash-free dry weight. In addition, total organic carbon (TOC %) and nitrogen (TON %) was analysed from oven dried (80°C) samples of the surface layer (0 – 2 cm). For this, 50 mg of pulverised sediment was weighed into silver capsules and pre-treated with HCl to remove carbonates (Hedges and Stern, 1984). Total C and N were determined using the Dumas principle of complete and instantaneous oxidation of the sediment through combustion at 950°C with oxygen injection on an Elementar vario EL cube.

4.2.4 Pore-water nutrient concentrations

Pore-water samples were collected using purpose-built Rhizon in situ profilers modified from the design of Seeberg-Elverfeldt et al., (2005). These consisted of perspex sheets into which grooves were cut at certain intervals to allow the attachment of Rhizon soil moisture samplers (Figure 13). Rhizons were 10 cm long filters made of a hydrophilic porous polymer with 0.1 µm pore size (PES, Polyester Sulphone membranes) designed to extract water using a vacuum. Rhizons were placed onto the profilers at 0 (sediment-water interface), 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 8 and 10cm depths and were carefully inserted into the sediment and left for 24 hours prior to sampling in order to reduce the effects of disturbance. Overlying surface water (approximately 2 - 4 mm above the sediment-water interface) was collected from plots using separate Rhizons. This method allows pore-water profiles to be sampled with minimum disturbance to a vertical resolution of 1cm (Seeberg-Elverfeldt et al., 2005; Rocha et al., 2009). All water samples were stored in vacuum tubes and were analysed for ammonium (NH₄⁺), nitrate (NO₃⁻), nitrite (NO₂⁻) and silicate (Si(OH)₄) using a Lachat Quick-Chem 8000 flow injection autoanalyser using Lachat methods 31-107-06-1-B (ammonia), 31-107-04-1-A (nitrite and nitrate) and 31-114-27-1-A (silicate). Concentrations of NO2⁻ and NO3⁻ were always below the detection limit and were omitted from further analyses.

Pore-water nutrient concentrations were corrected for porosity (ϕ) using the following equation:

i)
$$\phi = V_p / V_b$$

Where V_p is the volume of pores in each 2 cm layer of sediment (weight of sediment dried to a constant weight) and V_b is the bulk volume of the sediment (weight of wet sediment). The concentrations were standardised to dry bulk density (BD_d) (Eleftheriou and McIntyre, 2005) using the following equation:

$$BD_d = M_s / V_t$$

Where M_S is the mass of dry solids and V_t is the volume of the original sample.

4.2.5 Flux across the sediment-water interface (SWI)

Diffusive fluxes (J_D) of NH_4^+ and Si(OH)_4 across the sediment-water interface were calculated from vertical pore water concentration gradients according to Fick's first law of diffusion. Concentration gradients ($\partial C/\partial z$) were determined from the sediment pore-water data using simple linear regression (Moore et al., 1991). These gradients were then used to estimate the diffusive nutrient flux (J_D). Calculations were based on the linear portion of the nutrient profiles at the sediment-water interface (from surface water to 1 cm depth).

i) $J_D = -\phi_0 D_s (\partial C/\partial z)$

Where J_D is the diffusive flux (µmol m⁻² d⁻¹),

 ϕ_0 is the porosity in the top 2 cm of the sediment,

 $\partial C/\partial z$ is the concentration gradient of the dissolved nutrient in the interstitial water (µmol cm⁻³).

C is the concentration of the dissolved nutrient,

z is the depth in cm (Berner, 1980),

 D_S is the whole sediment diffusion coefficient (cm² h⁻¹). Values of 0.0637 for ammonium and 0.0243 for silicate (Schulz and Zabel, 2000) were used in the calculations.

Inventories for NH_4^+ and $Si(OH)_4$ were calculated down to 10 cm and were determined using pore-water profiles, corrected for porosity, by depth using trapezoidal integration of concentrations between sediment layers. Residence times for NH_4^+ and $Si(OH)_4$ were calculated as the ratio of inventory to diffusive flux rates.

4.2.6 Community respiration

Gas samples were obtained using the closed chamber technique (Hutchinson and Mosier, 1981) with chambers with a volume of 8L fitted with airtight rubber septums. Cuvettes were

painted black to eliminate light and measure community respiration (Figure 14). Samples were taken at time zero and at hourly intervals for 3 hours with 60 ml syringes closed with a 3-way stopcock. The air was mixed by gently pumping the syringe 3 times before each sample was taken. Temperature was measured inside the cuvettes using a thermometer and an estimation of atmospheric pressure was taken from the Met Éireann website. Analysis for CO₂, N₂O and CH₄ was done using a gas chromatographer (Shimadzu GC-2024) with an automated injection system (Loftfield et al., 1997). The flux rates were calculated by using the ideal gas law and linear regression with chamber temperature and average air pressure during cover period. An exponential equation (Hutchinson and Mosier, 1981) was used if R-squared was greater than 0.985 but less than 1.

4.2.7 Biological assemblages

Easily identifiable epiflora and fauna was counted or recorded as percentage cover using a 25 x 25 cm quadrat which was placed randomly onto plots. A sediment core with a 10 cm cross-section was also taken down to 10 cm depth in each plot. This was processed to extract epifauna and infauna according to protocols described in detail in Chapter III.

4.2.8 Statistical analysis

Differences in OM %, diffusive fluxes of NH_4^+ and $Si(OH)_4$ and measured gas fluxes of CO_2 , N_2O and CH_4 were all evaluated using 2-factor analyses of variance (ANOVAs) based on the design described in Section 2.2. The factors 'habitat' and 'cover' were both treated as fixed. Homogeneity of univariate variance was tested using Cochran's C-test and corrected for by the same method as detailed in Chapter II. When significant differences were detected by ANOVA (P < 0.05), Student-Newman Keuls (SNK) tests were done to identify patterns of difference. All calculations were done using Win-GMAV (Underwood and Chapman, 1998).

A distance-based linear model (DISTLM) procedure was used to perform a permutational test of the null hypothesis of no relationship between biological assemblages and functional variables (Legendre and Anderson, 1999; McArdle and Anderson, 2001) calculated on Bray-Curtis similarity measures (Bray and Curtis, 1957) and analysed using the PRIMER package (PRIMER-e, 2009). Functional variables included in the analyses were fluxes of NH₄⁺, Si(OH)₄, CO₂, N₂O and CH₄, mean pools and residence times of NH₄⁺ and Si(OH)₄ and OM, TOC and TON %. Marginal tests (i.e. fitting of each variable individually, ignoring other variables) were followed by the *all specified* selection procedure with the *adjusted* R^2 selection criterion. The significance of the marginal tests was determined based on 9999 permutations of raw data (Anderson, 2003). Distance-based redundancy analysis (dbRDA) was used to visualise the fitted DISTLM model (Legendre and Anderson, 1999). Models were fitted using 9999 unrestricted permutations of raw data. Analyses were done on square-root transformed assemblage data in order to reduce the contribution of highly abundant taxa (Clarke and Warwick, 2001). Functional variables were automatically normalised as part of the DISTLM procedure.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Organic matter (OM) content and C/N ratio

OM % only differed significantly in the 2 – 4 cm depth within mussel-beds, where plots with 50 % cover had greater OM % than those with 0, 5 or 100 % cover of *C. gigas* (F = 6.29, MS = 0.22, *d.f.* = 3, P < 0.01). Within mud-flats, there were no significant differences in OM % at any depth. Although not significantly different, the OM % in the 0 – 2 cm depth tended to increase with increasing cover of *C. gigas* within mussel-beds (Table 11). TOC %, TON % and C/N ratios did not significantly differ between habitats or among different cover of *C. gigas* (Table 12). Although not significantly different, TOC and TON % in mussel-beds were greatest in plots with 50 % cover of *C. gigas* and in mud-flats TOC and TON % tended to

increase with increasing cover of *C. gigas* (Table 13).

4.3.2 Pore-water nutrient concentrations

There was greater NH₄⁺ concentration in plots with 50 or 100 % cover than in plots with 5 or 0 % cover of *C. gigas* in mussel-beds and no differences in mud-flats (F = 3.07, MS = 1.13, *d.f.* = 3, P < 0.05). In the shallow layers (0 to 3 cm depth) within mussel-beds NH₄⁺ concentration was greatest in plots with 50 % cover of *C. gigas*, but in deeper layers (from 3 to 10 cm depth) NH₄⁺ concentration was greatest in plots with 100 % cover of *C. gigas* (Figure 15). Within sediment habitats, NH₄⁺ concentration was greatest within plots with 50 % cover of *C. gigas* at each depth (Figure 15). In the deeper layers (from 5 to 10 cm depth) in mussel-beds, NH₄⁺ concentration increased with increasing cover of *C. gigas*. Si(OH)₄ concentration was significantly greater in mussel-beds than in mud-flats (F = 49.50, MS = 168.76, *d.f.* = 3, P < 0.0001) and within plots with 100, 50 or 0 % cover than in plots with 5 % cover of *C. gigas* (F = 5.45, MS = 18.59, *d.f.* = 3, P < 0.01). Within the shallow layers (0 to 3 cm depth) of mussel-beds, plots with 50 % cover of *C. gigas* have the greatest Si(OH)₄ concentration (Figure 16). Within the shallowest layers (from 0 to 1cm depth) of mud-flats, plots with 100 % cover of *C. gigas* have the greatest Si(OH)₄ concentration (Figure 16).

4.3.3 Diffusive nutrient fluxes

The average nutrient fluxes of NH_4^+ and $Si(OH)_4$ were unidirectional, from the sediment pore-water into the overlying bottom water. Fluxes of NH_4^+ differed between habitats and among different covers of *C. gigas* (Table 14). In mussel-beds, fluxes of NH_4^+ were greater from plots with 50 % cover than from those with 100, 5 or 0 % cover of *C. gigas* (Figure 17a, Table 14, SNK procedure). Although there were no significant differences due to oyster cover in mud-flats, the average flux of NH_4^+ from plots with 50 % cover of *C. gigas*

was more than twice that from plots with 100, 5 or 0 % cover of *C. gigas* (Figure 17a). The flux of Si(OH)₄ was not significantly affected by the type of habitat or the cover of *C. gigas* (Table 14), but within mussel-beds was reduced in plots with 100 % cover of *C. gigas* compared to those with 50, 5 or 0 % cover of *C. gigas* (Figure 17b). Within sediment habitats, plots with 50 or 100 % cover had greater average fluxes than those with 5 or 0 % cover of *C. gigas* (Figure 17b).

4.3.4 Inventory and residence time of nutrients

The benthic pools of NH_4^+ and $Si(OH)_4$ were greater in mussel-beds than in mud-flats (Table 14, Figure 18). Overall, the NH_4^+ benthic pools were greater in plots with 50 or 100 % cover than in plots with 5 or 0 % cover of *C. gigas* (Table 14, Figure 18a, SNK procedure). The residence time of NH_4^+ in mussel-beds was significantly longer in plots with 100 % cover than in plots with 50 or 0 % cover of *C. gigas*, but in mud-flats it was significantly shorter in plots with 50 % cover than in plots with 50 % cover of *C. gigas*, but in mud-flats it was significantly shorter in plots with 50 % cover than in plots with 5 % cover of *C. gigas* (Table 14, Figure 19a, SNK procedure). The residence time of Si(OH)₄ in mussel-beds was significantly longer in plots with 100 % cover than in plots with 0, 5 or 50 % cover of *C. gigas* (Table 14, Figure 19b, SNK procedure) and although not significant, it was longer in plots with 0, 5 or 50 % cover than in plots with 100 % cover of *C. gigas* in mud-flats.

4.3.5 Community respiration

The CO₂ flux from the sediment was significantly affected by the cover of oysters alone, with greater fluxes in plots with 100 % cover than in those with 50, 5 or 0 % cover of *C. gigas* regardless of the type of habitat (Table 15, Figure 20a, SNK procedure). The fluxes of CH₄ and N₂O did not differ significantly between habitats or among different covers of oysters (Table 15, Figure 20b and c), however, CH₄ flux followed a similar pattern to that of CO₂ and was increased by 100 % cover of oysters.

4.3.6 Relationship between changes in assemblage structure and functional variables The functional variables together were associated with 33.2 % of the total variation in assemblage structure (Figure 21). Marginal tests of variables indicated that changes in overall assemblage structure related most strongly to changes in NH_4^+ and $Si(OH)_4$ pools and NH_4^+ flux which was associated with 18, 10 and 9 % of the variation in assemblage data respectively (Table 16).

	0 – 2 cm	2 – 4 cm	4 – 6 cm
Mussel-bed			
0 %	0.91 +/- 0.13	0.63 +/- 0.02	0.93 +/- 0.15
5 %	0.90 +/- 0.09	0.82 +/- 0.13	0.84 +/- 0.15
50 %	1.10 +/- 0.16	1.16 +/- 0.16	0.95 +/- 0.04
100 %	1.27 +/- 0.15	0.87 +/- 0.05	1.01 +/- 0.14
Mud-flat			
0 %	0.89 +/- 0.13	0.86 +/- 0.06	0.85 +/- 0.14
5 %	1.28 +/- 0.26	0.90 +/- 0.11	0.96 +/- 0.15
50 %	1.02 +/- 0.03	0.63 +/- 0.03	0.94 +/- 0.21
100 %	1.19 +/- 0.09	0.93 +/- 0.09	0.98 +/- 0.10

Table 11. Average (+/- S.E.) percentage of organic matter from loss on ignition (OM %) at 0 - 2, 2 - 4 and 4 - 6 cm depth in plots with increasing cover of oysters in mussel-beds and mud-flats.

Table 12. ANOVA for total organic carbon (TOC %) and nitrogen (TON %) and C/N ratios from surface sediment (0 - 2 cm) in plots with increasing cover of oysters in mussel-beds and mud-flats.

Source		TOC %		TON %		C/N	
	d.f.	MS	F	MS	F	MS	F
Habitat (=H)	1	0.05	0.79	0.00	0.84	0.07	0.08
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	0.14	2.05	0.00	2.05	0.87	1.10
HxC	3	0.04	0.59	0.00	0.67	0.22	0.28
Res	16	0.07		0.00		0.79	

Significant results are indicated, * = P < 0.05, ** = P < 0.01.

	TON %	TOC %	C/N
Mussel-bed			
0 %	0.14 +/- 0.03	1.01 +/- 0.18	7.33 +/- 0.35
5 %	0.14 +/- 0.01	1.00 +/- 0.03	7.16 +/- 0.57
50 %	0.16 +/- 0.02	1.16 +/- 0.04	7.39 +/- 0.70
100 %	0.16 +/- 0.01	1.16 +/- 0.11	7.39 +/- 0.59
Mud-flat			
0 %	0.10 +/- 0.03	0.77 +/- 0.22	7.49 +/- 0.27
5 %	0.12 +/- 0.02	0.86 +/- 0.14	7.24 +/- 0.10
50 %	0.13 +/- 0.02	0.95 +/- 0.08	7.46 +/- 0.82
100 %	0.14 +/- 0.02	1.02 +/- 0.24	7.44 +/- 0.33

Table 13. Average (+/- S.E.) TON %, TOC % and C/N ratios from surface sediments (0 - 2 cm) of plots with increasing cover of oysters in mussel-beds or mud-flats.

	NH_4^+			Si(OH) ₄		
d.f.	MS	F		MS	F	
1	0.73	11.68	**	0.01	0.94	
3	0.09	1.53		0.01	1.47	
3	0.21	3.36	*	0.01	1.37	
16	0.06			0.01		
1	13.35	58.78	***	0.00	23.50	***
3	0.97	4.31	*	0.00	2.12	
3	0.57	2.53		0.00	0.19	
16	0.23			0.00		
1	0.01	0.05		2.77	2.68	
3	0.24	1.25		2.49	2.41	
3	0.76	3.90	*	3.95	3.83	*
16	0.19			1.03		
	<i>d.f.</i> 1 3 16 1 3 16 1 3 3 16	$\begin{array}{c c} NH_4^+\\ \hline d.f. & MS\\ 1 & 0.73\\ 3 & 0.09\\ 3 & 0.21\\ 16 & 0.06\\ \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c c} 1 & 13.35\\ 3 & 0.97\\ 3 & 0.57\\ 16 & 0.23\\ \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c c} 1 & 0.01\\ 3 & 0.24\\ 3 & 0.76\\ 16 & 0.19\\ \end{array}$	NH4 ⁺ d.f. MS F 1 0.73 11.68 3 0.09 1.53 3 0.21 3.36 16 0.06	$\begin{array}{c cccc} NH_4^+ \\ \hline d.f. & MS & F \\ 1 & 0.73 & 11.68 & ^{**} \\ 3 & 0.09 & 1.53 & & \\ 3 & 0.21 & 3.36 & ^{*} \\ 16 & 0.06 & & & \\ \end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$

Table 14. ANOVA for diffusive fluxes, inventories and residence times of NH_4^+ and $Si(OH)_4$ in plots with increasing cover of oysters in mussel-beds and mud-flats.

Significant results are indicated, * = P < 0.05, ** = P < 0.01.

Table 15. ANOVA for gas flux of CO_2 , CH_4 and N_2O on plots with increasing cover of oysters in mussel-beds and mud-flats.

Source		CO ₂			CH_4		N_2O	
	d.f.	MS	F		MS	F	MS	F
Habitat (=H)	1	20.01	0.16		187.82	0.22	6.35	0.27
Cover of oysters (=C)	3	4525.33	5.87	**	1511.62	1.74	8.77	0.19
НхС	3	229.76	0.30		289.37	0.33	1.89	0.76
Res	16	770.54			868.99		4.87	

Significant results are indicated, * = P < 0.05, ** = P < 0.01.

Table 16. Marginal tests of distance-based linear model (DISTLM) analyses on relationships between assemblage structure and individual functional variables in plots with increasing cover of oysters in mussel-beds and mud-flats. Prop is the proportion of variance in the assemblage structure that is explained by the functional variable.

Variable	Pseudo-F	Prop.		
NH4 ⁺ pool	4.68	0.18	***	
Si(OH) ₄ pool	2.34	0.10	*	
NH4 ⁺ flux	2.06	0.09	*	
TOC%	2.03	0.08		
TON%	1.66	0.07		
Si(OH) ₄ residence time	0.91	0.04		
CH ₄ flux	0.91	0.04		
NH4 ⁺ Residence time	0.75	0.03		
CO ₂ flux	0.72	0.03		
Si(OH) ₄ flux	0.67	0.03		
Mean OM%	0.66	0.03		
N ₂ O flux	0.46	0.02		

Significant results are indicated: * = P < 0.05, ** = P < 0.01, *** = P < 0.001.



Figure 13. (a) Pore-water profiler with RhizonTM soil moisture samplers placed at 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 8 and 10 cm intervals. (b) Pore-water profiler inserted into a mussel-bed.



Figure 14. Sample being extracted from a gas collection chamber situated on a musselbed.



Figure 15. Concentration of ammonium (NH₄⁺) in pore water from the sediment-water interface (0 cm) down to 10 cm depth in experimental plots with 0 (\bullet), 5 (\bullet), 50 (\blacktriangle) or 100 (\blacksquare) % cover of oysters in mussel beds or mud-flats.



Figure 16. Concentration of silicate $(Si(OH)_4)$ in pore water from the sediment-water interface (0 cm) down to 10 cm depth in experimental plots with 0 (\bullet), 5 (\bullet), 50 (\blacktriangle) or 100 (\blacksquare) % cover of oysters in mussel beds or mud-flats.



Figure 17. Modelled daily diffusive fluxes of NH_4^+ (a) and $Si(OH)_4$ (b) across the sediment-water interface in experimental plots with 0, 5, 50 or 100 % cover of oysters in mussel beds (shaded bars) or mud-flats (clear bars).



Figure 18. Inventory of pore-water NH_4^+ (a) and Si(OH)₄ (b) in experimental plots with 0, 5, 50 or 100 % cover of oysters in mussel beds (shaded bars) or mud-flats (clear bars).



Figure 19. Mean residence times for benthic pools of (a) NH_4^+ and (b) Si(OH)₄ in experimental plots with 0, 5, 50 or 100 % cover of oysters in mussel beds (shaded bars) or mud-flats (clear bars).



 $\begin{array}{c} & & & & & \\ \hline 0 & & 5 & & 50 & & 100 \\ \hline \textbf{Oyster cover (\%)} \\ \hline \textbf{Figure 20.} & \text{Hourly fluxes of CO}_2 (a), CH_4 (b) \text{ or } N_2O (c) \text{ in experimental plots with } 0, 5, 50 \\ \text{ or } 100 \% \text{ cover of oysters in mussel beds (shaded bars) or mud-flats (clear bars).} \end{array}$


Figure 21. Distance-based redundancy analysis (dbRDA) of square-root transformed assemblages in experimental plots with 0 (•), 5 (•), 50 (\blacktriangle) or 100 (\blacksquare) % cover of *C. gigas* in mussel-beds and 0 (\circ), 5 (\diamond), 50 (\triangle) or 100 (\Box) % cover of *C. gigas* in mud-flats. The functional variables used to generate the dbRDA were NH₄⁺ inventory, fluxes of pore-water NH₄⁺ and Si(OH)₄, gas fluxes of CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O, average OM %, TOC and TON %.

4.4 Discussion

C. gigas altered key processes involved in nutrient cycling, vital for the functioning of estuarine ecosystems, but the nature and magnitude of some of these alterations depended on the habitat and on the cover of *C. gigas*.

Although not significantly different, TOC and TON % increased slightly with increasing cover of *C. gigas* in each habitat, indicating increased biodeposition. C/N ratios did not differ between habitats or among different levels of cover of *C. gigas* and fell into the range of previously measured C/N ratios of biodeposits from other suspension-feeding bivalves (Miller et al., 2002; Giles and Pilditch, 2004), with values between 4 and 8, indicating a composition of phytoplankton and faecal material (Kautsky and Evans, 1987).

Gas fluxes were similarly affected by the cover of *C. gigas* in each habitat. The flux of N₂O, a product of denitrification, was not affected by habitats or cover of *C. gigas* and the measured values were low (less than $5\mu g m^{-2} h^{-1}$). This is not surprising since in marine ecosystems the flux of N₂O only represents about 5 % of the N₂ flux (Seitzinger and Nixon, 1985). Also denitrification relies on the respiration of nitrate and nitrite, both of which were found in negligible concentrations in this study. CO₂ fluxes, however, increased at the highest cover of *C. gigas* in each habitat, likely due to an increase in microbial activity from the decomposition of OM supplied in biodeposits of *C. gigas* (Newell et al., 2005). Although not significant, the flux of CH₄ followed a similar pattern to that of CO₂, indicating that anoxic decomposition of OM (through methanogenesis) also increased at high cover of *C. gigas*. This could be due to an increase in the amount of buried OM available for anaerobic decomposition (Newell, 2004). In situations with high densities of bivalves, biodeposition can stimulate microbial metabolism sufficiently to cause sediments to become anoxic (Tenore et al., 1982). In these situations organic nitrogen is primarily

regenerated as NH_4^+ (Newell et al., 2005), however, mineralisation of OM may be less effective in anoxic conditions and burial of OM can increase (Hansen and Blackburn, 1991). Alternatively, the increase in CO₂ and CH₄ fluxes could be due to the "priming effect" (Löhnis, 1926), whereby the addition of fresh labile OM stimulates microbial OM decomposition, including that of older, buried, recalcitrant OM (Guenet et al., 2010). The labile OM necessary to stimulate the priming effect in aquatic ecosystems is present in phytoplankton (McKinley and Vestal, 1992) and could have been present in, or enhanced by, oyster biodeposits. Regardless of the mechanisms, the combination of CO_2 and CH_4 fluxes are an indicator of the total carbon catabolism in the sediment (Griffiths et al., 1983), meaning that the total decomposition of organic carbon increased at high cover of C. gigas in both habitats. Of course, one cannot ignore the possibility that the increase in community respiration was due to respiration of the oysters themselves, or that of the associated macrofauna, or that it was simply due to a decrease in air volume due to the oysters occupying space in the gas collection chambers. Although the current experiment cannot separate between these models, tests were made in a subsequent experiment and changes were found to be mostly attributable to fluxes from the sediment (Chapter V).

 NH_4^+ can be directly excreted by *C. gigas* (Dame et al., 1984 and 1985) and associated fauna which were facilitated by *C. gigas*, but the main origin is likely from microbially mediated mineralisation of OM from biodeposits (Newell et al., 2005) which increased in supply with increasing cover of *C. gigas*. In both habitats, the pools and fluxes of NH_4^+ were greatest, and the residence times were shortest, in plots with medium cover of *C. gigas*, rather than in plots with high cover as might be expected. NH_4^+ may have been depleted from the plots with high cover of *C. gigas*, for example, actively growing algae can intercept and assimilate NH_4^+ in the surface layers of sediment, thereby limiting its release to the water column (Rysgaard et al., 1995; Newell et al., 2002; Newell, 2004). It is common for the growth and production of algae to be enhanced by bivalves (Newell et al.,

2005) and an increase in algae could account for the decrease in NH_4^+ with high cover of *C. gigas*. In fact, there was a significant increase in the cover of brown macroalgae, *Fucus vesiculosus* (Linnaeus, 1753), within plots with high cover of *C. gigas* in both habitats (Chapter III) and despite slow growth, *F. vesiculosus* can utilize NH_4^+ very efficiently (Pedersen and Borum, 1997).

Si(OH)₄ fluxes decreased within plots with high cover of C. gigas in mussel-beds but increased with high and medium cover of C. gigas within mud-flats. Dissolved silica plays a major role in the functioning of marine ecosystems (Ragueneau et al., 2002) as an essential nutrient for the growth of diatoms (a vital component of marine food webs) and so its depletion and cycling is closely tied to diatom productivity (Cohen, 2003). Diatoms taken up by filter-feeders are regenerated as dissolved silica $(Si(OH)_4)$ from the dissolution of biodeposits in the sediments (Ittekkot et al., 2006). Filter-feeders can produce such high quantities of biodeposits that the subsequent dissolution of biogenic silica allows for high flux rates of $Si(OH)_4$ and facilitates diatom dominance (Ragueneau et al., 2002). This may be the case within mud-flats, where the benthic turnover time of Si(OH)₄ was slightly accelerated with increasing cover of C. gigas, meaning that these sediments may act as an important source of $Si(OH)_4$ to the water column. In mussel-beds, however, the turnover time was greatly decelerated with the highest cover of C. gigas, possibly converting sediments into a sink for Si(OH)₄, limiting release into the water column. The retention of $Si(OH)_4$ in sediments due to increased biodeposition has recently become a concerning consequence of invasive filter-feeding organisms (Ragueneau et al., 2005). There are two groups of phytoplankton, those dominated by diatoms and those not (Officer and Ryther, 1980). When silicate is absent, diatoms become replaced by other phytoplankton groups that do not have any requirement for this nutrient, such as dinoflagellates, which can form harmful algal blooms (Smayda, 1997). These can have deleterious effects on human health (Officer and Ryther, 1980) and support food-webs that are not economically

desirable (Chorus and Bartram, 1999). Shifts of ecosystems from siliceous-based to nonsiliceous-based phytoplankton communities have typically been attributed to anthropogenically induced enrichment of nitrogen and phosphorus (Rocha et al., 2002). These effects, coupled with those of invasive bivalves, could lead to long-term deterioration of the water quality and economical value of this estuary.

It is important to note that diffusive fluxes calculated using Fick's Law only represent diffusive mechanisms of nutrient transport and do not include fluxes caused by advective pore-water exchange or bioturbation (Clavero et al., 2000). Advective pore-water exchange processes in sediments are altered by changes to local pressure gradients which may be caused by protruding structures, such as shells (Huettel and Gust, 1992). For example, during inundation, a single shell protruding from the sediment surface can force water from the water column into the interstices of the sediment and simultaneously draw pore-water out, thus increasing the flux of inorganic nutrients into the water column and decreasing the concentration in the surface layers of sediment (Huettel et al., 1998). Oscillation of the redox boundary caused by advection can promote the degradation of OM by controlling microbial diversity and process rates (Rocha, 2008). The structure of oysters may, therefore, cause differences in pore-water nutrient concentrations by altering advective pore-water exchange. Pore-water exchange in muddy sediments (such as in this study) are, however, more likely to be dominated by diffusion and bioturbation, rather than advection (Mermillod-Blondin, 2011). Bioturbation is an important ecosystem process influencing the distribution of nutrients in sedimentary habitats (Rosenberg, 2001). Bioturbating polychaetes enhance the exchange of inorganic nutrients from sediment porewater into the overlying water (Henriksen et al., 1983; Banta et al., 1999). There was a decrease in the abundance of infaunal polychaetes in plots with the highest cover of C. gigas in mussel-beds (Chapter III), which may have reduced bioturbation in these plots and contributed to the reduction in Si(OH)₄ and NH₄⁺ fluxes. This same model cannot,

however, explain the decrease in NH_4^+ flux in plots with high cover of oysters in mud-flats where the abundance of polychaetes was unaffected by *C. gigas* (Chapter III). Community respiration can indicate microbial activity (Raina et al., 2009), and was similarly affected by *C. gigas* in both habitats, suggesting that microbially mediated processes may have played a substantial role in determining the differences in nitrogen cycling.

The relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning has received a lot of attention in recent years (Gamfeldt and Hillebrand, 2008), but the effect of invasive species on this interaction has not (Sousa et al., 2011). Ecosystem functioning may be affected by C. gigas either directly due to their biological activities, or indirectly as a result of consequent changes to biodiversity (Chapin et al., 2000). Or indeed, biodiversity may be altered as a result of changes to ecosystem processes resulting directly or indirectly from C. gigas. The current study cannot separate these models, but we can comment on covariance between biodiversity and the functional properties of the ecosystems studied. Differences in pools of NH_4^+ and Si(OH)₄ and fluxes of NH_4^+ co-varied with the differences in assemblage structure of plots. Biodiversity (measured as species richness and Shannon-Weiner diversity) in mussel beds followed a similar pattern to NH_4^+ and $Si(OH)_4$ fluxes, increasing up until medium cover of C. gigas but significantly decreasing at the highest cover (Chapter III). Differences in pore-water nutrient fluxes, therefore, may have resulted from the differences in associated macrofaunal biodiversity (Loreau et al., 2001; Cardinale et al., 2006). Alternatively, biodiversity may have responded to changes in the physical or chemical environment due to C. gigas. Biodiversity is often increased by the shells of bivalves which provide habitat and increase habitat complexity (McCoy and Bell, 1991), but high rates of biodeposition associated with high densities of filter-feeding bivalves can decrease macrofaunal diversity by reducing O₂ availability at the watersediment interface (Commito and Boncavage, 1989). There was very little mortality of mussels or oysters in the experimental plots (personal observation), so there would have

been a great amount of biodeposition in plots with high cover of *C. gigas*, arising from both oysters and mussels. None of these models can explain the decrease in NH₄⁺ flux at the highest cover of *C. gigas* in mud-flats since here biodiversity was increased by *C. gigas*. This is not surprising since at lower densities of bivalves, such as on mud-flats, biodeposits provide an important resource for benthic species without producing unfavourable anoxic conditions and so often increase macrofaunal diversity (Norkko et al., 2001). Differences between habitats likely occurred because of pre-existing differences in the processes determining OM deposition. For example, mussel-beds are dominated by filter-feeders and so already have strong benthic-pelagic coupling and a plentiful supply of hard substrata, whereas mud-flats are dominated by passive settlement of particulate OM and soft sediment. It is possible that different mechanisms may have operated within the different habitats, despite causing similar patterns.

The same densities or cover, however, may have different effects depending on the characteristics of the receiving environment. For example, although nitrogen cycling and community respiration were similarly affected in both habitats, effects on biodiversity and silicate cycling differed. Our results confirm the recommendations of Sousa et al. (2009) and Padilla (2010) that more experimental studies spanning a range of habitats are needed in order to assess the context-dependency of invasive species and to avoid detrimental economic consequences (Yokomizo et al., 2009).

Through their biological activities, filter-feeding bivalves strongly affect physical, chemical and biological properties of sediments, typically resulting in local deposition rates exceeding those of passive physical sedimentation (Dobson and Mackie, 1998). The increased deposition of OM from biodeposits (Kautsky and Evans, 1987; Chamberlain et al., 2001) can increase carbon and nitrogen burial in sediments, oxygen consumption, anoxia and denitrification rates (Kaspar et al., 1985). In this way, they can strongly

influence the cycling of important biogenic elements such as carbon (Doering et al., 1986; Chauvaud et al., 2003), nitrogen (Dame et al., 1985) and silica (Ragueneau et al., 2002). Because of the intensity of benthic-pelagic coupling in coastal waters, they play an essential role in the functioning of coastal ecosystems (Wildish and Kristmanson, 1984; Alpine and Cloern, 1992; Dame, 1996). Our results show that this role, when played by an invasive bivalve, can alter the rates of OM decomposition and nutrient regeneration to varying extents depending on the receiving habitat and on the cover of bivalves. At the highest cover of *C. gigas* in mussel-beds the benthic turnover times of NH_4^+ and $Si(OH)_4$ were decelerated, leading to increased retention of these nutrients in the sediment, possibly limiting productivity and causing changes in the phytoplankton community (see above). In mud-flats, the same pattern occurred with regards to NH_4^+ , but not for $Si(OH)_4$. Benthic nutrient pools were lower in mud-flats than in mussel-beds, so the magnitude of the effects are greater and mitigation of the retention of $Si(OH)_4$ observed in mussel-beds is unlikely.

Our results show that when present at high cover, especially in mussel-beds, *C. gigas* can decrease biodiversity and reduce the efficiency of ecosystem processes such as benthic nutrient cycling, thus potentially altering ecosystem services. The importance of the effects of invasive species on ecosystem functioning has only recently being recognised (Ehrenfeld, 2010), but the link between alterations to ecosystem processes and affects on ecosystem services is often overlooked (Charles and Dukes, 2007). Alterations to ecosystem processes directly affect supporting ecosystem services (Charles and Dukes, 2007) which are vital for the maintenance of other ecosystem services that are of benefit to humans (Daily, 1997). For example, if *C. gigas* becomes a dominant species in Lough Swilly, nutrient cycling may be altered to the extent that greater burial of OM and reduced regeneration of limiting biogenic elements, reduces the carrying capacity of the estuary (Cugier et al., 2010), leading to reductions in a provisioning ecosystem service,

commercial shellfish production. In addition, invasive species which cause reductions to biodiversity may threaten the delivery and quality of ecosystem services by altering ecosystem functioning (Charles and Dukes, 2007).

Chapter V - Effects of non-indigenous oysters on the diversity and functioning of microbial assemblages

Work from this chapter is published as Green D.S., Boots B., Crowe T.P. (2012) Effects of non-indigenous oysters on microbial diversity and ecosystem functioning. PLOS One, *In press*.

5.1 Introduction

Biological invasions of non-indigenous species are considered among the most serious global threats to biodiversity, ecosystem functioning and the provision of ecosystem services in terrestrial (Pejchar and Mooney, 2009), freshwater (Simon and Townsend, 2003) and marine (Molnar et al., 2008) environments. The nature and magnitude of the effects of invasive species on the receiving environment, however, may vary depending on the density of the invading organism (Sousa et al., 2009). Many invasive species can form dense populations, dominating habitats after successful establishment (Crooks and Soulè, 1999).

Although the majority of studies have focused on immediately apparent impacts of invasive species, such as changes to macrofaunal biodiversity, there is growing awareness that impacts on the less obvious microbial communities, and on the processes that they drive, are paramount to the functioning of ecosystems (Van der Putten et al., 2007). Microbial communities and the processes they perform are extremely important for the functioning of all ecosystems (Ortega-Morales et al., 2010), yet we know relatively little about external environmental controls on microbial community composition. Research has typically focused on either processes (e.g. biogeochemical fluxes) or, less often, on microbial

community characterisation. To gain a true mechanistic understanding of how ecosystem functioning can be affected by invasive species, research that couples studies of biogeochemical process with characterisation of microbial communities is required (Gutknecht et al., 2006; Oremland et al., 2005).

Invasive species have the potential to modify diversity or community composition, activity levels or abundance or biomass of recipient microbial communities leading to changes in ecosystem processes and functioning (Windham, 2001). This can be facilitated by an increased supply of organic matter, or the provision of organic substrates with a different chemical composition from that of pre-invasion conditions. Subsequent changes to microbial communities may be manifested as changes in the rates of decomposition and nutrient cycling (Pedersen et al., 1999; Naeem et al., 2000). Many researchers have studied the effects of invasive species on microbial communities and processes in terrestrial systems (Ehrenfeld, 2003; Mitchell, 2006), however, with few exceptions (Moseman et al., 2009), there is still a dearth of information concerning these effects in marine ecosystems.

Marine coastal ecosystems contribute substantially to global ecosystem services (Martinez et al., 2007), such as animal nutrition, organic matter (OM) decomposition, nutrient regeneration and stabilisation of pollutants (Ortega-Morales et al., 2010). Intertidal habitats contribute the majority of coastal ecosystem productivity (Bertness et al., 2001), with intertidal mud-flats having disproportionally high productivity, compared to similar subtidal habitats (Elliott and Taylor, 1989). Of particular importance is the role microbes play in nitrogen (Francis et al., 2005) and carbon (Kristensen et al., 1995) cycling. In the sediment microbes are involved in a myriad of processes resulting in the production of pore-water ammonium, nitrite and nitrate, and also important greenhouse gases (IPCC, 2011) carbon dioxide (CO_2) and methane (CH_4). These microbially mediated processes depend on the

redox condition within the sediment (Brune et al., 2000). Many reducing processes, such as the production of CH_4 by methanogens, occur in the anoxic layer of sediments. Methanogens are strictly anaerobic members of the Archaea, but they can survive momentarily under oxic conditions (Peters and Conrad, 1995). Methanogenesis is an important part of the global carbon cycle (Edwards et al., 1998). CO₂ generated as a byproduct during anaerobic decomposition of organic matter can contribute to the formation of methane (Madigan and Martinko, 2006) since some methanogens convert CO₂ to methane (Zinder, 1993), including those in wetlands (Whalen, 2005). Methane is consumed via methanotrophy by methane-oxidising microbes which utilise methane instead of CO₂ (Hanson and Hanson, 1996). The oxidation of methane is greatest at the oxic-anoxic interface (Dedysh, 2002), but it has been found that methane can be oxidised anaerobically within the anoxic sediment by a complex interplay between several methane-oxidising archaea and sulphate-reducing bacteria (Holler et al., 2011). As part of the carbon cycle it is important to understand what role methane-oxidising microbes have in sediments as the balance between methane producers and methane consumers may be tipped when the supply of organic matter is changed (Oremland and Culbertson, 1992).

Furthermore, of great importance for ecosystem functioning is the mineralisation and recycling of nitrogen which is carried out by highly diverse assemblages of aerobic and anaerobic microbes (Hayatsu et al., 2008), including ammonia-oxidisers (Francis et al., 2007). Ammonia-oxidisers obtain energy from the oxidation of ammonia to nitrite, while assimilating CO_2 as the major carbon source.

Modern genetic techniques enable assessment of the community diversity and composition of functionally important microbial groups by targeting genes involved in specific processes (Monsen-Collar and Dolcemascolo, 2010). For example, the coenzyme "methyl coenzyme reductase A" plays an important role in the final steps of the formation

of CH₄ and its coding gene (mcrA) can be targeted to assess methanogen assemblages (Luton et al, 2002). Similarly, the "methanol dehydrogenase structural gene" (mxaF), encodes part of the enzyme involved in the oxidation of methane (McDonald and Murrell, 1997) and so can be used to assess methane-oxidising assemblages. Ammonia-oxidiser assemblages can be targeted using the "ammonia monooxygenase structural gene A" (amoA) which encodes for an enzyme involved in the oxidation of ammonia to nitrite (Rotthauwe et al., 1997). Bacterial assemblages in general can be measured by targeting the small sub-unit of ribosomal RNA (16S) gene since it is a component of the ribosome, important in the synthesis of proteins in most prokaryotic cells (Woese, 1987).

The Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas* (Thunberg, 1793), one of the most successful invasive marine species, has spread throughout much of the world can construct very dense reefs (Markert et al., 2010) covering large areas of shores (Diederich et al., 2005). Similar to other bivalves, *C. gigas* may alter the physical and chemical environment through their physical structure and their biological activities. Their shells provide complex habitat (Lejart and Hily, 2011) and can alter hydrodynamics, thereby altering the flow of nutrients and sedimentation rates (Lenihan, 1999). Through their biological activity, they filter-feed, removing small suspended phytoplankton and inorganic particulates from the water column and depositing them as larger particles, either faeces or pseudofaeces and hence play an important role in nutrient cycling and benthic-pelagic coupling (Norkko et al., 2001). These changes have strong potential to influence and be mediated by microbes, but the nature of changes to microbial assemblages and their activity in response to *C. gigas* has not previously been characterised.

The aims of this study were to test the following hypotheses (i) *C. gigas* will alter the diversity and composition of assemblages of microbes in general and of several functional groups important in nutrient cycling in the oxic and anoxic layers of sediment (ii) *C. gigas*

will alter microbial activity (iii) *C. gigas* will alter the biomass of primary producers and (iv) *C. gigas* will alter processes important in carbon and nitrogen cycling and finally (v) These effects will differ depending on the cover of *C. gigas*.

5.2 Methods

5.2.1 Study site and experimental design

The experiment was set-up on extensive lower intertidal mud-flat at Ballylin Point, Lough Swilly in County Donegal, Ireland (55° 2' 36.12", -7° 33' 36.09") adjacent to mussel-beds consisting of blue mussels, *Mytilus edulis* (Linnaeus, 1758). The mud-flats were interspersed between patches of mussel-bed and were not dominated by any other biogenic habitat forming organism or hard substratum. Four levels of cover including "Zero", "Low", "Medium" and "High" equating to approximately 0, 5, 40 and 80 % cover of *C. gigas* respectively were set-up (Figure 22). The high level of cover was set at 80 % in this experiment as opposed to 100 % as was used in Chapters III and IV, because this was the maximum level of cover possible which still allowed undisturbed sampling of the sediment between oysters. Oysters in the range 40 - 100 mm maximal length were randomised among plots. There were seven replicate plots, each measuring 50 x 50 cm, for each cover treatment. Oysters were simply inserted upright into the sediment to simulate the way they are found at the site. All oysters used in this experiment were taken from the area surrounding the plots and were rinsed with seawater to remove attached sediment and flora and fauna. After three months (June 2011) all plots were sampled.

5.3 Sampling techniques for ecosystem processes

5.3.1 Gas flux of CO₂ and CH₄

Gas samples were obtained using a closed chamber technique based on Hutchinson and

Mosier (1981). This involved using 6 L airtight, tinfoil covered chambers fitted with rubber septums to allow sampling the volume. Samples were taken at 0, 45 and 90 minutes intervals using 60 ml syringes fitted with an airtight, three-way stopcock. The air within the chambers was homogenised by gently pumping the syringe three times immediately before each sample was taken. Air temperature was measured inside the chambers and the atmospheric pressure was estimated from data on the national meteorological website (www.meteireann.ie). Concentrations of CO_2 and CH_4 were measured using a gas chromatograph (Shimadzu GC-2024) with an automated injection system (Loftfield et al., 1997). The flux rates were calculated by assuming the ideal gas law coupled with linear regression, correcting for differences in chamber temperature and average air pressure during the sampling period. An exponential equation was used if R^2 was greater than 0.985 but less than 1 (Hutchinson and Mosier, 1981).

5.3.2 Procedural controls for gas fluxes

Three procedural controls were used to quantify effects on community respiration of the volume in the chamber taken up by *C. gigas* themselves, their respiration and the respiration of macro-organisms attached to their shells. To account for space occupied by *C. gigas*, empty *C. gigas* shells which displaced similar volumes of air as the live *C. gigas* in the high density treatment were used. Additionally, cleaned (to remove flora and fauna) or uncleaned live *C. gigas* oysters were used to determine direct gas emission from *C. gigas* and the associated flora and fauna respectively. Volume, oyster and macro-organism controls were set-up on an airtight impermeable barrier which was placed over the sediment to eliminate respiration from the sediment itself. These controls were set-up simultaneously with the experimental plots and were interspersed randomly with them.

5.3.3 Pore-water nutrients

Pore-water was sampled from the sediment-water interface (0 cm), 1 and 4 cm depth

using modified RhizonTM in-situ profilers (Seeberg-Elverfeldt et al., 2005). These consisted of Perspex sheets into which grooves were cut at intervals to allow the insertion of RhizonTM (Rhizosphere, Wageningen, the Netherlands) soil moisture samplers, consisting of 10 cm long filters made of a hydrophilic porous polymer with 0.1 im pore size. The profilers were carefully inserted into the sediment and left for 24 hours prior to sampling in order for the sediment to reach equilibrium. Over-lying surface water (approximately 2 - 4 mm above the sediment-water interface) was also collected from each plot. This method allows pore-water profiles to be sampled with minimum disturbance to a vertical resolution of 1 cm (Seeberg-Elverfeldt et al., 2005). Water samples were transported and stored in separate vacuum tubes. Ammonium (NH₄⁺) and total oxidised nitrogen (TOxN), which is NO₃⁻ plus NO₂⁻, concentrations were determined using a Lachat Quikchem 8000 (Hach Company, Colorado USA) flow injection autoanalyser. Pore-water nutrient concentrations were corrected for porosity, standardised to dry bulk density and used to calculated diffusive fluxes according to the equations presented in Chapter IV.

5.3.4 Chlorophyll content of the oxic layer of sediment

Sediment was collected from the oxic surface layer (approximately the top 2 mm) using sterile spatulas, immediately wrapped in foil and stored in a refrigerator. Within 24 hours of collection 10 ml of 90 % acetone was added, centrifuged at 3000g for 3 min and chlorophyll a, b and c was measured from the supernatant using a spectrophotometer (λ = 430 and 664, 460 and 647, 630nm respectively as described by Lorenzen, 1967). Concentrations of chlorophyll were calculated according to equations by Jeffrey and Humphrey (1975).

5.3.5 Total organic carbon and total nitrogen in the oxic and anoxic sediment Total organic carbon (TOC) and total nitrogen (TN) were measured on 50 mg of pulverised

oven dried (80°C for 24 h) sediment after being fumigated with HCl vapour to remove carbonates (Hedges and Stern, 1984). C and N content was determined on a vario EL cube (Elementar, Germany) and expressed as percentages.

5.3.6 Dehydrogenase enzyme activity as an estimate of microbial activity

Dehydrogenase enzyme activity can be used as a measure for microbial activity and was done for both the oxic (top 2 mm) and anoxic (4 cm deep) sediment using a modified triphenyltetrazolium chloride (TTC) method as described by Alef and Nannipieri (1995). This method utilises TTC as an electron acceptor for enzymes associated with microbial oxidation of organic substrates under aerobic conditions (Lenhard 1956). The reaction has triphenyl formazan (TPF) as an end-product which can be estimated colorimetrically at λ =546 nm. Dehydrogenase activity is reported as µgTPF g⁻¹ dry sediment 24 h⁻¹. Since the reaction involves aerobic oxidation of organic substrates which were sterilised by autoclaving (121°C, 20 min). Microbial activity was estimated by subtracting results obtained from sterilised from non-sterilised anoxic sediments.

5.4 Microbial diversity

5.4.1 DNA extraction from the oxic and anoxic sediment

DNA was extracted from 0.5 g of field-moist, homogenised sediment using the method described by Griffiths et al. (2000). Samples were added to sterile 2 ml polyethylene screw-capped centrifuge tubes, containing 0.5 g of 0.1 mm sterile glass beads (Thistle Scientific), 0.5 g of 0.5 mm sterile zirconium beads (Thistle Scientific) and 0.5 ml modified hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide (CTAB) extraction buffer (equal volumes of 10 % CTAB in 0.7 M NaCl with 240 mM potassium phosphate buffer at *p*H 8.0). After 10 min incubation at 70°C, 0.5 ml of phenol:chloroform:iso-amylalcohol (25:24:1) was added.

Physical lysis of cells was carried out by bead beating using the glass and zirconium beads with a Hybraid Ribolyser at 5.5 m s⁻¹ for 30 s. Supernatant was collected after centrifugation at 14000 g at 4ºC for 5 min and cleaned twice with chloroform: isoamylalcohol (24:1) to remove impurities. DNA yield was improved by ethanol-precipitation. The resulting DNA was further purified with a PCR product purification kit (Roche) according to manufacturer's protocol. Presence of DNA was confirmed by electrophoreses on a 1.2 % agarose (Roche) gel made with 1x TAE (Tris-Acetate-EDTA, Sigma) buffer. DNA concentrations were quantified on a UV spectrophotometer (Nanodrop) and standardised to \sim 30 ng μ l⁻¹ for downstream analyses. Each sample was extracted in triplicate.

5.4.2 Polymerase chain reactions

All forward primers were fluorescently labelled for the generation of PCR amplicons, whereas all reverse primers were unlabelled. The primers used are shown in Table 17. For all reactions, PCR was carried out in 50 µl volumes, containing 10 µl of 10X PCR buffer (Promega), 5 µl each of 0.3 µM forward and reverse primers, 1.25 µl of 10 mg ml⁻¹ BSA (New England Biolabs Inc.), 1 µl of each dNTP (10 mM each, Sigma), 2.5 µl of ultra clean H₂O (Fluka) and 0.25 µl (2.5 U) of *Taq* DNA polymerase (Promega). 1 µl of template DNA was added to 25 µl of ultra clean H₂O prior to adding the PCR mix. Thermocycler (PX2 ThermoHybaid) PCR conditions for each primer pair are shown in Table 18. Ultra clean H₂O (Sigma) served as a negative control for all reactions. PCR products were confirmed on a 1 % agarose gel and subsequently purified using a high pure PCR product cleanup kit (Roche) as per manufacturer's instructions. Approximately 50 ng of each PCR product was digested using different restriction endonucleases in final volumes of 20 µl. 16S rRNA and mcrA fragments were digested at 37° C for 4 h in 2 µl of 10X NEBuffer4 together with 20 U of Mspl restriction endonuclease (New England Biolabs Inc.). Similarly, approximately 50

ng of mxaF was digested at 37°C for 4 h in 2 μ l of 10X NEBuffer4 together with 20 U of Hhal restriction endonuclease (New England Biolabs Inc.) and amoA PCR product was digested at 65° C for 4 h in 2 μ l of 10X NEBuffer4 together with 20 U of Taql restriction endonuclease (New England Biolabs Inc.). The digested products were desalted and cleaned in ethanol.

5.4.3 Terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism and fragment analysis

The differently labelled TRFLP digests were pooled for each sample, and 2 µl of this was mixed with 0.5 µl 600LIZ size standard (GenStat, Applied Biosystems) and 9.0 µl formamide loading solution (Applied Biosystems) in 96 well analytical loading plates (Applied Biosystems). 600LIZ size standard contains fluorescently labelled fragment sizes of known base pair numbers, ranging from 20bp to 600bp. Terminal restriction lengths were analysed by electrophoresis using a 36 cm capillary for 30 min at 8 kV on a 3031 ABI Genetic Sequencer (Applied Biosystems).

Fragment analysis was performed using software supplied by the manufacturer of the genetic sequencer used (Genemapper, Applied Biosystems). Threshold levels for peak detection were set at 20 rfu, and peaks were called using a quartic polynomial model. Microbial assemblage profiles obtained were sorted and aligned using RiboSort in R (Scallan et al., 2008). This program automatically classifies microbial fingerprints by assigning fragments and their respective relative abundances to appropriate ribotype numbers expressed in base pairs. Fragment sizes were rounded up or down at 0.5 bp and samples that have been processed in triplicate were merged. Only fragments that contributed more than 1 % of the total abundance, relative fluorescent units, (rfu) were considered true fragments.

5.5 Statistical analyses

5.5.1 Univariate data analyses

Differences in gas fluxes of CO₂ and CH₄, diffusive flux of NH₄⁺, concentrations of chlorophyll a, b and c, TOC %, TN %, C/N ratios, microbial activity and species richness (using number of gene fragments as a proxy) among different levels of oyster cover were evaluated using 1-factor ANOVA with one fixed factor "cover" with four levels (zero, low, medium and high) using Win-GMAV (Underwood and Chapman, 1998). Procedural controls for gas flux were evaluated using 1-Factor ANOVA with four levels (Volume, oyster and macro-organism controls and high cover plots of oysters). Pore-water concentrations of NH₄⁺ and TOxN were evaluated using a 2-factor ANOVA with cover of oysters with four levels (zero, low, medium and high) and depth of water with four levels (surface, 0, 1 and 4 cm depth) as fixed, orthogonal factors. Homogeneity of univariate variance was tested using Cochran's C-test and corrected for by the same method as detailed in Chapter II. When significant differences were detected by ANOVA (at α =0.05), Student-Newman Keuls (SNK) tests were done to compare means and identify patterns of difference.

5.5.2 Multivariate data analyses

Differences in assemblage structure among different covers of oysters in the oxic and anoxic sediment was assessed using 1-factor PERMANOVA (Anderson, 2001) on Bray-Curtis dissimilarities (Bray and Curtis, 1957) of 4th root transformed data with 9999 permutations of the raw data. Assemblage data were ordinated on a 2-dimensional nonmetric multidimensional scaling (nMDS) plot, with stress values representing the level of distortion of the actual rank order of distance among samples (Clarke, 1993). All multivariate analyses were computed using the PRIMER and PERMANOVA package (PRIMER-e, Plymouth, UK).

5.6 Results

5.6.1 Gas fluxes and procedural controls

 CO_2 flux was greater from plots with high or medium cover than from plots with zero cover of *C. gigas* (Figure 23a, Table 19, SNK procedure). CH₄ flux was greater from plots with high than with zero cover of *C. gigas* (Figure 23b, Table 19, SNK procedure). Differences in gas fluxes between plots with high cover of C. gigas and controls could not be explained by the volume of *C. gigas* shells, the respiration of *C. gigas* themselves nor the respiration of the macro-organisms on the shells of *C. gigas*, since fluxes of CO_2 and CH₄ from plots with high cover of *C. gigas* were greater than from volume, oyster or macro-organism controls (ANOVA: F = 6.27, *d.f.* = 3, P = 0.0084 and F = 6.98, *d.f.* = 3, P = 0.0057, respectively) (SNK procedure). Changes in sedimentary processes must therefore have contributed substantially to the differences induced by the increased cover of *C. gigas*.

5.6.2 Pore-water nutrients

The concentration of NH_4^+ differed among depths and among covers of *C. gigas*, being greater at 4 cm than at surface, 0 or 1 cm depth and greater within plots with high, medium or low cover than within plots with zero cover of oysters (Figure 24a, Table 19, SNK procedure). The concentration of TOxN was greater within plots with low cover than within plots with high, medium or zero cover of *C. gigas* (Figure 24b, Table 19) but did not differ among different depths. Diffusive fluxes of NH_4^+ were greater in plots with medium than within plots with zero cover of *C. gigas* (Figure 25, Table 19, SNK procedure).

5.6.3 Chlorophyll a, b and c concentration

The concentrations of Chlorophyll a and c were greater within plots with high cover than within plots with medium, low or zero cover of *C. gigas* (Figure 26, Table 19, SNK procedure), but chlorophyll b did not differ significantly among different covers of *C. gigas*.

5.6.4 Sediment carbon and nitrogen content

C/N ratios and the concentration of TOC and TN did not differ among covers of *C. gigas* within the oxic or anoxic sediment (Tables 19 and 20). Within the oxic sediment, the concentration of TOC and TN tended to increase with increasing cover of *C. gigas*, but not significantly so (Figure 27).

5.6.5 Microbial activity

Microbial activity was greater in plots with high cover than in plots with medium, low or zero cover of *C. gigas* in the oxic sediment (Figure 28, Table 19, SNK procedure), but did not differ among covers of *C. gigas* in the anoxic sediment (Figure 28, Table 20).

5.6.6 Microbial diversity and assemblage structure

The number of gene fragments (as a proxy for species richness) did not differ among different covers of *C. gigas* for mcrA or mxaF assemblages (Tables 19 and 20). In anoxic sediment mcrA assemblages within plots with low cover differed from those within plots with high, medium or zero cover of *C. gigas* (Table 22, Figure 29f, pair-wise comparisons). Assemblages of 16S or mxaF did not differ among different covers of *C. gigas* in the oxic or anoxic sediment (Table 22, Figure 29a, b, g and h). The number of gene fragments of amoA assemblages in the oxic sediment was greater within plots with high cover than within plots with zero, low or medium cover of *C. gigas* (Table 19, SNK procedure) and amoA assemblages within plots with high cover were different from those with medium, low or zero cover of *C. gigas* (Table 22, Figure 29c, pair-wise comparisons). In the anoxic sediment amoA assemblages in plots with low cover differed from those within plots with high or medium.

Target	Name	Primer sequence '5-'3	Label*	Reference
16S rRNA (bacteria)	F27	AGAGTTTGATC(C/A)TGGCTCAG	NED	Lane et al. 1991
	R1469	ACGG(C/T)TACCTTGTTACGACT		
amoA (ammonia-oxidisers)	amoa1-F	GGGGTTTCTACTGGTGGT	6FAM	Rotthauwe et al. 1997
	amoaR	CCCCTCKGSAAAGCCTTCTTC		
mxaF (methane-oxidisers)	mxa-f1003	GCGGCACCAACTGGGGCTGGT	PET	McDonald and Murrell 1997
	mxa-r1561	GGGCAGCATGAAGGGCTCCC		
mcrA (methanogens)	mlf	GGTGGTGTMGGATTCACACARTAYGCWACAGC	VIC	Luton et al. 2002
	mlr	TTCATTGCRTAGTTWGGRTAGTT		

Table 17. Oligonucleotides (forward and reverse primers) used to assess total bacterial and functional gene assemblages.

* Fluorescent labels were attached to the '5 end of the forward primer

Table 18. PCR conditions used during amplification of bacterial and functional genes.

Target	Hotstart	Denaturing	Annealing	Extension	Cycles	Final
16S rRNA	95°C - 2 min	95°C - 30 sec	55°C - 90 sec	72°C - 90 sec	26	72°C - 5 min
amoA	95°C - 2 min	95°C - 30 sec	45°C - 45 sec	72°C - 30 sec	35	72°C - 5 min
mxa <i>F</i>	95°C - 2 min	95°C - 60 sec	55°C - 60 sec	72°C - 60 sec	30	72°C - 5 min
mcrA*	95°C - 2 min	95°C - 30 sec	55°C - 30 sec	72°C - 90 sec	30	72°C - 5 min

*mcrA primers (mlf-mlr) were degenerate, therefore following the hotstart, DNA was amplified with an initial 5 cycles of 95°C for 30 sec followed by 45°C for 30 sec with an increasing 0.1°C/sec to 72°C for 90 sec to allow for mismatches (Compton, 1990) prior continuing the program in the table.

Source	df	MS	F		MS	F		MS	F		MS	F
Gas flux	u.r.	CO _o flux	1		CH.	1		WI.O.	1		101.0.	
Cover	З	10540 24	3 75	*	6443 59	4 02	*					
Posidual	24	2812 88	5.75		1602.36	7.02						
Residual	27	2012.00			1002.50							
N concentration		[NH₄+]			[TOxN]							
Cover (C)	3	0.80	3 33	*	0.00	3 21	*					
Depth (dp)	3	8 59	35.60	***	0.00	0.60						
C v dn	a	0.38	1 56		0.00	0.00						
Bosidual	61	0.30	1.50		0.00	0.34						
Residual	04	0.24			0.00							
N flux		NH. ⁺ flux										
Cover	З		4 16	*								
Posidual	16	0.03	4.10									
Residual	10	0.02										
Chlorophyll		Chla			Chl h			Chlic				
Cover	3	2.88	7 53	**	0.06	0.83		1 00	6 98	**		
Residual	24	0.38	1.55		0.00	0.00		0.14	0.50			
Residual	27	0.50			0.07			0.14				
Total C and N		TC %			TN %			C/N				
Cover	3	0 11	2 14		0.00	2 46		0.58	1 07			
Residual	24	0.05	2.1.1		0.00	2.10		0.50	1.07			
Residual	27	0.00			0.00			0.54				
Microbial		Activity										
Cover	3	1 16	13 70	***								
Residual	24	0.08	10.70									
Residual	24	0.00										
Microbial		16S			amoA			mxaF			mcrA	
Cover	3	11.90	0.51		69.65	3.45	*	0.42	0.22		0.04	0.01
Residual	24	23.49	0.01		20.18	0.10		1.87	0.22		2 45	0.01
i tosiuuai	27	20.70			20.10			1.07			2.70	

Table 19. ANOVA for functional variables and microbial diversity in the oxic layer of sediment, pore-water concentrations and NH_4^+ flux in plots with zero, low, medium and high cover of oysters.

Significant results are indicated: * = P < 0.05, ** = P < 0.01, *** P < 0.001.

	d.f.	M.S.	F	M.S.	F	M.S.	F	M.S.	F	
Source		TC %		TN %		C/N				
Cover	3	0.00	1.66	0.01	0.23	0.85	1.30			
Residual	24	0.00		0.03		0.64				
Source		Activity								
Cover	3	43589.91	0.93							
Residual	24	47052.24								
Source		16S		amoA		mxaF		mcrA		
Cover	3	4.24	0.08	6.70	0.36	6.89	1.10	4.48	0.67	
Residual	24	50.65		18.77		6.25		6.68		
Significant results are indicated: * = P < 0.05, ** = P < 0.01, *** P < 0.001.										

Table 20. ANOVA for functional variables and microbial diversity in the anoxic layer of sediment in plots with zero, low, medium and high cover of oysters.

Table 21. Permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA) of assemblages of bacteria in general (16S), ammonia-oxidisers (amoA), methanogens (mcrA) and methane-oxdisers (mxaF) in oxic or anoxic sediment in plots with increasing density of *C. gigas.*

Source		Oxic			Anoxic					
16 S	d.f.	MS	Pseudo-F		MS	Pseudo-F				
Cover	3	807.93	0.93		1480.10	1.26				
Res	24	866.66			1171.70					
amoA										
Cover	3	5170.40	2.63	***	1680.90	1.67	*			
Res	24	1969.60			1005.50					
mcrA										
Cover	3	500.51	0.47		3304.10	2.81	**			
Res	24	1057.40			1175.90					
mxaF										
Cover	3	400.97	0.51		1037.20	1.24				
Res	24	789.03			836.02					
Significance is indicated, * (P < 0.05), ** (P < 0.01) and *** (P < 0.001).										



Figure 22. Experimental plots of increasing cover of *C. gigas* on mud-flats including zero (0%), low (5%), medium (40%) and high (80%) cover.



Figure 23. Mean hourly flux (\pm S.E.) of (a) CO₂ and (b) CH₄ from experimental plots with zero (O), low (L), medium (M) and high (H) cover of oysters.





Figure 25. Mean diffusive flux of NH_4^+ from experimental plots with zero (O), low (L), medium (M) and high (H) cover of oysters.



Figure 26. Mean (\pm S.E.) concentration of chlorophyll a (hashed), b (clear) and c (grey) per gram of dry surface sediment from experimental plots with zero (O), low (L), medium (M) and high (H) cover of oysters.



Figure 27. Mean (a) total organic carbon (%) and (b) nitrogen (%) and (c) C/N ratio from oxic and anoxic sediment from experimental plots with zero (O), low (L), medium (M) and high (H) cover of oysters.



Cover of oysters Figure 28. Mean (\pm S.E.) flux of TPF g⁻¹ of dry sediment 24 h⁻¹ for oxic (white) and anoxic (hashed) sediments from experimental plots with zero (O), low (L), medium (M) and high (H) cover of oysters.



Figure 29. nMDS plots of assemblage structure of total bacteria (16S), ammonia oxidisers (amoA), methanogens (mcrA) and methane oxidisers (mxaF) in oxic and anoxic sediment from experimental plots with zero (\Diamond), low (\blacksquare), medium ($\mathbf{\nabla}$) and high (\bullet) cover of oysters.

5.7 Discussion

5.7.1 Effects of *C. gigas* on carbon cycling

This is the first study linking invasive species to changes in microbial processes, diversity, gas fluxes and nutrient cycling in the marine environment. In this study, at the highest cover of *C. gigas*, emissions of CO_2 and CH_4 were 13 and 6 fold greater compared to mudflat without *C. gigas*. Analysis of procedural controls indicated that differences in CO_2 and CH_4 fluxes between control treatments and those with high cover of *C. gigas* could not be explained by the volume occupied by the oysters in the chamber, nor their own respiration or the respiration of macro-organisms attached to their shells. This means that the differences in CO_2 and CH_4 fluxes resulted substantially from the effects of *C. gigas* on the sediment. Infauna in the sediment has been found to increase with increasing density of *C. gigas* in mud-flats (Chapter III), and may have contributed to carbon fluxes. On average, the contribution of meiofauna is negligible, and the contribution by macrofauna is usually between 10 and 30 % (Hopkinson and smith, 2004). The majority of the carbon flux, therefore, cannot be explained by an increase in macrofauna, but rather can be attributed to microbially mediated processes in the sediment (Hopkinson and smith, 2004).

Oysters can increase organic matter content locally by increased deposition either directly due to biodeposits (Newell et al., 2005), but also indirectly, as a result of shell structures enhancing sedimentation rates of particulate organic matter (Lenihan, 1999). There was, however, only slight evidence for enrichment of total organic carbon in the sediment. This suggests that rather than being sequestered, the majority of the additional organic carbon was rapidly decomposed, as was evident from increased sediment CO_2 and CH_4 emission. There was no effect of *C. gigas* on the diversity or structure of the total bacterial assemblage, indicating that altered microbial diversity or structure did not account for the greater release of CO_2 . This may mean that the bacteria are generally resistant or resilient
to potential disturbance from *C. gigas* (Allison and Martiny, 2008). It is possible that greater decomposition rates at the highest cover of *C. gigas*, as may be indicated by greater levels of microbial activity at this cover, account for the greater release of CO₂. Indeed, microbes can display greater activity with higher levels of labile carbon resulting in increased respiration in a range of ecosystems (Mallik and Hu, 1997; Hopkinson and smith, 2004; Plaza et al., 2004).

Algal respiration may have also contributed to the greater CO_2 flux (Hansen et al., 2000), since at the highest cover of C. gigas, there was also an increase in chlorophyll a and c, indicating an increase in the biomass of microphytobenthos (MPB) (Aminot and Rey, 2000). However, MPB only increased at the highest cover of C. gigas, which was not accompanied by a further increase in CO₂ flux compared to medium cover. Plots with the highest cover of C. gigas, did however, exhibit greater emission of CH₄ than plots with medium cover. An increase in anaerobic reduction of CO₂ by methanogenesis may explain the lack of increase in CO₂, since about one third of CH₄ is produced this way (Ferry and Lessner, 2008). The greater CH₄ flux indicates more anaerobic decomposition of OM resulting in more methanogenesis (Sowers and Ferry, 1983), due to a temporary increase in available buried OM (Newell, 2004). Alternatively, the increase in CO_2 and CH_4 emission can be stimulated by the "priming effect" (Löhnis, 1926), whereby the addition of fresh labile OM (such as from biodeposits) temporarily stimulates microbial decomposition of OM, including that of older, buried, recalcitrant OM (Guenet et al., 2010). The labile OM necessary to cause a priming effect in aquatic ecosystems is present in MPB (McKinley and Vestal, 1992) which are commonly present in, or enhanced by, oyster biodeposits.

Methanogen assemblages in anoxic sediments were significantly different in the presence of low cover of *C. gigas*, compared to those occurring with zero, medium or high covers of *C. gigas*. Similar to several previous studies, we found no relationship between differences in methane emissions and methanogen assemblage structure (Lueders and Friedrich, 2000; Hoj et al., 2005; Kniffin et al., 2010), suggesting that microbially mediated methane emissions are, in fact, independent of methanogenic community structure. This implies that methanogenic communities may include many functionally redundant members, meaning that even if the composition changes, functionality with regards to CH₄ production will be retained (Allison and Martiny, 2008).

 CH_4 is used as an electron donor by many methane-oxidising bacteria (Khalil et al., 1993, Quay et al., 1999) which typically occur in oxic sediment and regulate the flux of CH₄ to the atmosphere or water column (Reeburgh et al., 1993; Reeburgh, 1996). This process is however, dependent on gradients of CH₄ concentration in the sediment (Sotomayor et al., 1994), the quality of organic matter (Lojen et al., 1999) and the position of the oxic-anoxic interface (Ogrinc et al., 1997). Neither diversity nor assemblage structure of methylotrophs was altered by C. gigas. Methanogens in anaerobic marine sediments can be outcompeted for labile OM by sulfate-reducing bacteria (Oremland and Polcin, 1982), but the addition of nitrogen can alleviate this by reducing competition for carbon (Oremland and Polcin, 1982). Alternatively increased nitrogen can suppress methane-oxidisers (Schimel and Gulledge, 1998), thereby reducing the loss of methane. A recent study stimulating multiple levels of nitrogen addition to marine sediments, found that methane production increased with increasing nitrogen, but there were no effects on the community structure, diversity or activity of methanotrophs (Irvine et al., 2012). Oyster biodeposits can enrich the sediment in nitrogen (Newell et al., 2005) altering processes such as methanogenesis or methanotrophy and thereby alter carbon cycling.

5.7.2 Effects of *C. gigas* on nitrogen cycling

In coastal sediments, a complex interplay between nitrification, denitrification, and ammonification occurs at the oxic-anoxic interface, driving rapid nitrogen transformations

which result in the loss of nitrogen to the water column and atmosphere (Sloth et al., 1995). Nitrogen cycling was altered by C. gigas in the current study, although there was only a slight increase in total nitrogen with increasing cover of C. gigas, the concentration of pore-water NH_4^+ was greater. Mirroring findings from the carbon cycle, this indicates an increase in the remineralisation of OM (Pepper et al, 2001), probably due to increased biodeposition. Diffusive fluxes of NH₄⁺ changed from negative to positive with low and medium covers of C. gigas, compared to plots without C. gigas. Fluxes were, however, greatest at medium cover, rather than at high cover, as might be expected. This may be due to the increase in MPB found in high cover plots, since actively growing MPB can intercept and absorb and assimilate NH₄⁺ from the surface layers of sediment, thereby limiting its release to the water column (Rysgaard et al., 1995; Hansen et al., 2000; Newell et al., 2002; Newell, 2004). Ammonia-oxidising assemblages in oxic sediments at high cover of *C. gigas* were more diverse and their structure differed from those in zero, low or medium cover plots. Increased diversity of ammonia-oxidisers has been suggested to increase the stability of nitrification in waste water treatment plants leading to enhanced removal of NH_4^+ (Daims et al., 2001; Rowan et al., 2003), but we cannot determine whether this was the case in the high cover sediment. Alternatively, others have found no correlation between nitrification and community composition of ammonia-oxidisers (Hallin et al., 2009). Coastal sediments are critical areas for global nitrogen cycling, and ammonia-oxidising microbes (amoA) play a significant role in nitrification (Francis et al., 2005). Interestingly, the concentration of TOxN was greater at low than at zero, medium or high covers of C. gigas. This corresponds to a difference in assemblage structure of ammonia oxidisers in anoxic sediments in low cover plots compared to those with medium or high covers of *C. gigas*. There may have been greater nitrification efficiency within these plots resulting in increased TOxN, but we cannot determine this directly. Nevertheless, there is growing evidence suggesting that many microbial communities are not functionally redundant and different communities are not functionally similar (Allison and Martiny,

2008).

5.7.3 Links between invasion and functioning mediated by microbial assemblages The addition of biodeposits is likely to explain many of the changes to microbial community structure observed in our study. The concentration and composition of OM can determine microbial growth, activity rates and community structure (Blum et al., 2004; Koster et al., 2005). Biodeposits of oysters are more enriched in carbon and nitrogen than OM from passive settlement (Newell et al., 2005). Causal links between changes to the diversity or structure of microbial assemblages and alterations to ecosystem process rates are possible, and even probable (Loreau et al., 2001; Van der Putten et al., 2007), but require further experimentation.

Many processes involved in OM mineralisation occur at the oxic-anoxic interface in sediments (Kristensen et al., 1995). The depth of the oxic layer depends greatly on the input of OM to the sediment and is usually limited to a few millimetres in productive systems, such as estuaries (Brune et al., 2000). Processes occurring at the oxic-anoxic interface are controlled by temperature, light penetration, water currents, organic matter supply and bioturbation (Kristensen et al., 2005). In a similar study (Chapter III) the density of polychaetes increased with increasing densities of *C. gigas* in mud-flats. Sediment-inhabiting organisms, especially macrofauna, can have extensive effects on the position of the oxic-anoxic interface and hence on the microbial assemblages and nutrient fluxes of sediments (Banta et al., 1999) through bioturbation (sediment reworking) and irrigation (enhanced water exchange between sediment and overlying water). It is quite likely that there was some influence of macrofauna, facilitated by *C. gigas*, on the flux of nutrients in the current study.

The effects of invasive species on the structure and functioning of microbial decomposer

communities has received much attention in terrestrial habitats (van der Putten, 2007), for example, changes to microbial community structure induced by invasive grasses have been suggested as a causal mechanism for co-occurring changes to decomposition rates (Holly et al., 2009). Similarly, in freshwater habitats, invasive plants have been found to alter microbial biomass, activity or nitrogen cycling (Otto et al., 1999) or to alter microbial community composition and increase nitrogen storage in the sediment (Angeloni et al., 2006). In addition, invasive zebra mussels were found to increase NH₄⁺ flux to the water column and to change microbial community composition (Lavrentyev et al., 2000). There are very few studies addressing changes to microbial community structure in marine ecosystems, but Hahn (2003) found invasive algae altered microbial decomposition rates and decomposer community structure in sediments.

5.7.4 Density dependent effects of invaders

After successful establishment, invasive species increase in abundance, density or percentage cover, either suddenly or after a lag period (Crooks and Soulè, 1999). Despite this, knowledge of how the effects of invasive species change with invader density is lacking (Thomsen et al., 2011a). Experiments with a range of invader densities, however, may help identify critical thresholds, beyond which an ecosystem dramatically changes its functioning. Quantitative results obtained from studies examining multiple density levels can be incorporated into ecosystem models to predict possible ecosystem responses of invasion and avoid detrimental ecological or economic consequences of underestimation (Yokomizo, 2009). Many of the effects of *C. gigas* did not change linearly with their abundance, thus making predictions a challenge. For example, as discussed in Section 4.2, NH₄⁺ flux was greater at medium cover compared to plots without *C. gigas*, but was unchanged at high cover, possibly due to mediation from increased MPB. Several effects, such as increased ammonia-oxidiser diversity, primary productivity and microbial activity, were only evident at high cover of *C. gigas*. Whilst other responses were only evident at

low cover of *C. gigas*, such as altered assemblage structure of anoxic ammonia oxidisers and methanogens and increased concentration of TOxN. The explanation for this is not simple and can only be speculated upon, emphasising that the complexity of microbial interactions and biogeochemical processes occurring in sediments, in many respects, is still a "black box" (Kristensen et al., 2005).

5.7.5 Broader scale implications – climatic change and nutrient cycling

Total carbon flux (CO_2 and CH_4) differed from being a sink in areas of mud-flat without C. gigas, to a source when C. gigas was present. It is not uncommon for C. gigas to dominate large areas of shores (Markert et al., 2010). Recently, Lejart et al. (2012) measured the aerial and underwater respiration (CO₂) of C. gigas in laboratory conditions in order to estimate their direct contribution to CO₂ emissions from the Bay of Brest during the whole tidal cycle. They found that the underwater CO₂ emissions due to respiration and calcification of C. gigas were greater, per unit of area, than the estimated CO₂ production for the entire bay, but that aerial respiration was negligible (Lejart et al., 2012). They did not, however, take into account the emission of CO₂ resulting indirectly as a result of the influence of C. gigas on the sediment. The rate of increase and the potential effects of rising CO_2 levels have received much attention (Raich and Schlesinger, 1992; Sala et al., 2000), but recently researchers have focused on the potential effects of increased CH_4 emissions (Wuebbles and Hayhoe, 2002) and this is the first study to estimate the effect of an invasive bivalve on CH₄ emissions. Since the industrial revolution, atmospheric CH₄ concentration has been steadily increasing by 1% yr $^{-1}$ and its relative increase since preindustrial times is about 150 % compared to 35 % for CO₂ (Upton et al., 2000). Methane is the second most abundant carbon based atmospheric gas (Galand, 2004), and is considered to be 20 times more effective as a greenhouse gas than CO_2 (IPCC, 2007). At larger scales, greater emissions of greenhouse gases arising indirectly due to C. gigas and

other species with similar impacts, could contribute to global warming (Houghton, 2001; Karl and Trenberth, 2003) and should be taken into account for climatic change models.

Even at low levels of cover C. gigas can alter ecosystem level processes such as decomposition and nutrient cycling. Rapid decomposition could lead to more rapid nutrient cycling, which could facilitate higher levels of primary production within the estuary, as was seen at the highest cover of C. gigas. The assemblage structure and diversity of microbes involved in decomposition were also altered by C. gigas, possibly leading to further changes in decomposition, nutrient cycling and nutrient retention within the system (Pedersen et al., 1999; Naeem et al., 2000). Further research is required to assess to what extent changes in microbial assemblages affect ecosystem processes. Now that it is evident that there are effects of C. gigas on microbial assemblages, the use of more detailed techniques is warranted. For example, approaches focusing on functional genomics, such as metatranscriptomics on mRNA-based massive parallel sequencing, may provide detailed information on microbial processes involved within the sediment. Investigation of microbial responses to invasions can illuminate the mechanisms underpinning functional changes induced by biological invasions. This can be aided by experiments manipulating a range of invader percentage covers or densities, helping to develop quantitative estimates of future effects and therefore aid in making decisions about appropriate management or mitigation actions. This research was achieved by interdisciplinary collaborations involving ecologists, biogeochemists and microbiologists. Such an approach is necessary to advance knowledge of the important functional roles played by microbes in biogeochemical processes, and to understand how they may be impacted directly and indirectly by other anthropogenic stressors.

Chapter VI - General Discussion

Three field experiments were done in which the percentage cover of Crassostrea gigas (Thunberg, 1793) was manipulated to test effects on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning in different habitats. The nature and magnitude of many of these effects were dependent on the environmental context, including the type of habitat and the abundance of C. gigas. In boulder-fields, C. gigas inhibited the establishment of Sabellaria alveolata (Linnaeus, 1767), thereby threatening the establishment of a protected biogenic habitat (Chapter II). Several organisms, such as Fucus vesiculosus (Linnaeus, 1767), Littorina littorea (Linnaeus, 1758) and Elminius modestus (Darwin, 1854) were consistently facilitated by C. gigas regardless of the type of habitat. In boulder-fields, most of these effects were due to the physical structure of C. gigas rather than its biological activities. Although generally C. gigas increased biodiversity in all three habitats examined, biodiversity decreased at the highest cover of C. gigas in mussel beds at Lough Swilly (Chapter III). Using an interdisciplinary approach, this research was the first to experimentally assess the effects of C. gigas on ecosystem functioning. Similar to the effects on biodiversity, the turnover rate of some important nutrients also decreased at high levels of cover of C. gigas, whilst community respiration increased (Chapters IV and V). Potential mechanisms for this were assessed using a novel approach in which the link between the effects of C. gigas on microbial assemblages and ecosystem functioning were explored (Chapter V). The increase in community respiration was mostly attributable to an increase in microbial activity with high cover of C. gigas. Figure 30 shows a summary of the potential ways in which the addition of a high cover of C. gigas altered ecosystem processes involved with the decomposition of organic matter. The assemblage structure and composition of some functional groups of microbes were also altered by C. gigas but this could not account for any of the differences in process rates.

6.1 Context-dependency of impacts of invasions

It is a common assertion that the impacts of invasive species strongly depend on the spatial and temporal scales of analysis, the type of habitat and on the abundance and size of the invader (Carlsson and Bronmark, 2006; Padilla, 2010; Thomsen et al., 2011b). For instance, the nature and magnitude of their effects can vary at small (Ceccherelli and Campo, 2002) and large (Bulleri et al., 2010) spatial scales, between seasons (Heiman and Micheli, 2010) and over years (Phillips and Shine, 2005). Space and time have no inherent causality in themselves, rather, it is the biotic and abiotic conditions of the environment that determines the nature and magnitude of impacts at any place or time (Levine et al., 2003; Catford et al., 2009; Thomsen et al., 2011b). The characteristics of invaded systems, including the composition of native communities and the physical and chemical composition of the habitat, can regulate the impacts of invasive ecosystem engineering on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning (Queiros et al., 2011). Moreover, effects may be more pervasive if the invasive species provides novel habitat, since native species would share little to no evolutionary history with the species providing the habitat (Byers et al., 2010). Therefore, the impact of an invasive ecosystem engineer depends on the existence or otherwise of native ecosystem engineers and on their function (Padilla, 2010). For example, if a native ecosystem engineer is present and performs similar engineering functions as the invader, then the impacts are likely to involve a change in the magnitude or character of these effects, but may not be substantial. Alternatively, if a native ecosystem engineer is absent or performs different engineering functions from the invader, then the impacts of the invader are likely to be more fundamental. In the current research, the effects of C. gigas were assessed in three different types of habitat: boulderfields, mud-flats and mussel-beds, representing a fairly comprehensive range of their potential intertidal inhabitance (Padilla, 2010). Some of the effects on biodiversity depended on the type of habitat, while others did not. Although biodiversity was increased by the presence of C. gigas in all three habitats, the magnitude of increase was greater for

mud-flats than for boulder-fields and mussel-beds (Chapters II and III). This could be due to the lack of hard substrata and typically lower habitat complexity in mud-flats, compared to rocky shores or mussel-beds, which is increased by the arrival of C. gigas. Indeed, similar to findings in this thesis, the effects of C. aigas have previously been identified as context-dependent, varying with the type of substratum and the presence of native ecosystem engineers (Padilla, 2010). For example, the effects of C. gigas on Si(OH)₄ cycling differed in direction between the habitats. The highest covers of C. gigas caused greater retention of Si(OH)₄ in mussel-beds but the opposite occurred in mud-flats (Chapter IV). This is probably due to the greater abundance of filter-feeders (mussels and C. gigas) in mussel-beds which deposit $Si(OH)_4$ bound in biodeposits. There were also some differences between locations. For example biodiversity decreased with the highest cover of C. gigas in mussel-beds at Lough Swilly, but was unchanged at Lough Foyle (Chapter III). This could be due to differences in numerous environmental variables, such as the age and size of mussel-beds (O'Connor and Crowe, 2007), nutrient loading (Korpinen et al., 2007) wave exposure (Tuya and Haroun, 2006) or tidal regime (McQuaid and Lindsay, 2005) all which can alter the abundance and distribution of species.

Along with spatial and temporal variability, non-linear dynamics contribute substantially to the complexity of ecological systems (Koch et al., 2009). It is often assumed that ecological properties, interactions or processes are provided linearly (unvaryingly, at a steady rate), but many are non-linear, characterised by erratic shifts and asymptotes (Nicolis and Prigogine, 1989). This can greatly complicate the estimation of the current impacts of invasive species, let alone the extrapolation of future impacts (Parker et al., 1999). The effects of different levels of cover of *C. gigas* on biodiversity and ecosystem processes in the current research were often non-linear, for example, biodiversity and the concentration of TOxN were greatest at low levels of invasion with no clearly defined pattern at greater levels (Chapters III and V).

The impacts of other invasive species, such as earthworms (Straube et al., 2009), shrubs (Elgersma and Ehrenfeld, 2011) and aquatic algae (White and Shurin, 2011) on biotic and abiotic properties of ecosystems can also be non-linear with respect to invader abundance. Nevertheless, there are few studies which have explicitly examined the effects of invasive species across a gradient of invasion (Thomsen et al., 2011a), as most studies tend to examine "worst case scenarios", contrasting heavily invaded with uninvaded sites. This leaves the question of how ecosystems respond to low levels of invasion unanswered, and in fact, very little is known about the impact of invaders at low abundances (Elgersma and Ehrenfeld, 2011).

Yokomizo et al. (2009) demonstrated that the cost of falsely assuming a linear abundanceimpact relationship can be substantial, especially when the true abundance-impact relationship exhibits an ecological threshold effect. Ecological thresholds are critical values of independent variables (such as invader abundance) after which there are abrupt changes to an ecosystem process or property (Groffman et al., 2006). For example, ecological thresholds of 75 % cover have been identified for invasive plants due to rapid declines in species richness above this cover (Gooden et al., 2009). In the current research, some responses appeared to reach a threshold at medium levels of cover. For example, there was a marked increase in the flux and turnover rate of NH₄⁺ with medium cover of C. gigas in mussel-beds and mud-flats (Chapter IV). Marinelli and Williams (2003) also found the greatest flux of NH_4^+ with medium densities of another bivalve, Macoma balthica (Linnaeus, 1758), and could not find a satisfactory explanation for this. Similarly, Callier et al. (2009) found non-linear and ecological threshold effects on NH₄⁺ flux with different densities of mussels, and were also unable to resolve the mechanisms for this. Environmental managers have a pressing need for information about ecological thresholds because of the potentially negative consequences of exceeding them, which in some circumstances can be irreversible (Groffman et al., 2006). Consequently, there is a need

for empirical information that will help assess the position of ecological thresholds and to aid in the development of predictive tools (Muradian, 2001). If ecological thresholds exist, then such information would be useful for prioritising management intervention at sites where negative impacts are likely to be greatest.

The physical conditions of the environment can also alter the physical or biological characteristic of organisms (Denny, 1999) and thereby may alter their impacts (Parker et al., 1999). This was the first research to find a decrease in macrofaunal diversity associated with C. gigas. This occurred at the highest cover (100 %) in mussel beds, which represented a density of 240 individuals per m², which is similar to densities of invasive C. gigas found elsewhere (Wrange et al., 2010) and could realistically become established in Ireland. In fact, this density has been greatly surpassed in some other parts of the world such as the Wadden Sea in The Netherlands (Markert et al., 2010), but with no associated decrease in biodiversity. This may be due to differences in body size and / or shape. In Markert et al. (2010), the biomass of oysters per m² was similar to that of the current study, suggesting that the oysters used in our study had a larger average biomass. The shape and size of oysters can vary considerably depending on the type of substratum they are on and on their density (Seed, 1968; Quayle, 1988) and may alter their effect on the receiving environment. Evidence from the current study suggests that, on rocky shores at least, the effects of C. gigas on biodiversity may be due to its physical structure rather than the biological activities. Further research is needed, however, to determine whether the physical condition, in terms of body size, shape and packing arrangements of C. gigas alters their impact (Carlsson and Bronmark, 2006) and how these effects differ may vary in different habitats.

6.2 Effects of invasive species on biogeochemical pathways and processes

Earth is essentially a biogeochemically closed system (with the exception of radiation from

the sun and the introduction of materials by meteorites) and most elements processed by living organisms are recycled through the processes of birth, growth, death and decay (Ogunseitan, 2005). Biogeochemical cycling is a complex and fundamentally important ecological process which is largely driven by microbes. Microbes contribute disproportionately to the stimulation and continuation of important biogeochemical processes and are termed the "biological catalysts" of element cycling, accelerating some processes up to 10²⁰-fold relative to non-biological reaction rates (Jørgensen, 2000). The effects of invasive species on microbial assemblage structure and processes is, therefore, of fundamental importance to ecosystem functioning and has been investigated in terrestrial (van der Putten et al., 2007) and freshwater habitats (Angeloni et al, 2006), but has received less attention in marine habitats.

Microbes are difficult to characterise and the majority of them cannot be cultured (Torsvik et al., 1998; McCaig et al., 2001), therefore there may be a bias if assessments of microbial diversity are based only on cultured microbes (Tiedje et al., 1999). Molecular techniques, such as PCR of evolutionary conserved genes (for example, 16S rRNA) combined with terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism, are faster and provide better information on microbial assemblages and diversity than culture-based approaches (Θ vreås and Torsvik, 1998). In addition, the ability of PCR-based techniques to target specific genes that play specific roles in an ecosystem process (such as the gene that encodes for an enzyme resulting in the production of methane) allows insight into the functional diversity of microbes. It is important to remember, however, that fragment lengths obtained from terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism are only indicative of a species, as different species may have closely related sequences or some species may have several different rDNA sequences (Ranjard et al., 2001). Therefore, conclusive species names cannot be assigned and the data are regarded as a "fingerprint" of the

microbial community. Fingerprinting approaches can be made more sensitive by applying analysis of RNA rather than DNA. RNA, especially messenger RNA (mRNA), is considered a better indicator of metabolically active microbes than DNA. DNA can persist in the sediment after the death of an organism (Keer and Birch, 2003). RNA-based approaches have become more routine, however, extraction of mRNA from complex systems such as marine sediments may be difficult. Nevertheless, the validity of DNA-based approaches is still accepted, and fragment length profiles are valuable ways to track changes in microbial assemblages. Alternatively, second generation sequencing (e.g. pyrosequencing (Ronaghi and Elahi 2002; Hall 2007) is increasingly being used. This typically can lead to extremely complex and extensive datasets to analyse, with equally demanding computation power and skills (Hall 2007). Furthermore, these types of analyses currently are very costly, which would restrict the ability to have enough replication in experiments. In the following decades, however, the costs of second generation sequencing are expected to decrease substantially, similar to the trend that happened to terminal restriction length polymorphism during the last decades (Stres, 2006).

Ascertaining the effects of invasive species on biogeochemical processes and properties is further complicated by the fact that, even for very well studied systems, the mechanistic interactions that lead to changes in nutrient pools are not fully understood (Hansen and Kristensen 1998, Kristensen and Kostka 2005). This is partly because the information on the role of different microbes is lacking. Improved knowledge of population, functional diversity and environmental controls of microbes could help resolve this issue (Ortega-Morales et al., 2010). It is known, however, that microbial communities are affected by the availability and quality of carbon sources (Wilms et al., 2006). Biodeposits produced by bivalves are rapidly colonised by microbes and are sites of great microbial activity (Yingst and Rhoads, 1980) requiring a high rate of oxygen consumption to decompose, and thus reducing the oxygen concentration in surface sediments (Bianchi, 2007). This, in turn,

could promote anaerobic processes, such as denitrification and ammonification, increasing the total removal of nitrogen from the system (Kristensen, 1988). Although there was no evidence of an increase in denitrification in the current research (Chapter IV), there was an increase in the concentration of TOxN in plots with the lowest cover of C. gigas, possibly indicating an increase in nitrification efficiency. This corresponded with a change in the assemblage structure of ammonia-oxidising microbes, however, whether or not this is a causal mechanism for the increase in TOxN is uncertain. Rodriguez-Caballero et al. (2012) explored whether differences in the community composition of ammonia-oxidisers corresponded to differences in the efficiency of ammonium removal and nitrification. They found that efficiency of processes was related to a shift in community composition related to organic matter loading. As in the current study, these mechanisms underlying these links could not be determined. It is possible that the addition of biodeposits from C. gigas may have altered the nature or strength of interactions between functional groups of microbes. A change in the supply rate or quality of organic sources can alter ecological interactions among different groups of microbes resulting in a change to their process rates (Okabe et al., 2005). Understanding of microbial community structure and composition continues to advance rapidly owing to the ongoing development and application of molecular methods (Wu et al., 2001). These techniques, coupled with appropriately designed experiments, will help to identify the links between microbial community composition, function and the stability of processes.



Figure 30. Conceptual model exemplifying some of the effects of *C. gigas* on biogeochemical processes in the oxic and anoxic layers of sediment. Part (a) represents organic matter cycling in a situation without *C. gigas* or any other dominant epifauna where organic matter settles passively. Part (b) represents organic matter cycling after the addition of high abundances of *C. gigas* where oysters actively filter phytoplankton from the water column and deposit it as biodeposits onto the sediment. The biomass of microphytobenthos (MPB) is enhanced by oysters and assimilates excess NH_4^+ . The decomposition of organic matter is increased with oysters leading to an increase in gaseous carbon emissions. (The thickness of the arrows represents the magnitude of the flux).

6.3 Links between microbial and macrobiotic biodiversity and ecosystem functioning The current research also found several alterations to biodiversity and assemblage composition (Chapters I, II, III and V), which may result in further alterations to ecosystem services (Hooper et al., 2005; Worm et al., 2006). The functional consequences of some aspects of biodiversity, however, are still little understood. The influence of the biodiversity of macro-biota in mediating ecosystem functions, such as nutrient cycling, has been well established (Emmerson et al., 2001; Mermillod-Blondin et al., 2005). On the contrary, the interaction between microbial biodiversity and ecosystem functioning is largely unexplored (Prosser et al. 2007). For example, C. gigas altered the assemblage composition of methanogens, but it is not known how this might alter their ability to produce methane. Indeed the effects of alterations to community composition of microbes in general are little understood (Allison and Martiny, 2008). Investigation of specific microbial functional groups coupled with measurements of ecosystem processes, as undertaken in the current research, is fundamental in establishing a mechanistic understanding of how the effect of invaders may indirectly alter nutrient cycling through their effects on microbial assemblages. However, the current research cannot separate the direct effects of C. gigas on microbes from the indirect effects from changes to macro-biota biodiversity induced by C. gigas. For instance, in Chapter III, the biodiversity and abundance of macro-biota was changed by C. gigas. Macro-biota in sediments, particularly those which redistribute particles or fluids through bioturbation or bioirrigation, can alter the availability of organic matter (Levin et al., 1997), the position of the oxic-anoxic interface (Forster and Graf, 1992) and the distribution of metabolic electron acceptors (Fanjul et al., 2007), thereby strongly influencing microbial communities and nutrient cycling (Chapter I). The current research confirmed that some of the functional changes to ecosystems caused by biological invasions are associated with the responses of microbes to invaders. For example, an increase in microbial activity or biomass was linked with an increase in

community respiration (Chapter V). Whether this occurred directly from the influence of biodeposits, or indirectly via changes to macro-biota induced by *C. gigas* cannot be determined in the current work. Indeed, there is a critical knowledge gap regarding how the interactions between multiple abiotic and multi-trophic biotic factors (both in terms of microbes and macro-biota) vary under the influence of anthropogenic stressors, such as invasive species, and link to observed levels of ecosystem functioning (Gilbertson et al., 2012).

There is also a lack of information regarding the functional consequences of a loss of β diversity, which decreased with the highest cover of *C. gigas* (Chapter III). Despite increasing awareness that β -diversity quantifies fundamental aspects of spatial biodiversity, it has received comparatively limited attention, particularly in marine environments (Gray, 2000). As with alpha diversity, loss of β -diversity may also imply loss of function (Chapin et al. 2000) and, as such, β -diversity is thought to be important in sustaining ecosystem services (Sekercioglu, 2010). Its functional consequences are largely unknown, but limited research indicates that greater β -diversity may increase the stability of ecosystems (France and Duffy, 2006). Although a reduction in β -diversity with the highest cover of *C. gigas* was correlated with a change in ecosystem processes, the current work cannot separate the effects of α -diversity (which also declined) from β diversity, nor can it unravel whether changes to biodiversity altered ecosystem functioning or the other way around (Chapter IV).

The effects of invasive species on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning can be caused directly by the invader or indirectly, mediated through other organisms with cascading effects on ecosystem processes. Some of the alterations to ecosystem processes observed in Chapter V, likely resulted indirectly from changes to microbial processes which were altered by increased biodeposition by *C. gigas*. This has also been proposed as the

mechanism by which invasive Zebra mussels, *Dreissena polymorpha* (Pallas, 1771), alter freshwater ecosystem functioning (Gergs et al., 2009). Moreover, facilitation of algae at high levels of cover of *C. gigas* is proposed to have reduced sediment NH₄⁺ fluxes in Chapters IV and V. Indeed, the indirect effects of invaders are likely to contribute substantially to their overall effects on ecosystems, but are understudied (White et al., 2006). The effects of invaders can be influenced by complex feedbacks between invaders, their environment and the species present in the receiving environment (Wootton, 1994; Elgersma and Ehrenfeld, 2011). Further experimental research is required to disentangle these feedbacks.

6.4 Potential effects of C. gigas on ecosystem services

Coastal ecosystems are highly productive and have been a main focal point of human settlement and exploitation because they comprise a rich array of social, economic and environmental resources supplying many ecosystem services (Gray, 1997; Lotze et al., 2006). The current research found evidence for the alteration of several supporting services, including decomposition, nutrient cycling and primary productivity, with potential cascading effects on provisioning services (Chapters IV and V). For example, changes to NH₄⁺ and Si(OH)₄ fluxes, observed in Chapters IV and V, on a larger scale may affect the abundance, biomass and specific composition of primary producers thereby altering the estuarine carrying capacity (Baudinet et al., 1990; Ragueneau et al., 2002; Rocha et al., 2002). Similar responses have been hypothesised in relation to farmed bivalves (Christensen et al., 2003; Richard et al., 2007; Callier et al., 2009). With the rapid expansion of aquaculture, a provisioning ecosystem service, in recent decades (Naylor et al., 2000), assessing the carrying capacities of bays, loughs or estuaries has become an important task.

Ecosystem models have become a widely used tool to describe the interactions between

the ecosystem and fish or shellfish farms (McKindsey et al., 2006). These models seek to answer the following question: what is the maximum standing stock the ecosystem can support without threatening the sustainability of human activities? Some specifically couple complex ecological models with physiological parameters for filter feeders (Ferreira et al., 2008), while others focus on trophic networks and the mass balance (Leloup et al., 2008). Recently, the inclusion of wild populations of native and invasive filter-feeders, and their contribution to benthic nutrient fluxes, has vastly improved carrying capacity estimates (Sequeira et al., 2008; Cugier et al., 2010).

Benthic nutrient (re)mineralisation can provide up to 80 % of the nutrients required for primary production in coastal ecosystems (Jensen et al., 1990; Giles et al., 2006). A change in the rate of supply of organic matter, such as an increase in biodeposition, can alter nutrient cycling at the sediment-water interface with cascading effects for the pelagic environment. Dense populations of bivalves, particularly oysters, can control and limit the standing stock of phytoplankton in the water column (Gibbs et al., 2005). This has the potential to affect not only aquaculture production, but also natural assemblages of filter feeders through food depletion and through alteration of the average size of inorganic particulate matter and species of phytoplankton and zooplankton available for other consumers (Pietros and Rice, 2003). It is also important to note that although oysters deplete phytoplankton, this loss may be offset by the release of dissolved nutrients from the (re)mineralisation of their biodeposits, which can stimulate phytoplankton production (Pietros and Rice, 2003). The current research suggests, however, that high abundances of C. gigas may hamper the ability of sediments to mediate their effects in this way, since it is likely that in these situations the nutrients are either buried or become assimilated into benthic primary production rather than pelagic (Chapter IV). The magnitude of effects on carrying capacity depends on several factors, including the total extent and identity of bivalves, the intensity of aquaculture, seasonal variability of phytoplankton, topography,

local hydrodynamics and flushing characteristics in an estuary (Forrest, 1991; Gibbs et al., 2005).

6.5 Future directions and recommendations

The current research indicates that at low abundances, C. gigas can increase biodiversity with minimal impacts on ecosystem functioning. Beyond low abundances, however, C. gigas can pose a considerable threat to native biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. In the current study, they have been shown to negatively impact the establishment of a protected biogenic habitat (S. alveolata reefs). At its highest cover, C. gigas can decrease biodiversity, increase the homogenisation of habitats, increase the emission of gaseous carbon and decrease the turnover rate of important limiting nutrients, possibly leading to a reduction in provisioning services, such as aquaculture production. Action should be taken at an early stage to restrict the spread of C. gigas in Ireland before dense reefs are formed. The task would already be very challenging, but if large populations become established, the challenge would be far greater. At present, feral populations are being harvested (F. O'Beirn, pers. comm.), which will contribute considerably to their control and should be encouraged. However, this would cease to be done if populations become too dense: once they have formed dense reefs, they are not harvested commercially because individuals with distorted shells have limited value. Furthermore, C. gigas impacted biodiversity and S. alveolata even when dead, albeit to a lesser extent, so management action should include removal of dead shells where feasible.

This research assessed the effects of an invasive species on six ecosystem processes and has simultaneously assessed the changes to biodiversity and assemblage structure and composition of macro-biota and microbes. By measuring multiple, rather than single, ecosystem processes in order to estimate the effects on ecosystem functioning, the current research (Chapters IV and V) complies with recent recommendations in biodiversity and ecosystem functioning research (Gamfeldt, 2008; Naeem et al., 2009). The use of single processes to assess ecosystem functioning may ignore other important ecosystem processes (Rosenfeld, 2002). Therefore, equating single processes with overall functioning can be misleading, especially if research ultimately aims to inform management and conservation. The overall effect for society cannot be adequately estimated without considering a range of ecosystem services. In addition, different elements of biodiversity may contribute to different processes (Gamfeldt, 2008) so it is important to measure different species, functional groups or genotypes of micro and macro organisms (Chapin et al., 1997).

This research was facilitated by taking an interdisciplinary approach involving ecology, biogeochemistry and molecular biology. It stands to reason that complex environmental issues involving interactions and interfaces with multiple disciplines require multidisciplinary research for their solution. Recognition of the need to pursue interdisciplinary approaches in order to manage and conserve natural habitats is not new (Hilborn and Ludwig, 1993), but in many cases, it is still lacking (Sievanen et al., 2011). Future studies on the impacts of invasive species, or indeed any environmental stressor, would benefit from such an approach. This research cannot provide generality beyond C. gigas, because it did not examine a suite of invasive species across a suite of locations and times. It does suggest, however, that the degree of impact and the abundance of the invader do not always correspond to one another, highlighting the need to quantify the relationship between abundance and impact in other invasive species. This work also identified ecological thresholds in response to invasion by C. gigas. Ecological thresholds do not exist in all systems and even when they do, it remains very difficult to incorporate their, often non-linear, dynamics into predictive models (Scheffer and Carpenter, 2003). Thus, future work involving ecologists, economists and ecosystem modellers is required in

order to improve understanding and knowledge of these complex effects.

The effects of invasive species will also depend on how the invader becomes established, for example, some species establish gradually whilst others establish high densities initially and then decline and stabilise over time, otherwise known as a boom and bust scenario (Parker et al., 1999). This matters because it is possible that the system being invaded will adjust to the invaders' impacts over time. Therefore, future research which experimentally increases abundances of invaders either gradually, or in a fluctuating manner to simulate natural situations, will expose the system to a more realistic invasion process and may yield more realistic results.

6.6 Concluding remarks

These experiments have provided important insight into the potential impacts of invasive species on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning using a novel interdisciplinary approach. It was demonstrated that *C. gigas* can threaten the establishment of a protected biogenic habitat, change biodiversity and alter important ecosystem processes. At its highest cover *C. gigas* can decrease biodiversity, increase the homogenisation of habitats, increase the emission of gaseous carbon and decrease the turnover rate of important limiting nutrients, possibly leading to a reduction in provisioning services, such as aquaculture production.

Invasive species are continuing to proliferate due to human activities (Vitousek et al., 1997) and their impacts on ecosystems are increasingly altering biodiversity and ecosystem functioning on a global scale (Grosholz, 2005; MEA, 2005). It is important to remember that the effects of invasive species depend on their density and the nature of their receiving environment (Thomsen et al., 2011b) and that not all invasive species cause negative effects (Colautti and MacIsaac, 2004). In addition, the costs of mitigation and

management are substantial (Olson, 2006). It is, therefore, vital to carefully ascertain the nature and magnitude of the potential effects of invaders, across a range of different environmental contexts, in order to justify the monetary costs of control. Of course, the costs of failing to mitigate invaders can also be great, especially if they result in the deterioration of ecosystem services (Pejchar and Mooney, 2009; Vilá et al., 2010). If the loss to biodiversity and ecosystem services due to invasive species is to be mitigated or prevented, more interdisciplinary research is required to aid in development of appropriate management strategies.

Appendices

Appendix 1. Species list detailing taxa found on experimental boulders with control (a) and different covers of living (b, c, d = 5, 50 and 100 % cover) and dead (e, f, g, = 5, 50 and 100% cover) oysters at Lough Swilly for combined sampling times and treatments (Chapter II), all = where taxa occurred in all treatments.

Kingdom	Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Genus	Species	Occurence
Plantae	Heterokontophyt	Phaeophyceae	Fucales	Fucaceae	Fucus	vesiculosus	all
	Rhodophyta	Rhodophyceae	Ceramiales	Rhodomelaceae	Laurencia		а
Animalia	Annelida	Polychaeta	Canalipalpata	Serpulidae	Pomatoceros	triqueter	all
			Phyllodocida	Nephtyidae	Nephtys		а
			-	Phyllodocidae	Phyllodoce	lamelligera	f
				Polynoidae	-	-	all
			Sabellida	Serpulidae			bdg
				Spirorbidae	Spirorbis	spirorbis	all
			Terebellida	Sabellariidae	Sabellaria	alveolata	all
	Bryozoa	Gymnolaemata	Cheilostomata	Membraniporida	Conopeum	seurati	all
	Chordata	Ascidiacea	Enterogona	Ascidiidae	Ascidia	conchilega	all
			0		Ascidia	mentula	abcfg
				Cionidae	Ciona	intestinalis	all
				Styelidae	Botryllus	schlosseri	abcdeg
	Cnidaria	Anthozoa	Actiniaria	Actiniidae	Actinia	equina	all
					Anemonia	viridis	cg
	Crustacea	Cirripedia	Sessilia	Balanidae	Elminius	modestus	all
		Malacostraca	Decapoda	Paguridae	Pagurus	bernhurdas	g
			•	Portunidae	Carcinus	maenas	abcdfg
			Isopoda	Janiridae			abcdf
	Echinodermata	Asteroidea	Forcipulatida	Asteriidae	Asterias	rubens	а
		Echinoidea	I				be
		Ophiuroidea					adg
	Mollusca	Bivalvia	Mvtiloida	Mvtilidae	Mvtilus	edulis	а
			Ostreoida	Ostreidae	Crassostrea	aiaas	all
				Pectinidae	Chlamys	varia	all
	Mollusca	Gastropoda	Caenogastropod	Cerithiidae	Bittium	reticulatum	all
			Hypsogastropoda	Turritellidae	Turritella		f
			Opistobranchia				а
				Zephyrinidae	Janolus	cristatus	а
				Littorinidae	Littorina	littorea	all

				Littorina	obtusata	abcg
			Muricidae	Nucella	lapillus	all
			Patellidae	Patella	vulgata	all
				Patella	depressa	all
			Trochidae	Gibbula	umbilicalis	all
Mollusca	Polyplacophor	Chitonida	Lepidochitonidae	Lepidochiton	cinerea	all
Porifera	Demospongiae	Halichondrida	Halichondriidae	Halichondria	panicea	ag

Appendix 2. Species list detailing taxa found in experimental plots of different % cover at Lough Foyle in mussel-beds (a, b, c, d = 0, 5, 50 and 100 % cover) and mud-flats (e, f, g, h = 0, 5, 50 and 100 % cover) and at Lough Swilly mussel-beds (i, j, k, I = 0, 5, 50 and 100 % cover) and mud-flats (m, n, o, p = 0, 5, 50 and 100 % cover) for combined times and treatments (Chapter III), all = where taxa occurred in all treatments.

Kingdom	Phylum	Class	Order	Family	Genus	Species	Occurrence
Plantae	Heterokontophyta	Phaeophyceae	Fucales	Fucaceae	Fucus	vesiculosus	ijklnop
	Rhodophyta	Florideophyceae	Ceramiales	Ceramiaceae	Ceranium	rubrum	bcn
		Rhodophyceae	Ceramiales	Rhodomelaceae	Laurencia		а
Animalia	Annelida	Hirudinea					а
		Oligochaeta					all
			Haplotaxida	Tubificidae	Tubificoides	benedii	abcdefgijklnop
		Polychaeta	Aciculata	Amphinomidae			ijklmp
		-		Hesionidae			efghijklmnop
				Nereidae	Nereis		defghijklmnop
					Nereis	diversicolor	all
			Canalipalpata	Ampharetidae			ijklmp
				Serpulidae	Pomatoceros	triqueter	bhijklm
			Eunicida	Eunicidae			go
			Phyllodocida	Aphroditidae			g
				Glyceridae	Glycera		bdefghijlmop
					Glycera	tridactyla	jkl
				Nephtyidae	Nephtys		befghm
				Phyllodocidae			bcdefghijklmnop
					Phyllodoce	lamelligera	bginop
				Polynoidae			adfghjknop
				Syllidae			eghn
			Spionida	Spionidae			all
					Polydora	ciliata	dgo
					Prionospio	fallax	abehijklmnp
			Terebellida	Cirratulidae			bdefghjklno
				Capitellidae	Capitella	capitata	abcdefghijklnop
				Orbiniidae			all
					Scoloplos	armiger	all
	Bryozoa	Gymnolaemata	Cheilostomata	Membraniporidae	Conopeum	seurati	abcdfghijklnop
	Chordata	Thaliacea					f
	Crustacea	Cirripedia	Sessilia	Balanidae	Elminius	modestus	ei
		Copepoda	Harpacticoida				all

	Eumalacostraca	Amphipoda	Corophiidae Ischyroceridae	Corophium Siphonoecetes	volutator striatus	abcdeghijklmp abcdefghjkmn acdefghjilmpop
	Malacostraca	Amphipoda	Caprelloidea	Pariambus	typicus	bdfh
		Cumacea				mo
		Decapoda	Crangonidae			e
			Paguridae	Pagurus	bernhurdas	ah
			Portunidae	Carcinus	maenas	all
		Isopoda	Janiridae			abcdefghijklnop
Echinodermata	Holothuroidea					ijko
Mollusca	Bivalvia	Myoida	Myidae	Mya	arenaria	ijklmnop
		Mytiloida	Mytilidae	Mytilus	edulis	abcdhijklmnop
		Veneroida	Cardiidae	Cerastoderma	edule	abijkmno
			Pectinidae	Chlamys	varia	р
			Tellinidae	Macoma	balthica	abcdefghijklmo
			Veneridae	Tapes	rhomboides	coikmno
	Gastropoda	Caenogastropoda	Cerithiidae	Bittium	reticulatum	ijklmnop
			Hydrobiidae	Hydrobia	ulvae	ek
			Littorinidae	Littorina	littorea	abcdfghijklmnop
				Littorina	obtusata	jko
				Littorina	saxatalis	ijkinop
			Muricidae	Nucella	lapillus	bcijklmnop
			Patellidae	Patella	vulgata	ijkinop
			Trochidae	Gibbula	cineraria	knop
		.		Gibbula	umbilicalis	dklop
	Polyplacophora	Chitonida	Lepidochitonidae	Lepidochitona	cinerea	ijkimnop
Nematoda						all
 Porifera	Demospongiae	Halichondrida	Halichondriidae	Halichondria	panicea	ко

References

Albrecht AS (1998) Soft bottom versus hard rock: Community ecology of macroalgae on intertidal mussel beds in the Wadden Sea. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 229: 85-109

Aldridge DC, Elliott P, Moggridge GD (2004) The recent and rapid spread of the zebra mussel (*Dreissena polymorpha*) in Great Britain. Biological Conservation 119: 253-261

Alef K, Nannipieri P (Eds) (1995) Methods in Applied Soil Microbiology and Biochemistry. Academic Press, Hartcourt. Brace and Company Publishers.

Allison SD, Martiny JBH (2008) Resistance, resilience, and redundancy in microbial communities. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105: 11512-11519

Alpine AE, Cloern JE (1992) Trophic interactions and direct physical effects control phytoplankton biomass and production in an estuary. Limnology and Oceanography 37: 946-955

Altieri AH, van Wesenbeeck BK, Bertness MD, Silliman BR (2010) Facilitation cascade drives positive relationship between native biodiversity and invasion success. Ecology 91: 1269-1275

Aminot A, Rey F (2000) Standard procedure for the determination of chlorophyll a by spectroscopic methods. International Council for the Exploration of the Sea: 17 pp

Anderson MJ (2001) A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. Austral Ecology 26: 32-46

Anderson MJ (2003) DISTLM forward: a FORTRAN computer program to calculate a distance-based multivariate analysis for a linear model using forward selection. Department of Statistics, University of Auckland, New Zealand

Anderson MJ (2006) Distance-based tests for homogeneity of multivariate dispersions. Biometrics 62: 245-253

Anderson MJ, Crist TO, Chase JM, Vellend M, Inouye BD, Freestone AL, Sanders NJ, Cornell HV, Comita LS, Davies KF, Harrison SP, Kraft NJB, Stegen JC, Swenson NG (2011) Navigating the multiple meanings of beta diversity: a roadmap for the practicing ecologist. Ecology Letters 14: 19-28

Anderson MJ, Ellingsen KE, McArdle BH (2006) Multivariate dispersion as a measure of beta diversity. Ecology Letters 9: 683-693

Angeloni NL, Jankowski KJ, Tuchman NC, Kelly JJ (2006) Effects of an invasive cattail species (*Typha x glauca*) on sediment nitrogen and microbial community composition in a freshwater wetland. FEMS Microbiology Letters 263: 86-92

Arnott DL, Vanni MJ (1996) Nitrogen and phosphorus recycling by the zebra mussel

(*Dreissena polymorpha*) in the western basin of Lake Erie. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 53: 646-659

Askew CG (1972) The growth of oysters *Ostrea edulis* and *Crassostrea gigas* in Elmsworth Harbor. Aquaculture 1: 237-259

Ayres P (1991) Introduced Pacific Oysters in Australia. In: Sutherland J, Osman R (eds) The Ecology of *Crassostrea gigas* in Australia, New Zealand, France and Washington State. Maryland Sea Grant College: 3-7

Balvanera P, Pfisterer AB, Buchmann N, He JS, Nakashizuka T, Raffaelli D, Schmid B (2006) Quantifying the evidence for biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning and services. Ecology Letters 9: 1146-1156

Banta GT, Holmer M, Jensen MH, Kristensen E (1999) Effects of two polychaete worms, *Nereis diversicolor* and *Arenicola marina*, on aerobic and anaerobic decomposition in a sandy marine sediment. Aquatic Microbial Ecology 19: 189-204

Barshaw DE, Lavalli KL (1988) Predation upon postlarval lobsters *Homarus americanus* by *Cunners tautogolabrus adspersus* and mud crabs *Neopanope sayi* on 3 different substrates - eelgrass, mud and rocks. Marine Ecology Progress Series 48: 119-123

Bartol IK, Mann R, Luckenbach M (1999) Growth and mortality of oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*) on constructed intertidal reefs: effects of tidal height and substrate level. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 237: 157-184

Baudinet D, Alliot E, Berland B, Grenz C, Plantecuny MR, Plante R, Salenpicard C (1990) Incidence of mussel culture on biogeochemical fluxes at the sediment-water interface. Hydrobiologia 207: 187-196

Bax N, Williamson A, Aguero M, Gonzalez E, Geeves W (2003) Marine invasive alien species: a threat to global biodiversity. Marine Policy 27: 313-323

Bell T, Newman JA, Silverman BW, Turner SL, Lilley AK (2005) The contribution of species richness and composition to bacterial services. Nature 436: 1157-1160

Benedetti-Cecchi L, Cinelli F (1992) Effects of canopy cover, herbivores and substratum type on patterns of *Cystoseira* spp. settlement and recruitment in littoral rockpools. Marine Ecology Progress Series 90: 183-191

Bennett AE, Thomsen M, Strauss SY (2011) Multiple mechanisms enable invasive species to suppress native species. American Journal of Botany 98: 1086-1094

Berner RA (1980) Early Diagenesis. Princeton University Press: 265 pp

Bertness MD, Gaines, SD, Hay M (2001) Marine Community Ecology. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Massachusetts: 550 pp

Bially A, MacIsaac HJ (2000) Fouling mussels (*Dreissena* spp.) colonize soft sediments in Lake Erie and facilitate benthic invertebrates. Freshwater Biology 43: 85-97

Bianchi TS (2007) Biogeochemistry of Estuaries. Oxford University Press, New York: 720p

Biles CL, Solan M, Isaksson I, Paterson DM, Emes C, Raffaelli DG (2003) Flow modifies

the effect of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: an in situ study of estuarine sediments. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 285: 165-177

Blum LK, Roberts MS, Garland JL, Mills AL (2004) Distribution of microbial communities associated with the dominant high marsh plants and sediments of the United States east coast. Microbial Ecology 48: 375-388

Bouchet VMP, Debenay JP, Sauriau PG, Radford-Knoery J, Soletchnik P (2007) Effects of short-term environmental disturbances on living benthic foraminifera during the Pacific oyster summer mortality in the Marennes-Oleron Bay (France). Marine Environmental Research 64: 358-383

Bourne N (1979) Pacific oysters, *Crassostrea gigas* (Thunberg), in British Columbia and the South Pacific islands. In: Mann R (ed) Exotic Species in Mariculture. MIT Press, Boston: 33-53

Boxshall AJ (2000) The importance of flow and settlement cues to larvae of the abalone, *Haliotis rufescens* Swainson. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 254: 143-167

Boyer KE, Kertesz, Johanna S, Bruno JF (2009) Biodiversity effects on productivity and stability of marine macroalgal communities: the role of environmental context. Oikos 118: 1062-1072

Branch GM, Steffani CN (2004) Can we predict the effects of alien species? A case-history of the invasion of South Africa by *Mytilus galloprovincialis* (Lamarck). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 300: 189-215

Bray JR, Curtis JT (1957) An ordination of the upland forest communities of Southern Wisconsin. Ecological Monographs 27: 326-349

Brownlee EF, Sellner SG, Sellner KG, Nonogaki H, Adolf JE, Bachvaroff TR, Place AR (2008) Responses of *Crassostrea virginica* (Gmelin) and *C. ariakensis* (Fujita) to bloomforming phytoplankton including ichthyotoxic *Karlodinium veneficum* (Ballantine). Journal of Shellfish Research 27: 581-591

Brune A, Frenzel P, Cypionka H (2000) Life at the oxic-anoxic interface: microbial activities and adaptations. FEMS Microbiology Reviews 24: 691-710

Bruno JF, Bertness, MD (2001) Habitat modification and facilitation in benthic marine communities. In: Bertness MD, Hay ME, Gaines SD, Sunderland, MA (eds) Marine Community Ecology. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Massachusetts: 201-218

Bruno JF, Stachowicz JJ, Bertness MD (2003) Inclusion of facilitation into ecological theory. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 18: 119-125

Bulleri F, Balata D, Bertocci I, Tamburello L, Benedetti-Cecchi L (2010) The seaweed *Caulerpa racemosa* on Mediterranean rocky reefs: from passenger to driver of ecological change. Ecology 91: 2205-2212

Buschbaum C (2000) Direct and indirect effects of *Littorina littorea* (L.) on barnacles growing on mussel beds in the Wadden Sea. Hydrobiologia 440: 119-128

Butchart SHM, Walpole M, Collen B, van Strien A, Scharlemann JPW, Almond REA, Baillie

JEM, Bomhard B, Brown C, Bruno J, Carpenter KE, Carr GM, Chanson J, Chenery AM, Csirke J, Davidson NC, Dentener F, Foster M, Galli A, Galloway JN, Genovesi P, Gregory RD, Hockings M, Kapos V, Lamarque JF, Leverington F, Loh J, McGeoch MA, McRae L, Minasyan A, Morcillo MH, Oldfield TEE, Pauly D, Quader S, Revenga C, Sauer JR, Skolnik B, Spear D, Stanwell-Smith D, Stuart SN, Symes A, Tierney M, Tyrrell TD, Vie JC, Watson R (2010) Global biodiversity: Indicators of recent declines. Science 328: 1164-1168

Butman CA (1987) Larval settlement of soft-sediment invertebrates - the spatial scales of pattern explained by active habitat selection and the emerging role of hydrodynamical processes. Oceanography and Marine Biology 25: 113-165

Butman CA (1989) Sediment-trap experiments on the importance of hydrodynamical processes in distributing settling invertebrate larvae in near-bottom waters. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 134: 37-88

Butman CA, Grassle JP, Webb CM (1988) Substrate choices made by marine larvae settling in still water and in a flume flow. Nature 333: 771-773

Buttger H, Asmus H, Asmus R, Buschbaum C, Dittmann S, Nehls G (2008) Community dynamics of intertidal soft-bottom mussel beds over two decades. Helgoland Marine Research 62: 23-36

Byers JE (2000) Competition between two estuarine snails: implications for invasions of exotic species. Ecology 81: 1225-1239

Byers JE (2009) Competition in marine invasions In: Rilov G, Crooks JA (eds) Biological Invasions in Marine Ecosystems: Ecological, Management, and Geographic Perspectives. Springer-Verlag, Herdelberg: 245-260

Byers JE, Wright JT, Gribben PE (2010) Variable direct and indirect effects of a habitatmodifying invasive species on mortality of native fauna. Ecology 91: 1787-1798

Callier MD, Richard M, McKindsey CW, Archambault P, Desrosiers G (2009) Responses of benthic macrofauna and biogeochemical fluxes to various levels of mussel biodeposition: An in situ "benthocosm" experiment. Marine Pollution Bulletin 58: 1544-1553

Cardinale BJ, Srivastava DS, Duffy JE, Wright JP, Downing AL, Sankaran M, Jouseau C (2006) Effects of biodiversity on the functioning of trophic groups and ecosystems. Nature 443: 989-992

Carlsson NOL, Bronmark C (2006) Size-dependent effects of an invasive herbivorous snail (*Pomacea canaliculata*) on macrophytes and periphyton in Asian wetlands. Freshwater Biology 51: 695-704

Castel J, Labourg PJ, Escaravage V, Auby I, Garcia ME (1989) Influence of seagrass beds and oyster parks on the abundance and biomass patterns of meiobenthos and macrobenthos in tidal flats. Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science 28: 71-85

Catford JA, Roland J, Christer N (2009) Reducing redundancy in invasion ecology by integrating hypotheses into a single theoretical framework. Diversity and Distributions 15: 22-40

CBD (2012) Convention on Biological Diversity (www.cbd.int, accessed May 2012)

Ceccherelli G, Campo D (2002) Different effects of *Caulerpa racemosa* on two cooccurring seagrasses in the Mediterranean. Botanica Marina 45: 71-76

Chamberlain J, Fernandes TF, Read P, Nickell TD, Davies IM (2001) Impacts of biodeposits from suspended mussel (*Mytilus edulis* L.) culture on the surrounding surficial sediments. ICES Journal of Marine Science 58: 411-416

Chapin FS, Zavaleta ES, Eviner VT, Naylor RL, Vitousek PM, Reynolds HL, Hooper DU, Lavorel S, Sala OE, Hobbie SE, Mack MC, Diaz S (2000) Consequences of changing biodiversity. Nature 405: 234-242

Chapman MG (2005) Molluscs and echinoderms under boulders: Tests of generality of patterns of occurrence. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 325: 65-83

Chapman MG, Tolhurst TJ (2007) Patterns in biogeochemical properties of sediments and benthic animals among different habitats in mangrove forests. Austral Ecology 32: 775-788

Charles H, Dukes JS (2007) Impacts of invasive species on ecosystem services. In: Nentwig W (ed) Biological Invasions. Springer, Berlin: 217-237

Chauvaud L, Thompson JK, Cloern JE, Thouzeau G (2003) Clams as CO₂ generators: The *Potamocorbula amurensis* example in San Francisco Bay. Limnology and Oceanography 48: 2086-2092

Chew K (1990) Global bivalve shellfish introductions. World Aquaculture 21: 9-22

Chorus I, Bartram J (1999) Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water: a Guide to their Public Health Consequences, Monitoring and Management. Chapman & Hall, London: 416 pp

Christensen PB, Glud RN, Dalsgaard T, Gillespie P (2003) Impacts of longline mussel farming on oxygen and nitrogen dynamics and biological communities of coastal sediments. Aquaculture 218:567-588

Clarke KR (1993) Non-parametric multivariate analyses of changes in community structure. Australian Journal of Ecology 18: 117-143

Clarke KR, Warwick RM (2001) A further biodiversity index applicable to species lists: variation in taxonomic distinctness. Marine Ecology-Progress Series 216: 265-278

Clavero V, Izquierdo JJ, Fernandez JA, Niell FX (2000) Seasonal fluxes of phosphate and ammonium across the sediment-water interface in a shallow small estuary (Palmones River, southern Spain). Marine Ecology Progress Series 198: 51-60

Cochran WG (1947) Some consequences when the assumptions for the analysis of variance are not satisfied. Biometrics 3: 22-38

Cognie B, Haure J, Barille L (2006) Spatial distribution in a temperate coastal ecosystem of the wild stock of the farmed oyster *Crassostrea gigas* (Thunberg). Aquaculture 259: 249-259

Cohen AS (2003) Paleolimnology: The history and evolution of lake systems. Oxford University Press, New York: 500 pp

Colautti RI, MacIsaac HJ (2004) A neutral terminology to define 'invasive' species. Diversity and Distributions 10: 135-141

Commito JA, Boncavage EM (1989) Suspension-feeders and coexisting infauna - an enhancement counter example. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 125: 33-42

Commito JA, Celano EA, Celico HJ, Como S, Johnson CP (2005) Mussels matter: postlarval dispersal dynamics altered by a spatially complex ecosystem engineer. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 316: 133-147

Compton T (1990) Degenerate primers for DNA amplification. In: PCR Protocols: a Guide to Methods and Applications. (Eds.) Innis MA, Gelfand DH, Sninisky JJ, White TJ. San Diego, Academic Press: 38-45

Costanza R, de Arge R, de Groot R, Farber S, Grasso M, Hannon B, Limburg K, Naeem S, Oneill RV, Paruelo J, Raskin RG, Sutton P, vanden Belt M (1997) The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature 387: 253-260

Crooks JA (2002) Characterizing ecosystem-level consequences of biological invasions: the role of ecosystem engineers. Oikos 97: 153-166

Crooks JA, Khim HS (1999) Architectural vs. biological effects of a habitat-altering, exotic mussel, *Musculista senhousia*. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 240: 53-75

Crooks JA, Soule ME (1999) Lag times in population explosions of invasive species: Causes and implications. In: Sandlund OT, Schei PJ, Viken. Invasive Species and Biodiversity Management. Dordrecht, Netherlands 103–125

Cruz Motta JJ, Underwood AJ, Chapman MG, Rossi F (2003) Benthic assemblages in sediments associated with intertidal boulder-fields. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 285-286: 383-401

Cuddington K, Hastings A (2004) Invasive engineers. Ecological Modelling 178: 335-347

Cugier P, Struski C, Blanchard M, Mazurie J, Pouvreau S, Olivier F, Trigui JR, Thiebaut E (2010) Assessing the role of benthic filter feeders on phytoplankton production in a shellfish farming site: Mont Saint Michel Bay, France. Journal of Marine Systems 82: 21-34

Culloty SC, Favier E, Ni Riada M, Ramsay NF, O'Riordan RM (2010) Reproduction of the biogenic reef-forming honeycomb worm *Sabellaria alveolata* in Ireland. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 90: 503-507

Daily GC (1997) The potential impacts of global warming on managed and natural ecosystem: Implications for human well-being. Abstracts of Papers of the American Chemical Society 213: 12 pp

Daims H, Purkhold U, Bjerrum L, Arnold E, Wilderer PA, Wagner M (2001) Nitrification in sequencing biofilm batch reactors: Lessons from molecular approaches. Water Science and Technology 43: 9-18

Dame RF, Zingmark RG, Haskin E (1984) Oyster reefs as processors of estuarine materials. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 83: 239-247 Dame RF, Wolaver TG, Libes SM (1985) The summer uptake and release of nitrogen by an intertidal oyster reef. Netherlands Journal of Sea Research 19: 265-268

Dame RF (1996) Ecology of Marine Bivalves: An Ecosystem Approach. CRS Marine Series, CRC-Press: 272 pp

Dangremond EM, Pardini EA, Knight TM (2010) Apparent competition with an invasive plant hastens the extinction of an endangered lupine. Ecology 91: 2261-2271

Dayton PK (1975) Experimental evaluation of ecological dominance in a rocky intertidal algal community. Ecological Monographs 45: 137-159

Dedysh SN (2002) Methanotrophic bacteria of acidic Sphagnum peat bogs. Mlicrobiology 71(6): 638-650

del Giorgio PA, Williams, PJB (2005) Respiration in Aquatic Ecosystems. Oxford University Press: 315 pp

Denny MW (1999) Are there mechanical limits to size in wave-swept organisms? Journal of Experimental Biology 202: 3463–3467

Desroy N, Dubois SF, Fournier J, Ricquiers L, Le Mao P, Guerin L, Gerla D, Rougerie M, Legendre A (2011) The conservation status of *Sabellaria alveolata* (L.) (Polychaeta: Sabellariidae) reefs in the Bay of Mont-Saint-Michel. Aquatic Conservation Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 21: 462-471

Diederich S (2005) Differential recruitment of introduced Pacific oysters and native mussels at the North Sea coast: coexistence possible? Journal of Sea Research 53: 269-281

Diederich S (2006) High survival and growth rates of introduced Pacific oysters may cause restrictions on habitat use by native mussels in the Wadden Sea. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 328: 211-227

Diederich S, Nehls G, van Beusekom JEE, Reise K (2005) Introduced Pacific oysters (*Crassostrea gigas*) in the northern Wadden Sea: invasion accelerated by warm summers? Helgoland Marine Research 59: 97-106

Dinamani P (1991) Introduced Pacific oysters in New Zealand. In: Greer MC, Leffler JC (eds) The ecology of *Crassostrea gigas* in Australia, New Zealand, France and Washington State. Maryland Sea Grant College Program, College Park, Maryland: 9-12

Dobson EP, Mackie CL (1998) Increased deposition of organic matter, polychlorinated biphenyls, and cadmium by zebra mussels (*Dreissena polymorpha*) in western Lake Erie. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 55: 1131-1139

Doering PH, Oviatt CA, Kelly JR (1986) The effects of the filter-feeding clam *Mercenaria mercenaria* on carbon cycling in experimental marine mesocosms. Journal of Marine Research 44: 839-861

Drinkwaard AC (1999) Introductions and developments of oysters in the North Sea area: a

review. Helgoländer Meeresuntersuchungen 52: 301-308

Dubois S, Barille L, Retiere C (2003) Efficiency of particle retention and clearance rate in the polychaete *Sabellaria alveolata* (L). Comptes Rendus Biologies 326: 413-421

Dubois S, Commito JA, Olivier F, Retiere C (2006a) Effects of epibionts on *Sabellaria alveolata* (L.) biogenic reefs and their associated fauna in the Bay of Mont Saint-Michel. Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science 68: 635-646

Dubois S, Barille L, Cognie B, Beninger P (2006b) Feeding mechanism of the polychaete Sabellaria alveolata revisited: Reply to Riisgard & Nielsen (2006). Marine Ecology-Progress Series 328: 307-311

Dubois S, Barille L, Cognie B (2009) Feeding response of the polychaete Sabellaria *alveolata* (Sabellariidae) to changes in seston concentration. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 376: 94-101

Duffy JE, Macdonald KS, Rhode JM, Parker JD (2001) Grazer diversity, functional redundancy, and productivity in seagrass beds: An experimental test. Ecology 82: 2417-2434

Duffy JE (2009) Why biodiversity is important to the functioning of real-world ecosystems. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment. doi:10.1890/070195

Dukes JS, Mooney HA (2004) Disruption of ecosystem processes in western North America by invasive species. Revista Chilena de Historia Natural 77: 411-437

Eckman JE, Werner FE, Gross TF (1994) Modelling some effects of behaviour on larval settlement in a turbulent boundary-layer. Deep-Sea Research Part II -Topical Studies in Oceanography 41: 185-208

Edwards C, Hales BA, Hall GH (1998) Microbiological processes in the terrestrial carbon cycle: Methane cycling in peat. Atmospheric Environment 32(19): 3247-3255

Ehrenfeld JG (2003) Effects of exotic plant invasions on soil nutrient cycling processes. Ecosystems 6: 503-523

Ehrenfeld JG (2010) Ecosystem consequences of biological invasions. In: Futuyma DJ, Shafer HB, Simberloff D (eds) Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 41: 59-80

Eleftheriou A, McIntyre A (2005) Methods for the Study of Marine Benthos. Blackwell Science, Oxford: 418 pp

Elgersma KJ, Ehrenfeld JG (2011) Linear and non-linear impacts of a non-native plant invasion on soil microbial community structure and function. Biological Invasions 13: 757-768

Elliott MT and Taylor CSL (1989) The production ecology of the subtidal benthos of the Forth Estuary, Scotland. Scientia Marina 53: 531-541

Emmerson MC, Solan M, Emes C, Paterson DM, Raffaelli D (2001) Consistent patterns and the idiosyncratic effects of biodiversity in marine ecosystems. Nature 411:73-77
Endangered Species Act (2001) Stanford University Press: Stanford Environmental Law Society, 312 pp

Escapa M, Isacch JP, Daleo P, Alberti J, Iribarne O, Borges M, dos Santos EP, Gagliardini DA, Lasta M (2004) The distribution and ecological effects of the introduced Pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas* (Thunberg, 1793) in northern Patagonia. Journal of Shellfish Research 23: 765-772

Falk-Petersen J, Bohn T, Sandlund OT (2006) On the numerous concepts in invasion biology. Biological Invasions 8: 1409-1424

Fanjul E, Grela MA, Iribarne O (2007) Effects of the dominant SW Atlantic intertidal burrowing crab Chasmagnathus granulatus on sediment chemistry and nutrient distribution. Marine Ecology-Progress Series 341:177-190

Ferreira JG, Hawkins AJS, Monteiro P, Moore H, Service M, Pascoe PL, Ramos L, Sequeira A (2008) Integrated assessment of ecosystem-scale carrying capacity in shellfish growing areas. Aquaculture 275(1-4): 138-151

Ferry JG, Lessner DJ (2008) Methanogenesis in marine sediments. In: Wiegel J, Maier RJ, Adams MWW (eds) Incredible Anaerobes: From Physiology to Genomics to Fuels. Wiley-Blackwell: 147-157

Forster S, Graf G (1992) Continuously measured changes in redox potential influenced by oxygen penetrating from burrows of *Callianassa-subterranea*. Hydrobiologia 235:527-532

Forrest BM (1991) Oyster farm impacts on the benthic environment: a study in Mahurangi Harbour New Zealand: University of Auckland

Foxcroft LC, Downey PO (2008) Protecting biodiversity by managing alien plants in national parks- perspectives from South Africa and Australia. In: Tokarska-Guzik B, Brock JH, Brundu G, Child L, Daehler CC, Pyšek P (eds) Plant Invasions, Human perception, ecological impacts and management. Backhuys Publishers, Leiden, The Netherlands: 387-403

France KE, Duffy JE (2006) Diversity and dispersal interactively affect predictability of ecosystem function. Nature 441: 1139-1143

Francis CA, Roberts KJ, Beman JM, Santoro AE, Oakley BB (2005) Ubiquity and diversity of ammonia-oxidizing archaea in water columns and sediments of the ocean. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102: 14683-14688

Francis CA, Beman JM, Kuypers MMM (2007) New processes and players in the nitrogen cycle: the microbial ecology of anaerobic and archaeal ammonia oxidation. ISME Journal 1: 19-27

Froelich PN, Klinkhammer GP, Bender ML, Luedtke NA, Heath GR, Cullen D, Dauphin P, Hammond D, Hartman B, Maynard V (1979) Early oxidation of organic matter in pelagic sediments of the eastern equatorial Atlantic: Suboxic diagenesis. Acta Biotheoretica 43: 1075-1090

Frost MT, Leaper R, Mieszowska N, Moschella P, Murua J, Smyth C, Hawkins SJ (2004) Recovery of a Biodiversity Action Plan Species in Northwest England: Possible role of climate change, artificial habitat and water quality amelioration. Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom Occasional Publications 16: 57-71

Galand PE (2004) Methanogenic Archaea in boreal peatlands. Academic Dissertation, Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences Helsinki: University of Helsinki: 35 pp

Gamfeldt L, Hillebrand H (2008) Biodiversity effects on aquatic ecosystem functioning - maturation of a new paradigm. International Review of Hydrobiology 93: 550-564

Gamfeldt L, Hillebrand H, Jonsson PR (2008) Multiple functions increase the importance of biodiversity for overall ecosystem functioning. Ecology 89: 1223-1231

Gamfeldt L, Bracken MES (2009) The Role of Biodiversity for the Functioning of Rocky Reef Communities. In: Wahl M (ed.) Marine Hard Bottom Communities, Ecological Studies. Springer-Verlag, Heidelberg 206-361

Gee JM, Warwick RM (1994) Metazoan community structure in relation to the fractal dimensions of marine macroalgae. Marine Ecology Progress Series 103:141-150

Gergs R, Rinke K, Rothhaupt KO (2009) Zebra mussels mediate benthic-pelagic coupling by biodeposition and changing detrital stoichiometry. Freshwater Biology 54: 1379-1391

Gibbs M, Funnell G, Pickmere S, Norkko A, Hewitt J (2005) Benthic nutrient fluxes along an estuarine gradient: influence of the pinnid bivalve *Atrina zelandica* in summer. Marine Ecology Progress Series 288: 151-164

Gilbertson W, Solan, M., Prosser, J.I. (2012) Differential effects of microbe-invertebrate interactions on benthic nitrogen cycling. 'Accepted Article', doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2012.01400.x

Giles H, Pilditch CA (2004) Effects of diet on sinking rates and erosion thresholds of mussel *Perna canaliculus* biodeposits. Marine Ecology Progress Series 282: 205-219

Giles H, Pilditch CA, Bell DG (2006) Sedimentation from mussel (*Perna canaliculus*) culture in the Firth of Thames, New Zealand: Impacts on sediment oxygen and nutrient fluxes. Aquaculture 261: 125-140

Gomez-Aparicio L, Canham CD (2008) Neighbourhood analyses of the allelopathic effects of the invasive tree *Ailanthus altissima* in temperate forests. Journal of Ecology 96: 447-458

Gooden B, French K, Turner PJ, Downey PO (2009) Impact threshold for an alien plant invader, *Lantana camara* L., on native plant communities. Biological Conservation 142: 2631-2641

Görlitz S (2005) Neue Riffe im Wattenmeer: Die Pazifische Auster *Crassostrea gigas* und ihre assoziierte Lebensgemeinschaft, Academc Dissertation, University of Kiel (www: 10013/epic.25081)

Grabowski JH, Powers SP (2004) Habitat complexity mitigates trophic transfer on oyster reefs. Marine Ecology Progress Series 277: 291-295

Grant WS (1977) High intertidal community organization on a rocky headland in Maine,

USA. Marine Biology 44: 15-25

Gray JS (1997) Marine biodiversity: Patterns, threats and conservation needs. Biodiversity and Conservation 6: 153-175

Gray JS (2000) The measurement of marine species diversity, with an application to the benthic fauna of the Norwegian continental shelf. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 250: 23-49

Griffen BD (2009) Effects of a newly invasive parasite on the burrowing mud shrimp, a widespread ecosystem engineer. Marine Ecology Progress Series 391: 73-83

Griffin CR, King CM, Savidge JA, Cruz F, Cruz JB (1989) Effects of introduced predators on island birds: contemporary case histories from the Pacific. In: Ouelle V (ed) Proceedings of the XIX Ornithological Congress 1: 687-698

Griffin JN, de la Haye KL, Hawkins SJ, Thompson RC, Jenkins SR. (2008) Predator diversity and ecosystem functioning: Density modifies the effect of resource partitioning. Ecology 89: 298-305

Griffiths RI, Whitely AS, O'Donnell AG, Bailey MJ (2000) Rapid method for coextraction of DNA and RNA from natural environments for analysis of ribosomal DNA and rRNA based microbial community composition. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66: 5488-5491

Griffiths RP, Caldwell BA, Broich WA, Morita RY (1983) Microbial processes relating to carbon cycling in southeastern Bering Sea sediments. Marine Ecology Progress Series 10: 265-275

Grizel H, Heral M (1991) Introduction into France of the Japanese oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*). Journal du Conseil 47: 399-403

Groffman PM, Baron JS, Blett T, Gold AJ, Goodman I, Gunderson LH, Levinson BM, Palmer MA, Paerl HW, Peterson GD, Poff L, Rejeski DW, Reynolds JF, Turner MG, Weathers KC, Wiens J (2006) Ecological thresholds: the key to successful environmental management or an important concept with no practical application? Ecosystems 9: 1-13

Grosholz ED (2005) Recent biological invasion may hasten invasional meltdown by accelerating historical introductions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102(4): 1088-1091

Guenet B, Danger M, Abbadie L, Lacroix G (2010) Priming effect: bridging the gap between terrestrial and aquatic ecology. Ecology 91: 2850-2861

Gutierrez JL, Jones CG, Strayer DL, Iribarne OO (2003) Mollusks as ecosystem engineers: the role of shell production in aquatic habitats. Oikos 101: 79-90

Gutknecht JLM, Goodman RM, Balser TC (2006) Linking soil process and microbial ecology in freshwater wetland ecosystems. Plant and Soil 289: 17-34

Hagman M, Shine R (2007) Effects of invasive cane toads on Australian mosquitoes: Does the dark cloud have a silver lining? Biological Invasions 9: 445-452

Hahn DR (2003) Alteration of microbial community composition and changes in

decomposition associated with an invasive intertidal macrophyte. Biological Invasions 5: 45-51

Haines-Young RH, Potschin MB (2009) Methodologies for defining and assessing ecosystem services. Final Report, JNCC, Project Code C08-0170-0062, 69 pp

Hall RO, Dybdahl MF, VanderLoop MC (2006) Extremely high secondary production of introduced snails in rivers. Ecological Applications 16: 1121-1131

Hall N (2007) Advanced sequencing technologies and their wider impact in microbiology. The Journal of Experimental Biology, 209, 1518-1525

Hallin S, Jones, CM, Schloter M, Philippot L (2009) Relationship between N-cycling communities and ecosystem functioning in a 50-year-old fertilization experiment. ISME Journal 1: 1-9

Hansen LS, Blackburn TH (1991) Aerobic and anaerobic mineralization of organic material in marine sediment microcosms. Marine Ecology Progress Series 75: 283-291

Hansen K, King GM, Kristensen E (1996) Impact of the soft shell clam *Mya arenaria* on sulphate reduction in an intertidal sediment. *Aquat. Microb. Ecol.* **10**: 181-194.

Hansen K, Kristensen E (1998) The impact of the polychaete *Nereis diversicolor* and enrichment with macroalgal (*Chaetomorpha linum*) detritus on benthic metabolism and nutrient dynamics in organic-poor and organic-rich sediment. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 231(2): 201-223

Hansen JW, Udy JW, Perry CJ, Dennison WC, Lomstein BA (2000) Effect of the seagrass *Zostera capricorni* on sediment microbial processes. Marine Ecology Progress Series 199: 83-96

Hanson RS, Hanson TE (1996) Methanotrophic bacteria. Microbiological Reviews 60(2): 439-481

Haure J, Huvet A, Palvadeau H (2003) Feeding and respiratory time activities in the cupped oysters Crassostrea gigas, Crassostrea angulata and their hybrids. Aquaculture 218(1-4): 539-551

Haven DS, Moralesa R (1966) Aspects of biodeposition by oysters and other invertebrate filter feeders. Limnology and Oceanography 11: 487-498

Hayakawa Y, Kobayashi M, Izawa M (2001) Sedimentation flux from mariculture of oyster (*Crassostrea gigas*) in Ofunato estuary, Japan. ICES Journal of Marine Science 58: 435-444

Hayatsu M, Tago K, Saito M (2008) Various players in the nitrogen cycle: Diversity and functions of the microorganisms involved in nitrification and denitrification. Soil Science and Plant Nutrition 54: 33-45

Hedges JI, Stern JH (1984) Carbon and nitrogen determinations of carbonate-containing solids. Limnology and Oceanography 29: 657-663

Heiman KW, Micheli F (2010) Non-native ecosystem engineer alters estuarine

communities. Integrative and Comparative Biology 50: 226-236

Henriksen K, Rasmussen MB, Jensen A (1983) Effect of bioturbation on microbial nitrogen transformations in the sediment and fluxes of ammonium and nitrate to the overlaying water. Ecological Bulletins 35: 193-205

Hewitt JE, Thrush SF, Dayton PD (2008) Habitat variation, species diversity and ecological functioning in a marine system. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 366: 116-122

Hidalgo FJ, Firstater FN, Fanjul E, Bazterrica MC, Lomovasky BJ, Tarazona J, Iribarne OO. (2008) Grazing effects of the periwinkle *Echinolittorina peruviana* at a central Peruvian high rocky intertidal. Helgoland Marine Research 62: S73-S83

Hilborn R, Ludwig D (1993) The limits of applied ecological research. Ecological Applications 3:550-552

Hoj L, Olsen RA, Torsvik VL (2005) Archaeal communities in High Arctic wetlands at Spitsbergen, Norway (78 degrees N) as characterized by 16S rRNA gene fingerprinting. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 53: 89-101

Holler T, Wegener G, Niemann H, Deusner C, Ferdelman TG, Boetius A, Brunner B, Widdel F (2011) Carbon and sulfur back flux during anaerobic microbial oxidation of methane and coupled sulfate reduction. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108(52): E1484-E1490

Holly DC, Ervin GN, Jackson CR, Diehl SV, Kirker GT (2009) Effect of an invasive grass on ambient rates of decomposition and microbial community structure: a search for causality. Biological Invasions 11: 1855-1868

Holt TJ, Rees EI, Hawkins SJ, Seed R (1998) Biogenic reefs (volume IX). An overview of dynamic and sensitivity characteristics for conservation management of marine SACs. Scottish Association for Marine Science (UK Marine SACs Project): 170 pp

Honkoop PJC, Baynea BL, Drent J (2003) Flexibility of size of gills and palps in the Sydney rock oyster *Saccostrea glomerata* (Gould, 1850) and the Pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas* (Thunberg, 1793). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 282: 113-133

Hooper DU, Chapin FS, Ewel JJ, Hector A, Inchausti P, Lavorel S, Lawton JH, Lodge DM, Loreau M, Naeem S, Schmid B, Setala H, Symstad AJ, Vandermeer J, Wardle DA (2005) Effects of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: A consensus of current knowledge. Ecological Monographs 75: 3-35

Hopkinson C, Smith E (2004) Estuarine respiration. In: del Giorgio P, Williams PJ (eds) Respiration of Aquatic Ecosystems of the World. Academic Press, New York:122-146

Hosack G (2003) Effects of *Zostera marina* and *Crassostrea gigas* culture on the intertidal communities of Willapa Bay, Washington. M.Sc. Thesis, University of Washington, USA: 204pp

Houghton J (2001) The science of global warming. Interdisciplinary Science Reviews 26: 247-257

Huettel M, Gust G (1992) Impact of bioroughness on interfacial solute exchange in permeable sediments. Marine Ecology Progress Series 89: 253-267

Huettel M, Ziebis W, Forster S, Luther GW (1998) Advective transport affecting metal and nutrient distributions and interfacial fluxes in permeable sediments. Geochimica et Cosmochimchimica Acta 62: 613-631

Hutchinson GL, Mosier AR (1981) Improved soil cover method for field measurement of nitrous-oxide fluxes. Soil Science Society of America Journal 45: 311-316

IPCC (2007) Climate change the physical science basis. In: Solomon SQD, Manning M, Chen Z, Marquis M, Averyt KB, Tignor M, Miller HL (eds) Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press: 996 pp

Irvine IC, Vivanco L, Bentley PN, Martiny J.BH (2012) The effect of nitrogen enrichment on C1-cycling microorganisms and methane flux in salt marsh sediments. Frontiers in Terrestrial Microbiology 3: 1-10

Ittekkot V, Unger D., Humborg C, Tac An N (2006) The silicon cycle: human perturbations and impacts on aquatic systems. Scientific Committee on Problems of the Environment (SCOPE), Island Press: 296 pp

Jackson AC (2009) Biogenic habitat on artificial structures: consequences for an intertidal predator. Marine and Freshwater Research 60: 519-528

Jackson AC, Chapman MG, Underwood AJ (2008) Ecological interactions in the provision of habitat by urban development: whelks and engineering by oysters on artificial seawalls. Austral Ecology 33: 307-316

Jeffrey SW, Humphrey GF (1975) New spectrophotometric equations for determining chlorophylls a, b, c1 and c2 in higher plants, algae and natural phytoplankton. Biochemie und Physiologie der Pflanzen 167: 191-194

Jensen MHE, Lomstein E, Sorensen J (1990) Benthic NH_4^+ and NO_3^- flux following sedimentation of a spring phytoplankton bloom in Aarhus Bight, Denmark. Marine Ecology Progress Series 61(1-2): 87-96

Jones CG, Lawton JH, Shachak M (1994) Organisms as ecosystem engineers. Oikos 69: 373-386

Jones CG, Lawton JH, Shachak M (1997) Positive and negative effects of organisms as physical ecosystem engineers. Ecology 78: 1946-1957

Jørgensen BB (2000) Bacteria and marine biogeochemistry. In: Schulz HD, Zabel M (eds) Marine Geochemistry. Springer, Berlin, pp. 173-207

Kaiser M, Attrill M, Jennings S, Thomas DN, Barnes D, Brierley A, Polunin N, Raffaelli D 2005) Marine Ecology: Processes, Systems, and Impacts. Oxford University Press, New York: 584 pp

Kangas M, Shepard SA (1984) Distribution and feeding of chitons in a boulder habitat at West Island, South Australia. Journal of Malacological Society of Australia 6: 101-111

Karberg NJ, Lilleskov EA (2009) White-tailed deer (*Odocoileus virginianus*) fecal pellet decomposition is accelerated by the invasive earthworm *Lumbricus terrestris*. Biological Invasions 11: 761-767

Karl TR, Trenberth KE (2003) Modern global climate change. Science 302: 1719-1723

Kaspar HF, Gillespie PA, Boyer IC, Mackenzie AL (1985) Effects of mussel aquaculture on the nitrogen-cycle and benthic communities in Kenepuru Sound, Marlborough Sounds, New-Zealand. Marine Biology 85: 127-136

Kautsky N, Evans S (1987) Role of biodeposition by *Mytilus edulis* in the circulation of matter and nutrients in a Baltic coastal ecosystem. Marine Ecology Progress Series 38: 201-212

Keer JT, Birch L (2003) Molecular methods for the assessment of bacterial viability. Journal of Microbiological Methods 53(2): 175-183

Keller RP, Frang K, Lodge DM (2008) Preventing the spread of invasive species: Economic benefits of intervention guided by ecological predictions. Conservation Biology 22: 80-88

Kelly JR, Proctor H, Volpe JP (2008) Intertidal community structure differs significantly between substrates dominated by native eelgrass (*Zostera marina* L.) and adjacent to the introduced oyster *Crassostrea gigas* (Thunberg) in British Columbia, Canada. Hydrobiologia 596: 57-66

Kelly JR, Volpe JR (2007) Native eelgrass (*Zostera marina* L.) survival and growth adjacent to non-native oysters (*Crassostrea gigas* Thunberg) in the Strait of Georgia, British Columbia. Botanica Marina 50: 143-150

Khalil MAK, Shearer MJ (1993) Atmospheric methane - sources, sinks and role in global change - proceedings of the nato advanced research workshop held at Timberline Lodge on Mount Hood in Oregon, usa 7-11 october 1991. Chemosphere 26: R9-R10

Kiirikki M (1996) Experimental evidence that *Fucus vesiculosus* (Phaeophyta) controls filamentous algae by means of the whiplash effect. European Journal of Phycology 31: 61-66

King WB (1985) Island birds: will the future repeat the past? In: Moors PJ (ed) Conservation of Island Birds. International Council for Bird Preservation Technical Publication, Cambridge, United Kingdom 3: 3-15

Khalil MAK, Shearer MJ (1993) Atmospheric methane - sources, sinks and role in global change - proceedings of the NATO advanced research workshop held at Timberline Lodge on Mount Hood in Oregon, USA 7-11 October 1991 - preface. Chemosphere 26(1-4): R9-R10

Kinzig AP, Pacala SW, Tilman D (2001): The functional consequences of biodiversity. Princeton University Press: 392 pp

Kneitel JM, Chase JM (2004) Trade-offs in community ecology: linking spatial scales and species coexistence. Ecology Letters 7: 69-80

Koch EW, Barbier EB, Silliman BR, Reed DJ, Perillo GME, Hacker SD, Granek EF, Primavera JH, Muthiga N, Polasky S, Halpern BS, Kennedy CJ, Kappel CV, Wolanski E (2009) Non-linearity in ecosystem services: temporal and spatial variability in coastal protection. Front Ecol Environ 7(1): 29–37

Kochmann J, Buschbaum C, Volkenborn N, Reise K (2008) Shift from native mussels to alien oysters: Differential effects of ecosystem engineers. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 364: 1-10

Korpinen S, Jormalainen V, Honkanen T (2007) Effects of nutrients, herbivory, and depth on the macroalgal community in the rocky sublittoral. Ecology 88(4): 839-852

Koster M, Dahlke S, Meyer-Reil LA (2005) Microbial colonization and activity in relation to organic carbon in sediments of hypertrophic coastal waters (Nordrugensche Bodden, Southern Baltic Sea). Aquatic Microbial Ecology 39 :69-83

Kniffin J, Freyre DS, Balser TC (2010) Methane dynamics across wetland plant species. Aquatic Botany 93: 107-113

Krassoi FR, Brown KR, Bishop MJ, Kelaher BP, Summerhayes S(2008) Condition-specific competition allows coexistence of competitively superior exotic oysters with native oysters. Journal of Animal Ecology 77: 5-15

Kristensen E (1988) Benthic fauna and biochemical processes in marine sediments: microbial activities and fluxes. In: Blackburn TH, Sörensen J (eds) Nitrogen Cycling in Coastal Marine Environments, Wiley & Sons, Chichester: 175-190

Kristensen E, Ahmed SI, Devol AH (1995) Aerobic and anaerobic decomposition of organic matter in marine sediment: Which is fastest? Limnology and Oceanography 40: 1430-1437

Kristensen E & Kostka JE (2005) Macrofaunal burrows and irrigation in marine sediment: microbiological and biogeochemical interactions. In: Kristensen E, Haese RR and Kostka JE, eds) Interactions Between Macro-and Microorganisms in Marine Sediment, Coastal and Estuarine Studies 60. American Geophysical Union, Washington DC pp 125–157

Kristensen E, Haese RR, Kostka JE (2005) Interactions Between Macro and Microorganisms in Marine Sediments. Coastal and estuarine studies 60: 350 pp

Kurten EL, Snyder CP, Iwata T, Vitousek PM (2008) *Morella cerifera* invasion and nitrogen cycling on a lowland Hawaiian lava flow. Biological Invasions 10: 19-24

Lane DJ (1991)16S/23S rRNA sequencing. In: Stackebrandt, E. & Goodfellow, M. (Eds.) Nucleic acids techniques in bacterial systematics. Chichester, UK, John Wiley & Sons

Lang AC, Buschbaum C (2010) Facilitative effects of introduced Pacific oysters on native macroalgae are limited by a secondary invader, the seaweed *Sargassum muticum*. Journal of Sea Research 63: 119-128

Largiadèr CR (2007) Hybridization and introgression between native and alien species. Biological Invasions 193: 275-292

Lavrentyev PJ, Gardner WS, Yang LY (2000) Effects of the zebra mussel on nitrogen dynamics and the microbial community at the sediment-water interface. Aquatic Microbial

Ecology 21: 187-194

Lawton JH (1999) Are there general laws in ecology? Oikos 84: 177-192

Legendre P, Anderson MJ (1999) Distance-based redundancy analysis: Testing multispecies responses in multifactorial ecological experiments. Ecological Monographs 69: 1-24

Lejart M, Clavier J, Chauvaud L, Hily C (2012) Respiration and calcification of *Crassostrea gigas*: Contribution of an intertidal invasive species to coastal ecosystem CO₂ fluxes. Estuaries and Coasts 35: 622-632

Lejart M, Hily C (2011) Differential response of benthic macrofauna to the formation of novel oyster reefs (*Crassostrea gigas*, Thunberg) on soft and rocky substrate in the intertidal of the Bay of Brest, France. Journal of Sea Research 65: 84-93

Leloup FA, Desroy N, Le Mao P, Pauly D, Le Pape O (2008) Interactions between a natural food web, shellfish farming and exotic species: The case of the Bay of Mont Saint Michel (France). Estuarine Coastal and Shelf Science 76: 111-120

Lenhard G (1956) Die Dehydrogenaseaktivität des Bodens als Mass für die Mikroorganismentätigkeit. Zeitschrift für Planzenernährug, Düngung und Bodenkunde 73: 1-11

Lenihan HS (1999) Physical-biological coupling on oyster reefs: How habitat structure influences individual performance. Ecological Monographs 69: 251-275

Leonard GH (1999) Positive and negative effects of intertidal algal canopies on recruitment and survival of barnacles. Marine Ecology Progress Series 178: 241-249

Levine JM, Vila M, D'Antonio CM, Dukes JS, Grigulis K, Lavore S (2003) Mechanisms underlying the impacts of exotic plant invasions. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B - Biological Sciences 270: 775-781

Lewis JR, Bowman RS (1975) Local habitat-induced variations in population-dynamics of *Patella vulgate* L. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 17: 165-203

Little C, Morritt D, Stirling P (1992) Changes in the shore fauna and flora of Lough Hyne. The Irish Naturalists Journal 24: 87-95

Lockwood JL, Hoopes MF, Marchetti MP (2007) Invasion ecology. Wiley-Blackwell: 312 pp

Lodge DM (1993) Biological invasions - lessons for ecology. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 8: 133-137

Loftfield N, Flessa H, Augustin J, Beese F (1997) Automated gas chromatographic system for rapid analysis of the atmospheric trace gases methane, carbon dioxide, and nitrous oxide. Journal of Environmental Quality 26: 560-564

Lohnis F (1926) Nitrogen availability of green manures. Soil Science 22: 171-177

Lohse DP (1993) The effects of substratum type on the population dynamics of three common intertidal animals. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 173: 133-

Lojen S, Ogrinc N, Dolenec T (1999) Decomposition of sedimentary organic matter and methane formation in the recent sediment of Lake Bled (Slovenia). Chemical Geology 159: 223-240

Loreau M, Naeem S, Inchausti P, Bengtsson J, Grime JP, Hector A, Hooper DU, Huston MA, Raffaelli D, Schmid B, Tilman D, Wardle DA (2001) Ecology - Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: Current knowledge and future challenges. Science 294: 804-808

Loreau M, Naeem S, Inchausti P (2002): Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning: Synthesis and Perspectives. Oxford University Press: 312 pp

Lorenzen CJ (1967) Determination of chlorophyll and phaeopigments: spectrophotometric equations. Limnology and Oceanography 12: 343-346

Lotze HK, Lenihan HS, Bourque BJ, Bradbury RH, Cooke RG, Kay MC, Kidwell SM, Kirby MX, Peterson CH, Jackson JBC (2006) Depletion, degradation, and recovery potential of estuaries and coastal seas. Science 312: 1806-1809

Lovell SJ, Stone SF, Fernandez L (2006) The economic impacts of aquatic invasive species: A review of the literature. Agricultural and Resource Economics Review 35: 195-208

Lueders T, Friedrich M (2000) Archaeal population dynamics during sequential reduction processes in rice field soil. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66: 2732-2742

Luton PE, Wayne JM, Sharp RJ, Riley PW (2002) The mcrA gene as an alternative to 16S rRNA in the phylogenetic analysis of methanogen populations in landfill. Microbiology-Sgm 148:3521-3530

Mack RN, Simberloff D, Lonsdale WM, Evans H, Clout M, Bazzaz FA (2000) Biotic invasions: Causes, epidemiology, global consequences, and control. Ecological Applications 10: 689-710

Madigan MT, Martinko, JM (2006) Brock Biology of Microorganisms, 11th edition. Pearson Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, NJ

Mallet J (2005) Hybridization as an invasion of the genome. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 20: 229-237

Mallik AU, Hu D (1997) Soil respiration following site preparation treatments in boreal mixedwood forest. Forest Ecology and Management 97(3): 265-275

Marinelli RL, Williams TJ (2003) Evidence for density-dependent effects of infauna on sediment biogeochemistry and benthic-pelagic coupling in nearshore systems. Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf science 57: 179-192

Markert A, Wehrmann A, Kroncke I (2010) Recently established *Crassostrea*-reefs versus native *Mytilus*-beds: differences in ecosystem engineering affects the macrofaunal communities (Wadden Sea of Lower Saxony, southern German Bight). Biological Invasions 12: 15-32

Martin S, Thouzeau G, Richard M, Chauvaud L, Jean F, Clavier J (2007) Benthic

154

community respiration in areas impacted by the invasive mollusk *Crepidula fornicata*. Marine Ecology Progress Series 347: 51-60

Martínez MI, Intralawan A, Vazquez G, Perez-Maqueo O, Sutton P, Landgrave R (2007) . The coasts of our world: Ecological, economic and social importance. Ecological Economics 63: 254-272

Matthiessen B, Gamfeldt L, Jonsson PR, Hillebrand H (2007) Effects of grazer richness and composition on algal biomass in a closed and open marine system. Ecology 88: 178-187

McArdle BH, Anderson MJ (2001) Fitting multivariate models to community data: A comment on distance-based redundancy analysis. Ecology 82: 290-297

McCaig AE, Glover LA, Prosser JI (2001) Numerical analysis of grassland bacterial community structure under different land management regimens by using 16S ribosomal DNA sequence data and denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis banding patterns. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67(10): 4554-4559

McCoy ED, Bell SS (1991) Habitat structure: the evolution and diversification of a complex topic. In: Bell SS, McCoy ED, Mushinsky HR (eds) Habitat Structure: The Physical Arrangement of Objects in Space, Chapman and Hall, New York: 3–27.

McKindsey CW, Thetmeyer H, Landry T, Silvert W (2006) Review of recent carrying capacity models for bivalve culture and recommendations for research and management. Aquaculture 261: 451-462

McDonald IR, Murrell JC (1997) The methanol dehydrogenase structural gene mxaF and its use as a functional gene probe for methanotrophs and methylotrophs. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63:3218-3224

McKinley VL, Vestal JR (1992) Mineralization of glucose and lignocellulose by 4 arctic fresh-water sediments in response to nutrient enrichment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 58: 1554-1563

McKinney ML, La Sorte, FA (2007) Invasiveness and homogenization: synergism of wide dispersal and high local abundance. Global Ecology and Biogeography 16: 394-400

McKinney ML, Lockwood JL (1999) Biotic homogenization: a few winners replacing many losers in the next mass extinction. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 14: 450-453

McQuaid CD, Lindsay JR (2005) Interacting effects of wave exposure, tidal height and substratum on spatial variation in densities of mussel *Perna perna* plantigrades. Marine Ecology Progress Series 301: 173-184

Menge BA (1978) Predation intensity in a rocky inter-tidal community - effect of an agal canopy, wave action and desiccation on predator feeding rates. Oecologia 34: 17-35

Mermillod-Blondin F (2011) The functional significance of bioturbation and biodeposition on biogeochemical processes at the water-sediment interface in freshwater and marine ecosystems. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 30: 770-778

Millennium Ecosystem Assessment. Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Synthesis (2005)

Island Press, Washington, DC: 155 pp

Miller KM, Carefoot TH (1989) The role of spatial and size refuges in the interaction between juvenile barnacles and grazing limpets. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 134: 157-174

Miller DC, Norkko A, Pilditch CA. (2002) Influence of diet on dispersal of horse mussel *Atrina zelandica* biodeposits. Marine Ecology Progress Series 242: 153-167

Miossec L, Le Deuff RM, Goulletquer P (2009) Alien species alert: *Crassostrea gigas* (Pacific oyster). ICES Cooperative Research Report 299: 46 pp

Mitchell IM (2006) *In situ* biodeposition rates of Pacific oysters (*Crassostrea gigas*) on a marine farm in Southern Tasmania (Australia). Aquaculture 257: 194-203

Molnar JL, Gamboa RL, Revenga C, Spalding MD (2008) Assessing the global threat of invasive species to marine biodiversity. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 6: 485-492

Monsen-Collar KJ, Dolcemascolo P (2010) Using molecular techniques to answer ecological questions. Nature Education Knowledge 1: 1 pp

Moore PA, Reddy KR, Graetz DA (1991) Phosphorus geochemistry in the sediment-water column of a hypereutrophic lake. Journal of Environmental Quality 20: 869-875

Morrisey DJ, Howitt L, Underwood AJ, Stark JS (1992) Spatial variation in soft-sediment benthos. Marine Ecology Progress Series 81: 197-204

Moseman SM, Zhang R, Qian PY, Levin LA (2009) Diversity and functional responses of nitrogen-fixing microbes to three wetland invasions. Biological Invasions 11: 225-239

Moulin FY, Guizien K, Thouzeau G, Chapalain G, Mulleners K, Bourg C (2007) Impact of an invasive species, *Crepidula fornicata*, on the hydrodynamics and transport properties of the benthic boundary layer. Aquatic Living Resources 20: 15-31

Muradian R (2001) Ecological thresholds: a survey. Ecological Economics 38: 7-24

Muschenheim DK (1987) The dynamics of near-bed seston flux and suspension-feeding benthos. Journal of Marine Research 45: 473-496

Naeem S (1999) Power behind diversity's throne. Nature 401: 653-654

Naeem S, Hahn DR, Schuurman G (2000) Producer-decomposer co-dependency influences biodiversity effects. Nature 403: 762-764

Naeem SB, Bunker DE, Hector A, Loreau M, Perrings C (2009) Biodiversity, Ecosystem Functioning, and Human Wellbeing: An Ecological and Economic Perspective. Oxford University Press, UK, 384 pp

Naylor RL, Goldburg RJ, Primavera JH, Kautsky N, Beveridge MCM, Clay J, Folke C,

Lubchenco J, Mooney H, Troell M (2000) Effect of aquaculture on world fish supplies. Nature 405: 1017-1024

Naylor RL, Williams SL, Strong DR (2001) Aquaculture - A gateway for exotic species. Science 294: 1655-1656

Nehring S 2006 NOBANIS - Invasive Alien Species Fact Sheet - *Crassostrea gigas*. Online database of the North European and Baltic Network on Invasive Alien Species – NOBANIS www.nobanis.org, accessed May 2012: 13 pp

New York Sea Grant (1994), Brockport, New York. www.nyseagrant.org (accessed May 2012)

Newell RIE (2004) Ecosystem influences of natural and cultivated populations of suspension-feeding bivalve molluscs: A review. Journal of Shellfish Research 23: 51-61

Newell RIE, Cornwell JC, Owens MS (2002) Influence of simulated bivalve biodeposition and microphytobenthos on sediment nitrogen dynamics: A laboratory study. Limnology and Oceanography 47: 1367-1379

Newell RIE FT, Holyoke RR, Cornwell JC (2005) Influence of eastern oysters on nitrogen and phosphorus regeneration in Chesapeake Bay, USA. In: Dame RF, Olenin S (eds) The Comparative Roles of Suspension Feeders in Ecosystems. Proceedings of the NATO Advanced Research Workshop on the Comparative Roles of Suspension-Feeders in Ecosystems, Nida, Lithuania 4-9 October. NATO Science Series IV, Springer-Verlag, Berlin: 93-120

Nicastro A, Bishop MJ, Kelaher BP, Benedetti-Cecchi L (2009) Export of non-native gastropod shells to a coastal lagoon: Alteration of habitat structure has negligible effects on infauna. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 374: 31-36

Nicolis G, Prigogine I (1989) Exploring Complexity: An Introduction. W.H. Freeman and Company, New York: 328 pp

Norkko A, Hewitt JE, Thrush SF, Funnell GA (2001) Benthic-pelagic coupling and suspension-feeding bivalves: Linking site-specific sediment flux and biodeposition to benthic community structure. Limnology and Oceanography 46: 2067-2072

O'Connor NE, Crowe TP (2005) Biodiversity loss and ecosystem functioning: Distinguishing between number and identity of species. Ecology 86: 1783-1796

O'Connor NE, Crowe TP (2007) Biodiversity among mussels: separating the influence of sizes of mussels from the ages of patches. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 87(2): 551-557

Officer CB, Ryther JH (1980) The possible importance of silicon in marine eutrophication. Marine Ecology Progress Series 3: 83-91

Ogrinc N, Lojen S, Faganeli J (1997) The sources of dissolved inorganic carbon in pore waters of lacustrine sediment. Water Air and Soil Pollution 99: 333-341

Ogunseitan O (2005) Microbial Diversity: Form and Function in Prokaryotes. Wiley-Blackwell Publishing, London: 312 pp

Olden JD, Poff NL, Douglas MR, Douglas ME, Fausch KD (2004) Ecological and evolutionary consequences of biotic homogenization. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 19:

18-24

Olden JD, Rooney TP (2006) On defining and quantifying biotic homogenization. Global Ecology and Biogeography 15: 113-120

Olden JD, Kennard MJ, Pusey BJ (2008) Species invasions and the changing biogeography of Australian freshwater fishes. Global Ecology and Biogeography 17: 25-37

Olenin S, Minchin D, Darius D (2007) Assessment of biopollution in aquatic ecosystems. Marine Pollution Bulletin 55(7-9): 379-394

Olson LJ (2006) The economics of terrestrial invasive species: A review of the literature. Agricultural and Resource Economics Review 35: 178–194

Okabe S, Kindaichi T, Ito T (2005) Fate of C-14-labeled microbial products derived from nitrifying bacteria in autotrophic nitrifying biofilms. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 71:3987-3994

Oremland RS, Polcin S (1982) Methanogenesis and sulfate reduction - competitive and noncompetitive substrates in estuarine sediments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 44: 1270-1276

Oremland RS, Culbertson CW (1992) 2 novel inhibitors of methane monooxygenase and their application to investigations of methane flux. Abstracts of Papers of the American Chemical Society 203: 81-102

Oremland RS, Kulp TR, Blum JS, Hoeft SE, Baesman S, Miller LG, Stolz JF (2005) A microbial arsenic cycle in a salt-saturated, extreme environment. Science 308: 1305-1308

Oreska MPJ, Aldridge DC (2011) Estimating the financial costs of freshwater invasive species in Great Britain: a standardized approach to invasive species costing. Biological Invasions 13: 305-319

Ortega-Morales BO, Chan-Bacab MJ, De la Rosa-Garcia SD, Camacho-Chab JC (2010) Valuable processes and products from marine intertidal microbial communities. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 21: 346-352

Otto S, Groffman PM, Findlay SEG, Arreola AE (1999) Invasive plant species and microbial processes in a tidal freshwater marsh. Journal of Environmental Quality 28: 1252-1257

Ovreas L. Torsvik V (1998) Microbial diversity and community structure in two different agricultural soil communities. Microbial Ecology 36: 303-315

Padilla DK (2010) Context-dependent impacts of a non-native ecosystem engineer, the pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas*. Integrative and Comparative Biology 50: 213-225

Parker IM, Simberloff D, Lonsdale WM, Goodell K, Wonham M, Kareiva PM, Williamson MH, Von Holle B, Moyle PB, Byers JE, Goldwasser L (1999) Impact: toward a framework for understanding the ecological effects of invaders. Biological Invasions 1: 3-19

Pawson SM, McCarthy JK, Ledgard NJ, Didham RK (2010) Density-dependent impacts of exotic conifer invasion on grassland invertebrate assemblages. Journal of Applied Ecology 47: 1053-1062

Pechenik JA, Blanchard M, Rotjan R (2004) Susceptibility of larval *Crepidula fornicata* to predation by suspension-feeding adults. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 306: 75-94

Pedersen AGU, Berntsen J, Lomstein BA (1999)The effect of eelgrass decomposition on sediment carbon and nitrogen cycling: A controlled laboratory experiment. Limnology and Oceanography 44: 1978-1992

Pedersen MF, Borum J (1997) Nutrient control of estuarine macroalgae: growth strategy and the balance between nitrogen requirements and uptake. Marine Ecology Progress Series 161: 155-163

Pejchar L, Mooney HA (2009) Invasive species, ecosystem services and human wellbeing. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 24: 497-504

Pepper IL, Gerba CP, Brusseau ML (2001) Environmental and Pollution Science. Elsevier Science/Academic Press, USA: 532 pp

Perrings C, Burgiel S, Lonsdale M, Mooney H, Williamson M (2010) Globalization and bioinvasions: the international policy problem. In: Perrings C, Mooney H, Williamson M (eds) Bioinvasions and Globalization, Oxford University Press: 235-250.

Peters V, Conrad R (1995) Methanogenic and other strictly anaerobic-bacteria in desert soil and other oxic soils. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 61: 1673-1676

Peterson CH, Andre SV (1980) An experimental-analysis of interspecific competition among marine filter feeders in a soft-sediment environment. Ecology 61: 129-139

Peterson CH, Grabowski JH, Powers SP (2003) Estimated enhancement of fish production resulting from restoring oyster reef habitat: quantitative valuation. Marine Ecology Progress Series 264: 249-264

Phillips BL, Shine R (2005) The morphology, and hence impact, of an invasive species (the cane toad, *Bufo marinus*): changes with time since colonisation. Animal Conservation 8: 407-413

Piano A, Asirelli C, Caselli F, Fabbri E (2002) Hsp70 expression in thermally stressed *Ostrea edulis*, a commercially important oyster in Europe. Cell Stress and Chaperones 7: 250-257

Pietros JM, Rice MA (2003) The impacts of aquacultured oysters, *Crassostrea virginica* (Gmelin, 1791) on water column nitrogen and sedimentation: results of a mesocosm study. Aquaculture 220: 407-422

Pimentel D, McNair S, Janecka J, Wightman J, Simmonds C, O'Connell C, Wong E, Russel L, Zern J, Aquino T, Tsomondo T (2001) Economic and environmental threats of alien plant, animal, and microbe invasions. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 84: 1-20

Pitt WC, Witmer, GW (2007) Invasive Predators: a synthesis of the past, present, and future. In: Elewa AMT (ed) Predation in Organisms. Springer Verlag Berlin Heidelberg: 312pp.

Plaza C, Hernandez D, Garcia-Gil JC, Polo A (2004) Microbial activity in pig slurryamended soils under semiarid conditions. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 36: 1577-1585

Pomeroy LR (1974) The ocean's food web, a changing paradigm. Bioscience 24: 499-504 Pope KL, Garwood JM, Welsh HH, Lawler SP (2008) Evidence of indirect impacts of introduced trout on native amphibians via facilitation of a shared predator. Biological Conservation 141: 1321-1331

Prosser JI, Bohannan BJM, Curtis TP, Ellis RJ, Firestone MK, Freckleton RP, Green JL, Green LE, Killham K, Lennon JJ, Osborn AM, Solan M, van der Gast CJ, Young JPW (2007) The role of ecological theory in microbial ecology. Nature Reviews Microbiology 5:384-392

Pysěk P, Richardson DM (2010) Invasive species, environmental change and management, and health. In: Gadgil A, Liverman DM (eds) Annual Review of Environment and Resources 35: 25-55

Quay P, Stutsman J, Wilbur D, Snover A, Dlugokencky E, Brown T (1999) The isotopic composition of atmospheric methane. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 13: 445-461

Quayle DB (1988) Pacific oyster culture in British Columbia. Canandian Bulletin of Fisheries Aquatic Sciences 218:1-241

Queiros AD, Hiddink JG, Johnson G, Cabral HN, Kaiser MJ (2011) Context dependence of marine ecosystem engineer invasion impacts on benthic ecosystem functioning. Biolological Invasions 13: 1059-1075

Raffaelli DG, Hughes RN (1978) Effects of crevice size and availability on populations of *Littorina rudis* and *Littorina neritoides*. Journal of Animal Ecology 47: 71-83

Ragueneau O, Chauvaud L, Leynaert A, Thouzeau G, Paulet YM, Bonnet S, Lorrain A, Grall J, Corvaisier R (2002) Direct evidence of a biologically active coastal silicate pump: Ecological implications. Limnology and Oceanography 47: 1849-1854

Ragueneau O, Chauvaud L, Moriceau B, Leynaert A, Thouzeau G, Donval A, Le Loc'h F, Jean F (2005) Biodeposition by an invasive suspension feeder impacts the biogeochemical cycle of Si in a coastal ecosystem (Bay of Brest, France). Biogeochemistry 75: 19-41

Rahel FJ (2002) Homogenization of freshwater faunas. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 33: 291-315

Raich JW, Schlesinger WH (1992) The global carbon-dioxide flux in soil respiration and its relationship to vegetation and climate. Tellus, Series B - Chemical and Physical Meteorology 44: 81-99

Raina MM, Pepper IL, Gerba CP (2009) Environmental Microbiology 2nd edition. Academic Press, London, UK: 624 pp

Ranjard L, Poly F, Lata JC, Mougel C, Thioulouse J, Nazaret S (2001) Characterization of bacterial and fungal soil communities by automated ribosomal intergenic spacer analysis fingerprints: Biological and methodological variability. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67(10): 4479-4487

Reeburgh WS, Whalen SC, Alperin MJ (1993) The role of methylotrophy in the global

methane budget. In: Murrell JC, Kelly DP (eds) Microbial Growth on C-1 Compounds. Intercept, Andover, UK: 1-14

Reeburgh WS (1996) "Soft Spots" in the global methane budget. In: Lidstrom ME, Tabita FR (eds) 8th International Symposium on Microbial Growth on C-1 Compounds. Kluwer, Dordrecht, the Netherlands: 334-342

Reise K, Gollasch S, Wolff WJ (1998) Introduced marine species of the North Sea coasts. Helgoänsder Meeresuntersuchungen 52: 219-234

Reise K, Olenin S, Thieltges DW (2006) Are aliens threatening European aquatic coastal ecosystems? Helgoland Marine Research 60: 77-83

Reusch TBH, Chapman ARO, Groger JP (1994) Blue mussels *Mytilus edulis* do not interfere with eelgrass *Zostera marina* but fertilize shoot growth through biodeposition. Marine Ecology Progress Series 108: 265-282

Rhoads DC (1974) Organism-sediment relations on the muddy sea floor. Oceanography and Marine Biology Annual Review 12: 263-300

Rhymer JM, Simberloff D (1996). Extinction by hybridization and introgression. The Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 27: 83-109

Ricciardi A, Atkinson SK (2004). Distinctiveness magnifies the impact of biological invaders in aquatic ecosystems. Ecology Letters 7: 781-784

Ricciardi A, Cohen J (2007) The invasiveness of an introduced species does not predict its impact. Biological Invasions 9: 309-315

Richard M, Archambault P, Thouzeau G, McKindsey CW, Desrosiers G (2007) Influence of suspended scallop cages and mussel lines on pelagic and benthic biogeochemical fluxes in Havre-aux-Maisons Lagoon, Iles-de-la-Madeleine (Quebec, Canada). Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 64: 1491-1505

Robinson TB, Griffiths CL, Tonin A, Bloomer P, Hare MP (2005) Naturalized populations of oysters, *Crassostrea gigas* along the south African coast: distribution, abundance and population structure. Journal of Shellfish Research 24: 443-450

Robinson TB, Branch GM, Griffiths CL, Govender A, Hockey PAR (2007) Changes in South African rocky intertidal invertebrate community structure associated with the invasion of the mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis*. Marine Ecology Progress Series 340: 163-171

Rocha C, Galvao H, Barbosa A (2002) Role of transient silicon limitation in the development of cyanobacteria blooms in the Guadiana estuary, south-western Iberia. Marine Ecology Progress Series 228: 35-45

Rocha C, Ibanhez J, Leote C (2009) Benthic nitrate biogeochemistry affected by tidal modulation of Submarine Groundwater Discharge (SGD) through a sandy beach face, Ria Formosa, Southwestern Iberia. Marine Chemistry 115: 43-58

Rodriguez LF (2006) Can invasive species facilitate native species? Evidence of how, when, and why these impacts occur. Biological Invasions 8: 927-939

Rodriguez-Caballero A, Hallin S, Pahlson C, Odlare M, Dahlquist E (2012) Ammonia oxidizing bacterial community composition and process performance in wastewater treatment plants under low temperature conditions. Water Science and Technology 65:197-204

Ronaghi M, Elahi E (2002) Pyrosequencing for microbial typing. Journal of Chromatography B - Analytical Technologies in the Biomedical adn Life Sciences, 782, 67-72.

Ropert M, Goulletquer P (2000) Comparative physiological energetics of two suspension feeders: polychaete annelid *Lanice conchilega* (Pallas 1766) and Pacific cupped oyster *Crassostrea gigas* (Thunberg 1795). Aquaculture 181: 171-189

Rosenberg R (2001) Marine benthic faunal successional stages and related sedimentary activity. Scientia Marina 65: 107-119 Rosenfeld JS (2002) Functional redundancy in ecology and conservation. Oikos 98:156-162

Rosenzweig ML (2001) The four questions: What does the introduction of exotic species do to diversity? Evolutionary Ecology Research 3: 361-367

Rotthauwe JH, Witzel KP, Liesack W (1997) The ammonia monooxygenase structural gene amoA as a functional marker: Molecular fine-scale analysis of natural ammonia-oxidizing populations. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63:4704-4712

Rowan AK, Snape JR, Fearnside D, Barer MR, Curtis TP, Head IM (2003) Composition and diversity of ammonia-oxidising bacterial communities in wastewater treatment reactors of different design treating identical wastewater. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 43: 195-206

Ruesink JL (2007) Biotic resistance and facilitation of a non-native oyster on rocky shores. Marine Ecology Progress Series 331: 1-9

Ruesink JL, Lenihan HS, Trimble AC, Heiman KW, Micheli F, Byers JE, Kay MC (2005) Introduction of non-native oysters: Ecosystem effects and restoration implications. Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics 36: 643-689

Russell FL, Louda SM, Rand TA, Kachman SD (2007) Variation in herbivore-mediated indirect effects of an invasive plant on a native plant. Ecology 88: 413-423

Rysgaard S, Christensen PB, Nielsen LP (1995) Seasonal-variation in nitrification and denitrification in estuarine sediment colonized by benthic microalgae and bioturbating infauna. Marine Ecology Progress Series 126: 111-121

Sagoff M (2005) Do non-native species threaten the natural environment? Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics 18: 215-236

Sala OE, Chapin FS, Armesto JJ, Berlow E, Bloomfield J, Dirzo R, Huber-Sanwald E, Huenneke LF, Jackson RB, Kinzig A, Leemans R, Lodge DM, Mooney HA, Oesterheld M, Poff NL, Sykes MT, Walker BH, Walker M, Wall DH (2000) Global biodiversity scenarios for the year 2100. Science 287: 1770-1774

Sala E, Knowlton N (2006) Global marine biodiversity trends. Annual Review of

Environment and Resources 31: 93-122

Scallan U, Liliensiek A, Clipson N, Connolly J (2008) RIBOSORT: a program for automated data preparation and exploratory analysis of microbial community fingerprints. Molecular Ecology Resources 8: 95-98

Scheffer M, Carpenter SR (2003) Catastrophic regime shifts in ecosystems: linking theory to observation. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 18: 648-656

Schimel JP, Gulledge J (1998) Microbial community structure and global trace gases. Global Change Biology 4: 745-758

Schulz HD, Zabel M (2000) Marine geochemistry. Springer-Verlag: 455 pp

Seabloom EW, Harpole WS, Reichman OJ, Tilman D (2003) Invasion, competitive dominance, and resource use by exotic and native California grassland species. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100: 13384-13389

Seeberg-Elverfeldt J, Schluter M, Feseker T, Kolling M (2005) Rhizon sampling of porewaters near the sediment-water interface of aquatic systems. Limnology and Oceanography - Methods 3: 361-371

Seed R (1968) Factors influencing shell shape in mussel *Mytilus edulis*. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 48: 561

Seitzinger SP, Nixon SW (1985) Eutrophication and the rate of denitrification and N₂O production in coastal marine-sediments. Limnology and Oceanography 30: 1332-1339

Sekercioglu CH (2010) Ecosystem functions and services. Oxford University Press, New York, USA: 45-72

Sequeira A, Ferreira JG, Hawkins AJS, Nobre A, Lourenco P, Zhang XL, Yan X, Nickell T (2008) Trade-offs between shellfish aquaculture and benthic biodiversity: A modelling approach for sustainable management. Aquaculture 274: 313-328

Sievanen L, Leslie HM, Wondolleck JM, Yaffee SL, McLeod KL, Campbell LM (2011) Linking top-down and bottom-up processes through the new U.S. National Ocean Policy. Conservation Letters 4:298-303

Simberloff D (2005) Non-native species do threaten the natural environment! Journal of Agricultural & Environmental Ethics 18: 595-607

Simberloff D (2006) Invasional meltdown 6 years later: important phenomenon, unfortunate metaphor, or both? Ecology Letters 9: 912-919

Simberloff D, von Holle, B. (1999) Positive interactions of nonindigenous species: Invasional meltdown? Biological Invasions 1: 21-32

Simon KS, Townsend CR (2003) Impacts of freshwater invaders at different levels of ecological organisation, with emphasis on salmonids and ecosystem consequences. Freshwater Biology 48: 982-994

Sloth NP, Blackburn H, Hansen LS, Risgaard N, Lomstein BA (1995) Nitrogen cycling in sediments with different organic loading. Marine Ecology Progress Series 116(1-3): 163-170

Smaal A, Van Stralen M, Craeymeersch J (2005) Does the introduction of the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*, lead to species shifts in the Wadden Sea? In: Dame RF, Olenin S (eds) The Comparative Roles of Suspension-Feeders in Ecosystem. Springer Verlag, the Netherlands: 277-289

Smayda TJ (1997) Harmful algal blooms: Their ecophysiology and general relevance to phytoplankton blooms in the sea. Limnology and Oceanography 42: 1137-1153

Snelgrove PVR, Butman CA (1994) Animal sediment relationships revisited - cause versus effect. Oceanography and Marine Biology 32: 111-177

Sokal RR, Rohlf FJ (1981) Biometry: the principles and practice of statistics in biological research. W.H. Freeman, New York, USA: 880 pp

Solan M, Cardinale BJ, Downing AL, Engelhardt KAM, Ruesink JL, Srivastava DS (2004) Extinction and ecosystem function in the marine benthos. Science 306: 1177-1180

Soletchnik P, Huvet A, Le Moine O, Razet D, Geairon P, Faury N, Goulletquer P, Boudry P (2002) A comparative field study of growth, survival and reproduction of *Crassostrea gigas*, *C. angulata* and their hybrids. Aquatic Living Resoures 15: 243-250

Somaweera R, Shine R (2012) The (non) impact of invasive cane toads on freshwater crocodiles at Lake Argyle in tropical Australia. Animal Conservation 15: 152-163

Soniat TM, Finelli CM, Ruiz JT (2004) Vertical structure and predator refuge mediate oyster reef development and community dynamics. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 310: 163-182

Sotomayor D, Corredor JE, Morell JM (1994) Methane flux from mangrove sediments along the southwestern coast of Puerto Rico. Estuaries 17: 140-147

Sousa R, Antunes C, Guilhermino L (2008) Ecology of the invasive Asian clam *Corbicula fluminea* (Muller, 1774) in aquatic ecosystems: an overview. Annales De Limnologie - International Journal of Limnology 44: 85-94

Sousa R, Gutierrez JL, Aldridge DC. (2009) Non-indigenous invasive bivalves as ecosystem engineers. Biol. Invasions 11:2367-2385

Sousa R, Morais P, Dias E, Antunes C (2011) Biological invasions and ecosystem functioning: time to merge. Biological Invasions 13: 1055-1058

Sowers KR, Ferry JG (1983) Isolation and characterization of a methylotrophic marine methanogen, *Methanococcoides methylutens*. Applied Environmental Microbiology 45: 684-690

Span JA (1978) Successful reproduction of giant Pacific oysters in Humboldt Bay and Tomales Bay, California. California Fish Game 64: 123-124

Stachowicz JJ, Bruno JF, Duffy JE (2007) Understanding the effects of marine biodiversity on communities and ecosystems. Annual Review of Ecology Evolution and Systematics: 739-766

Straube D, Johnson EA, Parkinson D, Scheu S, Eisenhauer N (2009) Nonlinearity of effects of invasive ecosystem engineers on abiotic soil properties and soil biota. Oikos 118: 885-896

Stres B (2006) The first decade of terminal restriction fragment length polymorphism (T-RFLP) in microbial ecology. Acta Agriculturae Slovenica, 88, 65-73.

Tallis HM, Ruesink JL, Dumbauld B, Hacker S, Wisehart LM (2009) Oysters and aquaculture practices affect eelgrass density and productivity in a pacific northwest estuary. Journal of Shellfish Research 28: 251-261

Tenore KR (1982) Comparison of the ecological energetics of the polychaetes *Capitella capitata* and *Nereis succinea* in experimental systems receiving similar levels of detritus. Netherlands Journal of Sea Research 16: 46-54

Thiele J, Isermann M, Kollmann ., Otte A (2011). Impact scores of invasive plants are biased by disregard of environmental co-variation and non-linearity. NeoBiota 10: 65-79

Tiedje JM, Asuming-Brempong S, Nüsslein K, Marsh TL, Flynn SJ (1999) Opening the blackbox of soil microbial diversity. Applied Soil Ecology 13(2): 109-122

Thomsen MS (2010) Experimental evidence for positive effects of invasive seaweed on native invertebrates via habitat-formation in a seagrass bed. Aquatic Invasions 5: 341-346

Thomsen MS, Olden JD, Wernberg T, Griffin JN, Silliman BR (2011a) A broad framework to organize and compare ecological invasion impacts. Environmental Research 111: 899-908

Thomsen MS, Wernberg T, Olden JD, Griffin JN, Silliman BR (2011b) A framework to study the context-dependent impacts of marine invasions. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 400: 322-327

Torsvik V, Daae FL, Sandaa RA, Ovreas L (1998) Novel techniques for analysing microbial diversity in natural and perturbed environments. Journal of Biotechnology 64(1): 53-62

Trimble AC, Ruesink JL, Dumbauld BR (2009) Factors preventing the recovery of a historically overexploited shellfish species, *Ostrea lurida* Carpenter 1864. Journal of Shellfish Research 28: 97-106

Troost K, Kamermans P, Wolff WJ (2008) Larviphagy in native bivalves and an introduced oyster. Journal of Sea Research 60: 157-163

Troost K, Stamhuis EJ, van Duren LA, Wolff WJ (2009). Feeding current characteristics of three morphologically different bivalve suspension feeders, *Crassostrea gigas*, *Mytilus edulis* and *Cerastoderma edule*, in relation to food competition. Marine Biology 156: 355-372

Troost K (2010) Causes and effects of a highly successful marine invasion: Case-study of the introduced Pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas* in continental NW European estuaries. Journal of Sea Research 64: 145-165

Tuya F, Haroun RJ (2006) Spatial patterns and response to wave exposure of shallow water algal assemblages across the Canarian Archipelago: a multi-scaled approach.

Marine Ecology Progress Series 311: 15-28

Underwood AJ (1997) Experiments in ecology: their logical design and interpretation using analysis of variance. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK: 524 pp

Underwood AJ, Chapman MG (1996) Scales of spatial patterns of distribution of intertidal invertebrates. Oecologia 107: 212-224

Underwood AJ, Chapman, M.G (1998) A method for analysing spatial scales of variation in composition of assemblages. Oecologia 117: 570-578

Upton M, Hill B, Edwards C, Saunders Jr. RDA, Lloyd D (2000) Combined molecular ecological and confocal laser scanning microscopic analysis of peat bog methanogen populations. FEMS Microbiology Letters 193: 275-281

van den Berg JB, Kozyreff G, Lin HX, McDarby J, Peletier MA, Planqué R, Wilson PL (2005) Japanese oysters in Dutch waters. Nieuw Archief voor Wiskunde 5: 130-141

van der Putten WH, Klironomos JN, Wardle DA (2007) Microbial ecology of biological invasions. ISME Journal 1: 28-37

Vaughn CC, Spooner DE, Galbraith HS (2007) Context-dependent species identity effects within a functional group of filter-feeding bivalves. Ecology 88: 1654-1662

Vila M, Basnou C, Pysek P, Josefsson M, Genovesi P, Gollasch S, Nentwig W, Olenin S, Roques A, Roy D, Hulme PE, Andriopoulos P, Arianoutsou M, Augustin S, Bacher S, Bazos I, Bretagnolle F, Chiron F, Clergeau P, Cochard PO, Cocquempot C, Coeur dAcier A, David M, Delipetrou P, Desprez-Loustau ML, Didziulis V, Dorkeld F, Essl F, Galil BS, Gasquez J, Georghiou K, Hejda M, Jarosik V, Kark S, Kokkoris I, Kuhn I, Lambdon PW, Lopez-Vaamonde C, Marcer A, Migeon A, McLoughlin M, Minchin D, Navajas M, Panov VE, Pascal M, Pergl J, Perglova I, Pino J, Poboljsaj K, Rabitsch W, Rasplus JY, Sauvard D, Scalera R, Sedlacek O, Shirley S, Winter M, Yannitsaros A, Yart A, Zagatti P, Zikos A, and DAISIE Partners (2010) How well do we understand the impacts of alien species on ecosystem services? A pan-European, cross-taxa assessment. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 8: 135-144

Vitousek PM, Mooney HA, Lubchenco J, Melillo JM (1997) Human domination of Earth's ecosystems. Science 277: 494-499

Ward JM, Ricciardi A (2007) Impacts of *Dreissena* invasions on benthic macroinvertebrate communities: a meta-analysis. Diversity and Distributions 13: 155-165

Watling JI, Hickman CR, Orrock JL (2011) Invasive shrub alters native forest amphibian communities. Biological Conservation 144: 2597-2601

White EM, Wilson JC, Clarke AR (2006) Biotic indirect effects: a neglected concept in invasion biology. Diversity and Distributions 12: 443-455

White LF, Shurin JB (2011) Density dependent effects of an exotic marine macroalga on native community diversity. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 405: 111-119

Whalen SC (2005) Biogeochemistry of methane exchange between natural wetlands and the atmosphere. Environmental Engineering Science 22(1): 73-94

Wilcove DS, Rothstein D, Dubow J, Phillips A, Losos E (1998) Quantifying threats to imperiled species in the United States. Bioscience 48: 607-615 Wildish DJ, Kristmanson DD (1984) Importance to mussels of the benthic boundary-layer. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 41: 1618-1625

Williamson M (1999) Invasions. Ecography 22: 5-12

Wilms R, Sass H, Kopke B, Koster H, Cypionka H, Engelen B (2006) Specific bacterial, archaeal, and eukaryotic communities in tidal-flat sediments along a vertical profile of several meters. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72: 2756-2764

Windham L (2001) Comparison of biomass production and decomposition between *Phragmites australis* (common reed) and *Spartina patens* (salt hay grass) in brackish tidal marshes of New Jersey, USA. Wetlands 21(2): 179-188

Wisniewski J, Lugo AE (1992) Natural Sinks of CO₂. Puerto Rico: Kluwer Academic Publishers

Woese CR (1987) Bacterial evolution. Microbiological Reviews 51: 221-271

Wootton JT (1994) The nature and consequences of indirect effects in ecological communities. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 25: 443-466

Worm B, Barbier EB, Beaumont N, Duffy JE, Folke C, Halpern BS, Jackson JBC, Lotze HK, Micheli F, Palumbi SR, Sala E, Selkoe KA, Stachowicz JJ, Watson R (2006) Impacts of biodiversity loss on ocean ecosystem services. Science 314: 787-790

Worm B, Duffy JE (2003) Biodiversity, productivity and stability in real food webs. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 18: 628-632

Wrange AL, Valero J, Harkestad LS, Strand O, Lindegarth S, Christensen HT, Dolmer P, Kristensen PS, Mortensen S (2010) Massive settlements of the Pacific oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*, in Scandinavia. Biological Invasions 12:1145-1152

Wright JR, Boxshall AJ (1999) The influence of small-scale flow and chemical cues on the settlement of two congeneric barnacle species. Marine Ecology Progress Series 183: 179-187

Wright S (2011) Invasive species and the loss of beta diversity. Ethics and the Environment 16: 75-97

Wu LY, Thompson DK, Li GS, Hurt RA, Tiedje JM, Zhou JZ (2001) Development and evaluation of functional gene arrays for detection of selected genes in the environment. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 67:5780-5790

Wuebbles DJ, Hayhoe K (2002) Atmospheric methane and global change. Earth-Science Reviews 57: 177-210

Yachi S, Loreau M (1999) Biodiversity and ecosystem productivity in a fluctuating environment: The insurance hypothesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 96: 1463-1468

Yingst JY, Rhoads DC (1980) The role of bioturbation in the enhancement of bacterial growth rates in marine sediments. In: Tenore KL, Coull BC (eds) Marine Benthic Dynamics. University of South Carolina Press, Columbia, USA: 407-421

Yokomizo H, Possingham HP, Thomas MB, Buckley YM (2009) Managing the impact of invasive species: the value of knowing the density-impact curve. Ecological Applications 19: 376-386

Zinder SH (1993) Physiological ecology of methanogens. In: Ferry JG (ed) Methanogenesis: ecology, physiology, biochemistry and genetics. Chapman and Hall, New York 128–206